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Chairman's
Report
Dear Shareholders,

T

he 2015-2016 fiscal year was one of the
most transformative and memorable in your
company’s history. On 25 March 2016 FMI
became the first company to list on the Yangon Stock
Exchange (YSX). This first listing was a great honor and
a testament to the trust we’ve built with shareholders
for more than two decades as well as a validation of
our consistent performance over this long period.
There are very few countries left in the world today
without a stock exchange, so a first listing on YSX was
truly a once in a lifetime event. The listing has already
enabled our shareholders to trade their shares more
conveniently, while at the same time increasing FMI’s
national and international profile.
Along with being the first company to be listed,
we also view the opening of the capital markets in
Myanmar as an opportunity to show our leadership.
Given that we have over two decades of experience
in dealing with public shareholders, we know that
we can be a valuable resource for the Yangon Stock
Exchange and assist in creating a more viable and
robust market. We will continue to work closely with
YSX as the market develops and we look forward to
more companies joining us on the Exchange.
Apart from providing shareholders with more
liquidity, the stock exchange is also a convenient
platform for foreign investment. When the Myanmar
Companies Act is eventually revised, the introduction
of foreign capital into local companies will be an
important new phase in Myanmar's economic
development. Although some foreign investors
already have operations in Myanmar, there are many
others that would like to participate in the growth
of our economy by investing in local companies.
The most convenient way to do this is to invest in
companies listed on the local stock exchange.
With a strong track record of corporate governance,
transparency, and now a platform that makes it easy
to buy and sell shares, FMI will be an attractive choice
for foreign investors. Aside from their capital, foreign
investors can also bring a range of expertise to our

various business units. We will continue to monitor
the changing regulations in this area and update
shareholders in due course.
On the political front, the 2015 elections gave the NLD
and Daw Aung San Suu Kyi a resounding mandate to
lead our country for the next five years. The smooth
transfer of power from U Thein Sein’s government to
the NLD shows the growing strength of democracy
in Myanmar, and has left me and our countrymen
with a renewed sense of optimism. Although there
is much work to be done, we are prepared to do our
share of nation building in the areas of economic and
private sector development.
As the NLD works to improve the economy, I am
hopeful that one of their main focuses will be job
creation. We need to create millions of jobs to improve
the living standard of our people and alleviate
poverty. This can best be done by formulating policies
which will encourage industries that deploy vast
amounts of labor in a sustainable way. The benefits
of creating millions of new jobs for our population
cannot be overemphasized. Job creation is the key
to peace and growth at this stage of our economic
development, and will solve a multitude of problems
in the shortest period of time. Shifting our focus to
an export-driven manufacturing economy would also
allow us to obtain foreign currency and technology
from global companies which would set a strong
economic foundation for the future.
Another area that needs immediate attention is
corruption. Corruption directly prevents investment
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because investors are reluctant to do business in
an uncertain environment where privileges are
extended to a select few, regardless of the law. Having
to pay money to get projects approved also hurts
the profitability of the project - a key consideration
for investors. Eliminating corruption and graft and
thus creating an even playing field with transparent
rules would be a tremendous catalyst for economic
growth.
Despite the numerous challenges facing the new
administration, I am optimistic that it will enact
sound economic policies and leverage the strengths
of international and local experts to steer the country
in the right direction.
On another front, the devastating nationwide
floods in July and August 2015 were a reminder
that we must always be ready to face and overcome
adversity. FMI and the larger SPA Group were
actively involved in providing relief to those affected
by the floods, especially in Rakhine State. We were
able to mobilize a variety of resources from our
businesses to take a holistic approach to providing
aid. For example, FMI Air provided transport of relief
supplies, while Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals provided
medical assessments and care. We also worked with
local organizations that are best positioned to deploy
resources quickly and effectively. Although the worst
is over, we are committed to providing ongoing
support to the more than 1.6 million people affected.

Significant Developments During the Year
Increase in Capital of Yoma Bank
Over the past two years, Yoma Bank has experienced
exponential growth of its loan book and deposits. In
accordance with current Central Bank regulations,
fresh capital was injected into Yoma Bank in the
sum of Ks. 18.75 billion. FMI therefore injected
Ks. 9.56 billion into the bank, representing its 51%
shareholding. This exercise was completed through a
bank loan from Bangkok Bank Limited. This decision
was based on being mindful of not diluting current
shareholders and being able to obtain favorable
bank financing terms. Management is of the view
that our current gearing ratio at the Group level of
approximately 13% provides us with a safe margin
to assume a moderate amount of bank loans to fund
our investments without subjecting the Company to
undue risks.

Securities Account Opening
In preparation for our listing on YSX, FMI shares
underwent a process of dematerialization this year,
which meant that our physical share certificates were
cancelled and our shares were transferred to YSX’s
electronic trading platform. In order to make this
transition seamless for shareholders, we teamed up
with Myanmar Securities Exchange Centre Co., Ltd.
(MSEC) and KBZ Stirling Coleman Securities (KBZSC)
to help shareholders open securities accounts. On the
day of listing more than 3,000 shareholders, holding
over 95% of our outstanding shares, had opened
accounts. Since that time, an even greater number
of shareholders have done so. If you have not yet
opened an account, I would strongly encourage you
to do so in order to easily buy and sell your shares
and collect dividends. Shareholders can now choose
between five licensed securities companies to open
an account. In addition to MSEC and KBZSC, CB
Securities, Aya Trust Securities and KTZ Ruby Hill
Securities are now actively operating in the market.

Future Launch of Wave Money
The Company, Yoma Bank, and our joint venture
partner Telenor are planning to launch the
revolutionary Wave Money mobile payment
platform. Wave Money allows customers to securely
store and transfer money using just their mobile
phones. After downloading the Wave Money mobile
app, customers can visit a nearby Wave Shop to
deposit or withdraw cash. Wave Shops include local
grocery stores, mobile phone shops, teashops and
convenience stores. Wave Money is available 24/7 on
your phone, so there’s no need to wait for the bank to
open to transfer money. Transactions are processed
instantly, resulting in a fast, efficient service. I would
encourage all FMI shareholders to download the app
once it’s available and try out the service, I think you’ll
be glad you did.

Opening of a New Pun Hlaing Siloam Clinic
On 11 December 2015, Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals
(PHSH) turned a new page with the opening of its
first facility outside of Yangon. PHSH’s Nyaung Shwe
Clinic in Shan State offers out-patient services to the
local population and tourists including ultrasound
and electrocardiogram scans. The clinic also offers
vaccination programs and maternity care. The new
clinic is part of the hospital’s broader expansion
strategy which aims to establish a nationwide
network of hospitals over the next seven years. The
network will provide the hospital with synergies
across recruitment, training and procurement as

3

4

Annual Report 2015-2016

well as providing referrals to the larger facility in
Yangon. Construction is underway for the first Pun
Hlaing Siloam Hospital in Mandalay scheduled to be
in operation by the end of 2016.

Completion of FMI Air Divestment
As announced in last year’s annual report, we pared
down our stake in FMI Air from 50% to 10% during the
2015-2016 fiscal year. Although we still believe that
the aviation sector has solid long-term potential, our
decision to divest FMI Air was based on the fact that it
may not be profitable in the short-term, and its losses
would bring down our overall financial performance.
As a public company, we are continuously evaluating
the performance of our investments and adjusting
our portfolio to provide maximum benefit to our
shareholders. If FMI Air’s performance improves,
we have the option to repurchase our stake, which
allows us to gauge the airline’s performance and act
accordingly.

Closing of FMI Trading Centre
As announced on 3 May 2016, we are voluntarily
winding up Yoma Thitsar Commercial Co., Ltd., a
100% owned subsidiary, which previously operated
FMI Trading Centre (FTC). FTC has been operating
for many years, enabling shareholders to trade our
shares over the counter. Now that we are listed on
the Yangon Stock Exchange and our shares have
migrated to YSX’s electronic trading platform, FTC
is no longer required. The winding up of Yoma
Thitsar will have no material impact on our financial
condition.

Employee Share Incentive Scheme
After receiving approval from shareholders at last
year’s AGM, we implemented an Employee Share
Incentive Scheme this year. On 30 July 2015, FMI
issued 1 million shares to Yoma Myittar Development
Co., Ltd., which will oversee the award of these
shares to eligible employees of FMI and our Group
companies.
On 25 March 2016, the day of our listing, we awarded
300,000 shares to 200 individuals in recognition
of their contribution to our success and as an
incentive for long-term employment. These shares
have a minimum vesting period, which means
that employees will only receive the shares if they
continue to work for us over the period stipulated in
the share grant.

We will continue to offer incentive shares in the
future to enable us to attract and retain top talent.
Yoma Myittar will retain full ownership of the shares
until they are transferred to employees who meet the
eligibility requirements. Any unvested shares can be
reallocated to future employees. The Remuneration
Committee has oversight of the management of
Yoma Myittar under the guidance of the full Board.

Our Performance
After our significant restructuring last year, this year
our main focus was on our investments in the Financial
Services, Real Estate and Healthcare sectors, our
“Three Pillars”. For the first time in your company’s
history, we passed Ks. 100 billion in revenue in FY
2015-2016. This significant milestone was the result
of our “Three Pillar” strategy and especially our focus
on Yoma Bank.
Approximately 86.6% of revenues came from Yoma
Bank this year, which continued to grow its loan book
and recorded impressive growth in deposits. The
bank’s loan book grew by 74% to Ks. 722.8 billion,
while its deposits grew to Ks. 1.1 trillion at the end
of the fiscal year. Starting from zero just a few years
ago, over 1 trillion in deposits is a truly remarkable
feat.
Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospital also made a strong
revenue contribution of Ks. 11.9 billion or about
10.8% of revenues.
Our gross margin declined from 38.8% in FY 2015 to
31.9% this year. This was mainly due to an increased
cost of sales at Yoma Bank which experienced
pressure on its net interest margin due to the
competitive banking environment, as well as losses
from FMI Air before deconsolidation.
Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals, on the other hand,
experienced a solid gross margin improvement over
last year due to a more efficient operation and better
utilization of its facility in Hlaing Thayar.
Our administrative costs also increased Group
wide this year. This increase was due in part to the
professional expenses we incurred for the Yangon
Stock Exchange listing, as well as higher employee
compensation. While we are working diligently to
reduce unnecessary expenses, we fully believe that
investing in human capital will pay large dividends
in the future. Having made a significant investment
in our people this year, we are looking forward to
seeing them produce tangible results for the Group
in the coming years.
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Our profit from associates, which is mainly driven
by the profits of our Star City development, was
significantly lower this year, dropping from Ks. 15.4
billion to Ks. 3.9 billion. Last year Star City recognized
significant revenue from Zone C alongside continuing
revenue from Buildings A3 and A4. Due to the
generally softer real estate market ahead of the
national elections during FY 2015-2016, we had lower
revenues from Zone C this year. These factors led
to a reduction in profits, a common phenomenon
for the industry during the year. On the other hand,
we experienced high occupancy for the leasing of
Building A5 at Star City which boosted our recurring
income from this sector.
This year we also recorded approximately Ks.
7.9 billion in profit from non-operating activities.
These stem from our divestment of FMI Air and the
cancellation of liabilities at PHSH.
Altogether, we had a solid year financially. Our net
profit of Ks. 8.9 billion, despite the sharp drop in
real estate revenues, was a further testament to
our ability to withstand volatile market conditions
through our diversified portfolio of investments.

Dividend Payments
With our listing on the Yangon Stock Exchange
this year, your Company has entered a new stage
of development. Shareholders now have an
independent, transparent and liquid platform to buy
and sell their shares. Alongside this new platform
comes a shift in emphasis from the amount of
dividends we pay to the fair market value of FMI’s
shares. While YSX market prices may fluctuate daily,
over time they will generally reflect the value of the
Company.
The Board, together with Management, recognizes
the importance of reinvesting our profits at this
crucial stage in our development. To pay out large
sums in dividends would starve our businesses of
the capital they need to grow. It is our belief that
patient, consistent investment in our operating
companies will eventually produce superior results
for shareholders.
With this in mind, your Board has recommended a
cash dividend of Ks. 135 per share this year. We are
confident that you will support our dividend policy
and approve the dividend at the upcoming Annual
General Meeting.

Conclusion
With our listing on the Yangon Stock Exchange and a
clear business strategy focused on the “Three Pillars”,
your company is in an excellent position to capitalize
on the economic growth of the coming years. We
have been steadily planting seeds in good businesses
and good sectors over the past few years, and we are
confident that the harvest, when it comes, will be
bountiful.
Whatever happens in the political arena, and
whatever new policies are enacted, we are confident
in our ability to adapt and succeed. We believe we
have the foresight to guide the Company to even
greater heights, regardless of what happens in the
larger macro environment. This shall be done without
compromising our principles of good governance and
good business practices, cardinal tenets that have
received the unfailing support of our shareholders
for more than two decades.
In closing, it is again to my honor to thank our
shareholders, many of whom have recently
purchased shares on the Yangon Stock Exchange. We
truly appreciate your support and we look forward to
exceeding your expectations in the years to come. To
our Board of Directors, I would like to thank you for
your wisdom and careful guidance as we navigated
the complexities of the Yangon Stock Exchange
listing. To the employees and customers of our Group
businesses, we thank you for your loyalty and we ask
you to join us in making FMI an even better company.

Yours Sincerely,

Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman
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2015-2016 b@ma&;ESpfonf vlBuD;rif;wdkY\ ukrÜPDordkif;
wGif ajymif;vJjcif;ESifh trSwf&p&mtjzpfqHk; ESpfwpfESpfjzpfcJhyg
onf/ 2016 ckESpf? rwfv (25)&ufaeYwGif FMI onf &efukef
pawmhtdwfcsdef; (YSX) wGif yxrqHk;pm&if;0ifukrÜPD jzpfvm
cJhygonf/ þodkY yxrqHk;pm&if;0ifukrÜPDjzpfvmjcif;onf rsm;
pGm *kPf,lzG,f&mjzpfNyD; ESpfaygif;(20)ausmfMum uRefawmfwdkYESifh
tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;Mum; wnfaqmufcJhonfh,HkMunfrIudk ouf
aoxlcJhjcif; jzpfygonf/ urÇmay:wGif pawmhtdwfcsdef;r½dSonfh
EkdifiHtenf;i,fomusef½dS&m YSX wGif yxrqHk;pm&if;0ifrIonf
wpfoufwGifwpfcgom BuHKawGU&onfh jzpf&yfwpfckyif jzpfyg
onf/ pawmhtdwfcsdef;üpm&if;0ifrIonf uRefawmfwdkY\ tpk
½S,f,m½Sifrsm;twGuf rdrdwdkY\ tpk½S,f,mrsm;tm; ydkítqif
ajypGm a&mif;0,fEdkifaprnfjzpfygonf/ wpfcsdefwnf;rSmyif EdkifiH
twGif;ESifh EdkifiHwumwGif FMI \ yHk&dyftm; ykdrkdxifay:apcJh
ygonf/
yxrqkH; pawmhtdwfcsdef;pm&if;0ifukrÜPD jzpfvmjcif;ESifhtwl
jrefrmEdkifiHwGif aiGaMu;t&if;tESD;aps;uGuf zGifhvSpfjcif;onf
uRefawmfwdkY\ OD;aqmifrItm;jyoEdkif&ef tcGifhta&;wpf&yf
tjzpfvnf; ½Ijrifygonf/ trsm;jynfol tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;ESifh
ESpfaygif;ESpfq,fausmf xdawGUqufqHrI tawGUtBuHK½dSxm;aom
uRefawmfwdkYonf &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;twGuf wefzdk;½dSaom
t&if;tjrpfwpf&yf jzpfvmEdkifonfudk od½dSxm;ovdk ydkí½Sifoef
pGm &yfwnfEdkifNyD; cdkifrmaomaps;uGufwpfck jzpfay:a&;wGif t
axmuftuljyKEdkifrnf jzpfygonf/ aps;uGufzGHUNzdK;vmonfESifh
trQ YSX ESifh eD;uyfpGm qufvufaqmif½GufoGm;rnfjzpfNyD;
uREkfyfwdkYESifhtwl pawmhtdwfcsdef;wGif aemufxyfukrÜPDrsm;
ydkrdkyg0ifvmvdrfhrnf[k arQmfvifhygonf/
&efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;onf tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;taejzifh ydkrdkvG,f
ulpGm a&mif;0,fEdkifaom ae&mwpfckjzpfonfhtjyif EdkifiHjcm;&if;
ESD;jr§KyfESHrItwGuf tqifajyvG,fulaom ae&mwpfckvnf;jzpfyg
onf/ jrefrmEdkifiH ukrÜPDrsm;tufOya'tm; jyifqifNyD;pD;csdef
wGif jynfwGif;ukrÜPDrsm;twGif;odkY jynfy&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI pwif0if
a&mufvmjcif;onf jrefrmEdkifiH\ pD;yGm;a&;zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrIwGif
ta&;ygaomu@opfwpf&yf jzpfvmygrnf/ tcsdKUaom jynfy
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHolrsm;rSm jrefrmEdkifiHwGif vkyfief;rsm;aqmif½Gufae
NyDjzpfaomfvnf; jynfwGif;ukrÜPDrsm;wGif &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHjcif;jzifh
jrefrmEdkifiH pD;yGm;a&;wdk;wufa&;twGuf yg0ifaqmif½GufvkdMu
aom tjcm;&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHolrsm;vnf; trsm;tjym;½dSaeygonf/
xdkodkY aqmif½GufEdkif&ef tqifajyqHk;enf;vrf;onf jynfwGif;

pawmhtdwfcsdef;ü pm&if;0ifNyD;jzpfonfh ukrÜPDrsm;wGif yg0if
&if;ESD;jr§KyfEHSjcif;yif jzpfygonf/
ukrÜPDpDrHcefYcGJrIESifh yGifhvif;jrifom½dSrIwdkYESifhywfoufí aumif;
rGefaom ordkif;aMumif;½dSjcif;ESifhtwl ,cktcg tpk½S,f,mrsm;
tm; vG,fulpGma&mif;0,fEdkif&ef ae&mwpfck½dSaeNyDjzpfjcif;onf
EdkifiHjcm;&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHolrsm;twGuf FMI onf qGJaqmifrI½dSaom
a½G;cs,frIwpf&yfjzpfvmrnf jzpfygonf/ aiGaMu;&if;ESD;jr§KyfESH
rIrsm;tjyif EdkifiHjcm;&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHolrsm;onf uRefawmfwdkY\
pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;rsdK;pHktwGuf uRrf;usifrItrsdK;rsdK;udkvnf; ,l
aqmifvmEdkifMurnf jzpfygonf/ þe,fy,fwGif ajymif;vJ
aeaompnf;rsOf;rsm;udk uRefawmfwdkY qufvufapmifhMunfhoGm;
rnfjzpfNyD; oifhavsmfaomtcsdefwGif tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;tm;
today;oGm;rnf jzpfygonf/
EdkifiHa&;rsufESmpmwGif 2015 ckESpf a½G;aumufyGJrsm;onf aemif
vmrnfh (5)ESpftwGuf uRefawmfwdkYEdkifiHtm; OD;aqmif&ef NLD
ESifh a':atmifqef;pkMunf wdkYtm; xl;uJaomvkkyfydkifcGifhtmPmudk
ay;tyfcJhNyD;jzpfygonf/ OD;odef;pdef tpdk;&rS NLD odkY tmPm
udk nifompGmvTJajymif;ay;cJhrIonf jrefrmEdkifiHwGif 'Drdkua&pD
tiftm;BuD;xGm;vmaerIudk jyojcif;jzpf&m uRefawmhtzdkY t
aumif;jrif0g' jyefvnfqef;opfvmapcJhygonf/ qufvuf
aqmif½Guf&rnfh vkyfief;rsm;pGm½dSaeaomfvnf; uRefawmfwdkY
onf EdkifiHwnfaqmufa&;twGuf pD;yGm;a&;ESifh yk*¾vduu@
rsm;wGif yg0ifaqmif½GufoGm;&ef BudKwifjyifqifxm;ygonf/
NLD onf

pD;yGm;a&;wkdk;wuf&ef aqmif½Gufae&mwGif ¤if;wdkY\
t"dutm½Hkpl;pdkufrIrsm;teuf wpfckonf tvkyftudkifzefwD;a&;
jzpfvdrfhrnf[k uRefawmfarQmfvifhygonf/ uRefawmfwdkY jynfol
rsm; vlaerItqifhtwef;jrifhrm;a&;ESifh qif;&JrIavQmhusapa&;
twGuf tvkyftudkifoef;ESifhcsDí zefwD;ay;&efvkdtyfygonf/
tvkyform;OD;a& rsm;jym;pGmcefYxm;EdkifNyD; a&½SnfwnfwHhonfh
enf;vrf;wpf&yfjzpfaom pufrIvkyfief;rsm;tm; tm;ay;rnfh
rl0g'rsm;tm; azmfxkwfjcif;jzifh þodkY tvkyftudkifzefwD;jcif;
udk taumif;qHk; aqmif½GufoGm;Edkifrnf jzpfygonf/ tvkyf
tudkifzefwD;ay;jcif;onf uRefawmfwdkY pD;yGm;a&;zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrI
tqifhü Nidrf;csrf;a&;ESifh zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;wdkYtwGuf t"duaomh
csufjzpfNyD; tcsdefumvtwdkqHk;jzifh jyóemtajrmuftrsm;udk
ajz½Sif;ay;oGm;vdrhfrnf jzpfygonf/ uRefawmfwdkY\ tm½HkpdkufrI
udk EdkifiHjcm;wifydkY&efOD;wnfonhf xkwfvkyfrI pD;yGm;a&;buf
odkY ajymif;vJjcif;onf EdkifiHwumukrÜPDrsm;rS EdkifiHjcm;aiGESifh
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First Listing on the Yangon Stock Exchange on 25 March 2016

enf;ynm&yfwdkYudk &½dSaprnfjzpfNyD; ,if;odkY&½dSrIu tem*wf
twGuf ckdifrmonfh pD;yGm;a&;tkwfjrpfwpf&yf jzpfay:aprnf
jzpfygonf/
csufjcif;tm½Hkpdkuf&efvkdtyfonfh aemufxyfe,fy,frSm tusifh
ysufjcpm;rIyifjzpfonf/ Oya'udk rsufuG,fjyKí tcGifhxl;cH
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHoltcsdKUudkom txl;tcGifhta&; oD;oefYay;xm;onfh
a&&maocsmrIr½dSaom 0ef;usifwpf&yfwGif pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;
aqmif½Guf&ef &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHolrsm;taejzifh 0efav;aeMujcif;
aMumifh tusifhysufjcpm;rIonf &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIudk wdkuf½dkuf[efY
wm;vsuf ½dSygonf/ pDrHudef;rsm; twnfjyKcsuf&½dS&ef aiGay;&
jcif;onfvnf; pDrHudef;tjrwftpGef;&½dSrIudk xdckdufap&m &if;ESD;
jr§KyfESHolrsm;twGuf t"duxnfhoGif;pOf;pm;&rIwpf&yf jzpfonf/
tusifhysufjcpm;rI avQmhyg;apjcif;ESifh yGifhvif;jrifomonfh
pnf;rsOf;rsm;jzifhnDrQaom ,SOfNydKifrIwpf&yf zefwD;ay;jcif;onf
pD;yGm;a&;wdk;wufrItwGuf BuD;rm;aom taxmuftulwpf&yf
jzpfvmapygrnf/
tpkd;&tzGJUopftaejzifh pdrfac:rIrsm;pGmudk &ifqdkifBuHKawGUae&
aomfjim;vnf; EdkifiHtm; rSefuefonfhvrf;aMumif;ay:wGif
avQmufvSrf;oGm;Edkif&ef EdkifiHwumESifh jynfwGif;rSuRrf;usifol
rsm;\ tiftm;udktoHk;csjcif;? cdkifrmaumif;rGefaom pD;yGm;a&;
rl0g'rsm; xkwfjyefoGm;jcif;wdkYudk jyKvkyfvdrfhrnf[k taumif;
bufrS ½Ijrifygonf/
aemufxyfrsufESmpmrSm 2015 ckESpf? ZlvdkifvESifh Mo*kwfvwdkY
wGif EdkifiHwpf0ef; tBuD;tus,fysufpD;apaom a&vTrf;rdk;rIrsm;

onf uRefawmfwdkYtm; uHqdk;rdk;arSmifusvmvQif atmifjrifpGm
ausmfvTm;Edkif&ef tNrJtoifh½dS&rnfqdkaomtcsufudk owday;
vsuf½dSygonf/ FMI ESifh SPA Group wpfckvHk;wdkYonf a&vTrf;
rdk;rI'PfcHae&olrsm;tm; ulnDu,fq,fa&; vkyfief;rsm;udk
bufpHkrSaqmif½GufEdkif&ef uRefawmfwdkY\vkyfief;rsm;rS t&if;
tjrpfrsdK;pHkudk aqmfMopnf;½Hk;EdkifpGrf;½dSygonf/ Oyrmtm;jzifh
FMI Air u u,fq,fa&;axmufyHhypönf;rsm; o,f,lydkYaqmif
ay;cJhNyD; yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½Hkonf usef;rma&;ppfaq;rIESifh aq;uk
orIrsm;udk aqmif½Gufay;cJhygonf/ t&if;tjrpfrsm;tm; vsifjref
xda&mufpGm toHk;cs&mwGif taetxm;taumif;qHk;jzpfonfh
a'ocHtzGJUtpnf;rsm;ESihfvnf; yl;aygif;vufwGJ aqmif½GufcJhyg
onf/ tqkd;qHk;tajctae vGefajrmufcJhNyDjzpfaomfvnf; xdcdkuf
cHpm;cJh&aom vlaygif; (1.6)oef;ausmfudk qufvufulnD
axmufyHhay;&ef qHk;jzwfxm;ygonf/

vGefcJhonfh (2)ESpfausmfu ½dk;rbPfonf acs;aiGxkwfay;jcif;
ESifh pkaqmif;aiGtyfESHjcif;wdkYwGif vsifjrefpGmwdk;wufvmcJhonfh
tawGUtBuHK½dScJhygonf/ vuf½dSA[dkbPf\ pnf;rsOf;rsm;ESifh
tnD &if;ESD;rwnfaiGusyf (18.75)bDvD,Htm; ½dk;rbPfodkY
xyfrHxnfh0ifcJhygonf/ odkYjzpfí FMI onf ¤if;tpk½S,f,m

7

8

Annual Report 2015-2016

ydkifqdkifrI 51% tm; udk,fpm;jyKaom aiGusyf (9.56)bDvD,H
udk ½dk;rbPfodkY xnfh0ifcJhygonf/ befaumufbPfvDrdwufrS
&½dSaom bPfacs;aiGjzifh þodkYxnfh0ifrIudk aqmif½GufcJhjcif;
jzpfygonf/ þqHk;jzwfcsufudk vuf½dStpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;twGuf
½S,f,mwefzdk; ravQmhusapa&;ESifh rdrdtwGuf tusdK;½dSrnfh
b@ma&;qdkif&m pnf;urf;vkyfxHk;vkyfenf;rsm;jzifh acs;aiG&,l
Edkifa&;wdkYtay:tajccHí csrSwfcJhjcif; jzpfygonf/ ukrÜPDtm;
BuD;rm;aom epfemqHk;½HI;rI cH&EdkifzG,fr½dSbJ tjrwftpGef;&½dSEdkif
onf[k,lqEkdifonfh uRefawmfwdkY\ vuf½dSacs;aiGESifh ydkifqdkif
cGifhtcsdK; (Gearing Ratio) tm;jzifh 13% cefY½dSonfh oifhavsmf
aom bPfacs;aiGwpf&yftm; uRefawmfwdkYtwGuf axmufyHh
ulnDay;jcif;jzpfonf[k pDrHcefYcGJa&;tzGJUu ½Ijrifygonf/

YSX wGif

pm&if;0ifa&;twGuf BudKwifjyifqif&mwGif FMI tpk
½S,f,mrsm;onf ,ckESpfwGif taumiftxnfj'yfrJhvkyfief;
pOf (Dematerialization Process) ukd jzwfausmfcJh&ygonf/
þonfrSm uRefawmfwdkY\ taumiftxnfj'yf½dS tpk½S,f,m
oufaocHvufrSwfrsm; (Physical Share Certificates) udk
zsufodrf;vkdufNyD; tpk½S,f,mrsm;udk YSX \ tDvufxa&mepf
pepfjzifh a&mif;0,fa&;pifjrifhodkY vTJajymif;cJhonf[k qdkvdkjcif;
jzpfonf/ þtvTJtajymif;onf tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;twGuf
tqifajyacsmarGUNyD; aiGacs;oufaocHvufrSwfpm&if; zGifhvSpf
&mwGif tultnD&½dSap&ef uRefawmfwdkYonf Myanmar
Securities Exchange Center Co., Ltd. (MSEC) ? KBZ
Stirling Coleman Securities (KBZSC) wdkYESifh yl;aygif;
aqmif½GufcJhygonf/ pm&if;pwifoGif;onfh&ufwGif uRefawmf
wdkY xkwfa0a&mif;csxm;aom tpk½S,f,m\ 95% ausmf
tm; udk,fpm;jyKaom tpk½S,f,m½Sif (3ç000) ausmfwdkYu
aiGacs;oufaocHvufrSwf pm&if;rsm;zGifhvSpfcJhNyD; jzpfygonf/
xdktcsdefrSpí tpk½S,f,m½SifOD;a&rsm;pGm pm&if;xyfrHzGifhvSpfcJh
MuNyD; jzpfygonf/ tu,fí vlBuD;rif;taejzifh pm&if;zGifhvSpf
&jcif;r½dSao;ygu vlBuD;rif;\tpk½S,f,mrsm; vG,fulpGm
a&mif;0,fEdkif&efESifh tjrwfa0pkrsm; xkwf,lEdkif&eftwGufpm&if;
zGifhvSpfMu&ef uRefawmhtaejzifh tm;ay;wdkufwGef;tyfygonf/
,cktcg tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;taejzifh pm&if;zGifhvSpf&ef vdkifpif&
ukrÜPD (5)ckxJrS a½G;cs,fEdkifNyD jzpfygonf/ MSEC ESifh KBZSC
wdkYtjyif CB Securities? AYA Trust Securities ESifh KTZ
Ruby Hill Securities wdkYonf ,cktcg pawmhaps;uGufwGif
wuf<upGm vkyfief;aqmif½Gufvsuf ½dSMuygonf/

Securities Account Opening at
FMI
Day
at Centre
FMI Centre

¤if;wdkY\ rdkbdkif;zkef;eHygwfudktoHk;jyK½Hkjzifh vHkNcHKpGmaiGxdef;odrf;
vTJajymif;jcif;wdkYudk aqmif½Gufay;ygonf/ azmufonfrsm;onf
Wave Money Mobile Application udk Download qGJ,l
jyD;aemuf teD;tem;½dS Wave Shop qdkifodkY oGm;a&mufum
aiGtyfESHjcif; odkYr[kwf aiGxkwf,ljcif;wdkYjyKEdkifygonf/ Wave
Shop qdkifrsm;wGif &yfuGufukefpHkqdkifrsm;? rdkbdkif;zkef;qkdifrsm;?
vufzuf&nfqdkifrsm;ESifh tvG,fwul 0,f,lEdkifaom ukefrsdK;pHk
qdkifrsm; yg0ifygonf/ Wave Money pepfonf vlBuD;rif;\
zkef;wGif (24)em&D &½dSaeonfhtwGuf aiGvTJajymif;ay;ydkYEdkif&ef
bPfzGifhcsdefudk apmifhqkdif;&ef rvdktyfay/ aiGvTJajymif;ay;ydkY
jcif;rsm;udk csufcsif;aqmif½Gufay;onfhtwGuf vsifjrefxd
a&mufaom 0efaqmifrIwpf&yf jzpfygonf/ FMI tpk½S,f,m
½Sifrsm;tm;vHk; þ Application udk qGJ,lNyD; wpfBudrfwpfcg
&,ltoHk;csjcif;jzifh 0efaqmifrIvkyfief;tm; prf;oyftoHk;jyK
Muyg&ef wdkufwGef;vkdygonf/ þodkY aqmif½Gufjcif;twGuf
auseyfESpfoufrI&½dSvdrfhrnf[k ,HkMunfygonf/

FMI ukrÜPD?

½dk;rbPfESifh uRefawmfwdkY\pD;yGm;zuf w,fvDaem
wdkYonf rdkbdkif;zkef;jzifh aiGvTJajymif;ay;acsEdkifonfh ajymif;vJ
jcif;wpf&yfjzpfaom Wave Money tpDtpOftm; pwifEdkif&ef
pDpOfvsuf½dSygonf/ Wave Money onf azmufonfrsm;tm;

2015 ckESpf? 'DZifbmv (11)&ufaeYwGif Pun Hlaing Siloam
onf ¤if;\ &efukefNrdKUjyify yxrqHk;
aq;cef;tm; zGifhvSpfjcif;jzifh pmrsufESmopf zGifhvSpfcJhygonf/

Hospitals (PHSH)

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

½Srf;jynfe,f½dS PHSH \ anmifa½Taq;cef;onf tmx&m
aqmif;ESifh ESvHk;vQyfppfrSwfwrf;wif (ECG) ½dkufjcif;wdkY tyg
t0if a'ocHjynfolrsm;tm; jyifyvlemtjzpf aq;ukojcif;
0efaqmifrIay;vsuf½dSygonf/ þaq;cef;onf umuG,faq;
xkd;jcif;tpDtpOfrsm;ESifh rD;,yfom;zGm; jyKpkapmifha½Smufay;jcif;
ponfwdkYudkvnf; aqmif½Gufay;vsuf ½dSygonf/ þaq;cef;
opfonf vmrnfh(7)ESpfausmfumvtwGif; EdkifiHwpf0ef; aq;½Hk
uGef&ufwnfaqmuf&ef &nf½G,fxm;aom aq;½Hkwdk;csJUa&;
r[mAsL[m\ tpdwftydkif;wpfckjzpfygonf/ þaq;½Hk uGef
&ufonf vlopfpkaqmif;jcif;? avhusifhay;jcif;? aq;½HkoHk;
ypönf;? aq;0g;rsm;0,f,ljcif;ESifh &efukefNrdKU½dS ydkíBuD;rm;aom
aq;½HkodkY vTJajymif;ay;jcif;wdkYuJhodkYaom u@toD;oD;ü atmif
jrifrI½dSap&ef yHhydk;ay;oGm;rnf jzpfygonf/ rEÅav;ü yxrqHk;
yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½Hkudk wnfaqmufqJjzpfNyD; 2016 ckESpf rukefrD
tNyD;wnfaqmufzGifhvSpfoGm;&ef pDpOfxm;ygonf/

NyD;cJhonfhESpf ESpfywfvnftpD&ifcHpmwGif aMunmcJhonfhtwdkif;
2015-2016 b@ma&;ESpftwGif; FMI Air ü uRefawmfwdkY\
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHxm;rIudk 50% rS 10% odkY avQmhcscJhygonf/
avaMumif;u@onf
a&½Snftvm;tvmaumif;½dSonfudk
uRefawmfwdkYtaejzihf ,HkMunfaeqJjzpfaomfjim;vnf; FMI Air
wGif &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIavQmhcs&ef qHk;jzwfcsufcsrSwfjcif;rSm a&wdk
umvwGif tjrwftpGef;&EdkifzG,fr½dSjcif;ESifh FMI Air wGif qHk;½HI;
rIonf uRefawmfwdkY\ b@ma&;pGrf;aqmifrIwpfckvHk;udk avQmh
usaprnfqdkaom tcsufrsm;tay: tajccHcJhygonf/ trsm;ESihf
oufqdkifonfh ukrÜPDwpfcktaejzifh uRefawmfwdkY &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI
rsm;\ pGrf;aqmifcsufudk qufwdkuftuJjzwfvsuf½dSNyD; tpk½S,f
,m½Sifrsm;tm; tusdK;tjrwftrsm;qHk;ay;Edkif&ef uRefawmfwdkY
\ &if;ESD;jr§KyfEHSxm;rIrsm;udk csdefñdSvsuf½dSygonf/ FMI Air \
pGrf;aqmifrIwdk;wuffvmvQif uRefawmfwdkY\ xnfh0if&if;ESD;jr§Kyf
ESHrIudk jyefvnf0,f,lcGifh½dSygonf/ ,if;odkY aqmif½Gufjcif;jzifh
uRefawmfwdkYtm; tqkdygavaMumif;vkdif;\ pGrf;aqmifcsufudk
tuJjzwfcGifhESifh vkdtyfovkd vkyfaqmifcGifh&½dSaprnf jzpfyg
onf/

2016 ckESpf? arv (3)&ufaeYwGif aMunmcJhonfhtwdkif; ,cifu
FMI Trading Centre (FTC) tm; vkyfief;aqmif½GufcJhaom
&mEIef;jynfhydkif
ukrÜPDwpfckjzpfonfh Yoma Thitsar
Commercial Co., Ltd. tm; ukrÜPD\qE´t& ydwfodrf;cJhyg
onf/ ESpfaygif;tawmfMum vkyfief;aqmif½GufcJhaom FTC
onf tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;tm; Over the Counter jzifh a&mif;

0,fapEdkifcJhygonf/ ,cktcg &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef; (YSX)
wGif pm&if;0ifcJhNyD;jzpfaomaMumifh uRefawmfwdkY\½S,f,mrsm;udk
YSX \ tDvufxa&mepf a&mif;0,fa&;pepfodkY vTJajymif;cJh
NyD;jzpf&m FTC onf rvkdtyfawmhyg/ Yoma Thitsar tm;
ydwfodrf;jcif;onf uRefawmfwdkY b@ma&;tajctaeay:udk
xda&mufonfh tusdK;oufa&mufrI ½dSvdrfhrnfr[kwfyg/

vGefcJhaomESpf ESpfywfvnftpnf;ta0;wGif tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;
xHrS oabmwlnDcsuf&½dSNyD;aemuf ,ckESpfwGif 0efxrf;rsm;tm;
tpk½S,f,mxkwfa0csD;jr§ifhjcif;tpDtpOfudk taumiftxnfazmf
aqmif½GufcJhygonf/ 2015 ckESpf? Zlvdkifv (30)&ufwGif FMI
onf tpk½S,f,m(1)oef;tm; Yoma Myittar Development
Co., Ltd. odkY xkwfay;cJhygonf/ ,if;ukrÜPDonf FMI ESifh
uREkfyfwdkY\ tkyfpk0ifukrÜPDrsm;rS owfrSwft&nftcsif;ESifh
jynfhrDaom 0efxrf;rsm;tm; tpk½S,f,mrsm; csD;jr§ifhay;jcif;udk
Muyfrwfaqmif½GufoGm;rnf jzpfygonf/
&efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;ü pm&if;0ifonfh 2016 ckESpf? rwfv(25)
&ufaeYwGif uRefkyfwdkY\ vkyfief;atmifjrifrI&½dSa&;twGuf yg0if
aqmif½GufrIudk todtrSwfjyKjcif;ESifh oufwrf;Mum½SnfpGm wm
0efxrf;aqmifrIwdkYtwGuf rufvHk;ay;onfhtaejzifh 0efxrf;
(200)tm; tpk½S,f,m (300ç000) udk csD;jr§ifhcJhygonf/ tqdk
ygcsD;jr§ifhcJhaom tpk½S,f,mrsm;onf csD;jr§ifhay;tyfonfh tenf;
qHk;umvudk owfrSwfxm;&m 0efxrf;rsm;onf ,if;owfrSwf
umvausmfonfhwdkif qufvuf wm0efxrf;aqmifrSomvQif
½S,f,mrsm;udk vufcH&½dSMurnf[k qdkvdkygonf/
tem*wfumvwGif uRefawmfwdkYtwGuf yifukd,fpGrf;&nf jrifhrm;
aomolrsm;tm; qGJaqmifxdef;odrf;xm;Edkif&ef þrufvHk;ay;
tpk½S,f,mrsm;tm; qufvufay;tyfoGm;rnf jzpfygonf/
Yoma Myittar onf owfrSwft&nftcsif;jynfhrDaom 0ef
xrf;rsm;odkY vTJajymif;ay;onftxd ¤if;tpk½S,f,mrsm;udk
vHk;0ydkifqdkifxm;rnf jzpfygonf/ csD;jr§ifhjcif;rjyKaom tpk½S,f
,mrsm;udk tem*wfumv 0efxrf;rsm;tm; cGJa0ay;Edkifygonf/
'g½dkufwmtzGJU\ vrf;ñTefrIt& vkyftm;cESifhcsD;jr§ifhaiG owf
rSwfa&;aumfrwDonf Yoma Myittar \ pDrHcefYcGJa&;tm; BuD;
MuyfrIwm0ef ,lxm;ygonf/
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vGefcJhonfhESpfwGif ta&;ygonfhodomxif½Sm;aom jyefvnfzGJU
pnf;rIjyKvkyfcJhNyD;aemuf ,ckESpfuRefawmfwdkY\ t"dutm½Hkpl;
pdkufrIonf uRefawmfwdkY\ ]]r@dKifoHk;&yf}} jzpfaom b@ma&;
0efaqmifrI? tdrf&mazmfxkwfwnfaqmufa&;ESifh usef;rma&;
apmifha½SmufrIu@rsm;ay:wGif jzpfygonf/ vlBuD;rif;wdkY\
ukrÜPDordkif;wGif yxrqHk;tBudrftjzpf 2015-2016 ckESpfwGif
usyf (100)bDvD,H 0ifaiG&½dScJhygonf/ þta&;ygaom ordkif;
rSwfwdkifonf uRefawmfwdkY\ ]]r@dKifoHk;&yf}} r[mAsL[mESifh
txl;ojzifh ½dk;rbPftay: tav;xm;tm½HkpdkufcJhrI tusdK;
&v'faMumifh jzpfygonf/
½dk;rbPf\acs;aiGESifh bPfodkYtyfESHrIwdkY ododomomqufvuf
í pHcsdefwifwdk;wufcJhrIaMumifh ,ckESpf0ifaiGrsm;\ 86.6%
eD;yg;udk ½dk;rbPfrS &½dScJhygonf/ þbPf\ acs;aiGpm&if;
onf 74% wdk;wufvmcJhNyD; usyf (722.8) bDvD,Hxd a&muf½dS
cJhygonf/ wpfcsdefwnf;rSmyif ¤if;\acs;aiGrSm ,ckb@ma&;
ESpfukefwGif usyf (1.1)x&DvD,Hxd wdk;wufcJhygonf/ vGefcJh
onfhESpftenf;i,fu oknjzifhpwifcJhonfh tyfESHaiG (1)x&D
vD,Hausmfonf trSefyiftHhMozG,faumif;aom xl;jcm;rIwpfck
jzpfygonf/
yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½Hkonfvnf; rsm;jym;vSonfh 0ifaiGusyf
(11.9) bDvD,H (odkYr[kwf) 0ifaiGpkpkaygif;\ 10.8% cefYtm;
axmufyHh ay;cJhygonf/
uRefawmfwdkY\ pkpkaygif;tjrwfonf ,cifESpf 38.8% ½dS&mrS
,ckESpfwGif 31.9% odkY usqif;cJhygonf/ þodkY usqif;&jcif;
onf t"dutm;jzifh bPfvkyfief;tokduft0ef;wGif ,SOfNydKif
&rIaMumifh tom;wiftjrwfaiGtay: zdtm;ay;jcif;cH&onfh
bPf\toHk;p&dwf jrifhrm;vmjcif;ESifh wpfpkwpfaygif;wnf;
aompm&if;rS y,fzsufjcif;rjyKrD FMI Air rS t½HI;rsm;aMumifh
jzpfygonf/
wpfzufwGif Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals onf vdIifom
,m½dS ¤if;\ taxmuftul ypönf;rsm;udk ydkrdkaumif;rGefpGm
toHk;cscJhrIESihf vkyfief;udkydkrdkxda&mufpGm aqmif½GufcJhrIwdkYaMumifh
vGefcJhaomESpfuxuf pkpkaygif;tjrwfaiG wdk;wufvmcJhygonf/
uRefawmfwdkY\ pDrHcefYcGJrIp&dwfrSmvnf; ukrÜPDtkyfpkwpfckvHk;
twGif; wdk;jrifhvmcJhygonf/ þwdk;jrifhvmrIonf wpfpdwfwpf
ydkif;tm;jzifh &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;wGif pm&if;0ifcJhjcif;aMumifh
uscHcJh&aom uRrf;usifrIqdkif&m ukefusp&dwfyg0ifouJhodkY 0ef
xrf;rsm;twGuf vpmaiG ydkrdkay;cJh&jcif;aMumifhvnf; jzpfyg
onf/ rvkdtyfaom toHk;p&dwfrsm; avQmhcsEdkif&efuRefawmfwdkY
BudK;pm;aqmif½Gufvsuf½dSNyD; vlom;t&if;tjrpfESifh ywfoufí
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIonf tem*wfumvwGif BuD;rm;onfh tusdK;
tjrwf ydkrdk&½dSvdrfhrnf[k tjynfht0 ,HkMunfxm;ygonf/
,ckESpfwGif uRefawmfwdkY0efxrf;rsm;tm; xda&mufonfh &if;ESD;

jr§KyfESHrI jyKvkyfay;cJhjcif;aMumifh ,if;wdkYtaejzifhvmrnfh ESpfrsm;
wGif ukrÜPDtkyfpktwGuf odomxif½Sm;onfh tusdK;tjrwf
xGufay:ap&ef aqmif½GufMuvdrfhrnf[k arQmfvifhxm;ygonf/
tpkpyfukrÜPDrsm;rS uRefawmfwdkY\ tjrwfaiGrSm t"dutm;
jzifh Star City tdrf&mwnfaqmufa&;vkyfief;rS tjrwfaiGrsm;
aMumifh &½dSaejcif;jzpf&m ,if;tjrwfaiGrSm ,ckESpfwGif usyf
(15.4) bDvD,HrS (3.9) bDvD,Hxd odompGmusqif;cJhygonf/
vGefcJhonfhESpfwGif Star City onf taqmuftOD at(3) ESifh
at(4) wdkYrS qufvuf&½dSaom 0ifaiGESifhtwl ZkefpDrS 0ifaiGod
ompGm &½dScJhygonf/ 2015-2016 b@ma&;ESpftwGif; taxG
taxGa½G;aumufyGJrsm;rwdkifrD a,bk,stm;jzifh tdrfNcHajraps;
uGufrSm ydkrdkNidrfoufcJhjcif;aMumifh ,ckESpfwGif ZkefpDrS 0ifaiGus
qif;oGm;cJhygonf/ þtaMumif;&if;rsm;onf tjrwftpGef;
avsmhenf;ap&ef jzpfapcJhNyD; ,ckESpftwGif; tdrfNcHajrvkyfief;
twGuf trsm;enf;wl BuHKawGU&aomjzpf&yfwpfck jzpfcJhygonf/
tjcm;wpfzufwGif Star City ü taqmuftOD at(5)udk
iSm;&rf;aexdkifol rsm;jym;vmcJhjcif;aMumifh þu@rS uRefawmf
wdkY&½dSaom0ifaiGudk wdk;jrifhapcJhygonf/
,ckb@ma&;ESpfwGif yHkrSefvkyfief;vnfywfjcif; r[kwfaom
vkyfief;rsm;rS tjrwfaiGusyf (7.9)bDvD,HeD;yg; &½dScJhygonf/
,if; tjrwfaiGrsm;onf FMI Air ü &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI avQmhcsjcif;ESifh
yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½Hk½dS ay;&efwm0efrsm;tm; y,fzsufcJhjcif;wdkY
aMumifh jzpfay:vmjcif;jzpfygonf/
tm;vHk;NcHKiHkvkdufaomf uRefawmfwdkYonf b@ma&;t& ckdifrm
awmifhwif;aom ESpfwpfESpfudk ydkifqdkifcJhygonf/ tdrf&mazmf
xkwfwnfaqmufa&;u@wGif 0ifaiGodompGm usqif;cJhaomf
jim;vnf; uRefawmfwdkY\ tom;wiftjrwfaiG usyf (8.9)
bDvD,H &½dSjcif;onf uRefawmfwdkY\ tjcm;aom&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI
vkyfief;rsm;rSwqifh rwnfNidrfaom aps;uGuftajctaersm;tm;
uRefawmfwdkY\ BuHUBuHUcHEdkifpGrf;½dSrIudk aemufxyfoufaowpfck
jzpfygonf/

,ckESpf &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;wGif pm&if;0ifcJhjcif;jzifh vlBuD;
rif;wdkYukrÜPDonf wkd;wufrItqifhopfwpfckodkY a&muf½dScJhyg
onf/ tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;onf ,cktcg ¤if;wdkY\ tpk½S,f,m
rsm;udk vGwfvyfyGifhvif;í vG,fulpGma&mif;0,fEdkifaom pepf
wpf&yfudk &½dScJhMuNyD; jzpfygonf/ þ pepfopfESihftwl tm½Hk
pdkufrIonf tjrwfa0pkrsm; cGJa0ay;jcif;yrmPrSonf FMI ½S,f
,mrsm;\ rSefuefonfh aps;uGufwefzdk;tay:odkY ajymif;vJrI
wpf&yf jzpfvmcJhygonf/ &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef; aps;uGufwef
zdk;onf aeYpOfESifhtrQ twuftus½dSaernfjzpfaomfvnf;
tcsdefwefvQif aps;uGufwefzdk;onf a,bk,stm;jzifh ukrÜPD
\wefzdk;udk xif[yfvmrnf jzpfygonf/
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pDrHcefYcGJa&;tzGJUESifhtwl 'g½dkufwmtzGJUonf uRefawmfwdkY vkyf
ief;zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrI\ ta&;ygvSaomtqifhwGif tjrwfrsm;tm;
jyefvnf&if;ESD;jr§KyfESH&ef ta&;BuD;onfudk od½dSxm;ygonf/
tjrwfa0pkrsm;tm; yrmPBuD;rm;pGmay;jcif;onf uRefawmfwdkY
\ vkyfief;rsm;wdk;wufap&eftwGuf vkdktyfaomt&if;tESD;tm;
jywfvyfaprnf jzpfygonf/ uRefawmfwdkY\,HkMunfrIrSm vkyf
ief;vnfywfvsuf½dSaom ukrÜPDrsm;wGif pdwf½Snfíworwf
wnf; &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIonf aemufqHk;wGif tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;
twGuf tusdK;tjrwf ykdrdkBuD;rm;pGm&½dSvmrnfqdkaom tcsuf
yif jzpfygonf/
þodkY,HkMunfonfhtwdkif; vlBuD;rif;wdkY\'g½dkufwmtzGJUonf
,ckESpfwGif tjrwfa0pktjzpf tpk½S,f,mwpfpkvQif usyf(135)
xkwfay;&ef axmufcHwifjyxm;ygonf/ vlBuD;rif;wdkYtaejzifh
uRefawmfwdkY\ tjrwfa0pkay;&ef rl0g'udkaxmufcHNyD; rsm;r
MumrD usif;yawmhrnfh ESpfywfvnftaxGaxGtpnf;ta0;BuD;
wGif vufcHoabmwlMuvdrfhrnf[k ,HkMunfygonf/
FMI's Executive Chairman Rings the Bell
to Commence Trading on 25 March 2016

&efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;wGif pm&if;0ifcJhjcif;ESifh ]]r@dKifoHk;&yf}}
tay: tm½Hkpdkufxm;aom ½Sif;vif;jywfom;onhf pD;yGm;a&;
r[mAsL[maMumifh vlBuD;rif;wdkY\ukrÜPDonf vmrnfhESpfrsm;
wGif pD;yGm;a&;zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrItay: tjrwfxkwf&ef taumif;
qHk; taetxm;wGif ½dSaeygonf/ vGefcJhaomESpf tenf;i,f
Mumuyif aumif;rGefaom pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;rsm;ESifh aumif;rGef
aomu@rsm;wGif wnfjidrfpGm rsdK;aphcsvsuf½dS&m aumuf&dwf
odrf;csdefwGif tusKd;tjrwfrsm; vQHy,fpGm&½dSvmrnf[k uRef
awmfwdkY ,HkMunfxm;ygonf/
EkdifiHa&;e,fy,fwGif rnfodkYyifjzpfay:vmonfjzpfap? rl0g'opf
rsm; rnfodkYyifcsrSwfvmonfjzpfap? uRefawmfwdkY\ vdkufavsm
nDaxG½dSap&ef aqmif½GufEdkifpGrf;½dSrIudk,HkMunfojzifh atmifjrif
rI&½dSrnfom jzpfygonf/ ydkrdkBuD;rm;onfh pD;yGm;a&;todkuf
t0ef;wGif rnfodkYyifjzpfjzpf ukrÜPDtm;,ckxuf tqifhydkrdk
jrifhrm;vmap&ef xdef;ausmif;oGm;Edkifonfhtajrmftjrif uRef
awmfwdkYxHwGif ½dSNyD;jzpfonfudk ,HkMunfygonf/ ESpfaygif;(20)
ausmfMum uRefawmfwdkY\ tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;xHrS &½dSxm;aom
tm;xm;,HkMunf&onfh axmufcHrIjzpfNyD; t"dutcsuftjcm
usaom tajccHrlrsm;jzpfonfh aumif;rGefaom pDrHcefYcGJrIpepfESifh
taumif;qHk; vkyfief;vufawGUusifhoHk;rIrsm;tm; rxdcdkufap
bJ þ,HkMunfrIudk aqmif½GufoGm;rnf jzpfygonf/
ed*Hk;csKyftm;jzifh uRefawmfwdkY\ tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;tm; aus;Zl;
wif*kPf,laMumif; xyfrHajymMum;vdkygonf/ ½S,f,m½Siftrsm;
tjym;onf rMumao;rDu &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;wGif tpk
½S,f,m0,f,lcJhMuNyD; jzpfygonf/ vlBuD;rif;wdkY\ tm;ay;ul
nDrIudk trSefyif aus;Zl;wif0rf;ajrmufygaMumif;ESifh vmrnhf

ESpfrsm;wGif vlBuD;rif;wdkY\ arQmfvifhcsufrsm;xuf ydkrdkomvGef
ap&ef arQmfvifh xm;ygonf/ cufcJ½IyfaxG;onfh pawmhtdwfcsdef;
pm&if;0ifa&;twGuf aqmif½Guf&mwGif *½kwpdkufvrf;ñTefay;cJh
rIESifh ÓPftajrmftjrif½dSrIwdkYtwGuf uRefawmfwdkY\ 'g½dkufwm
tzGJU0ifrsm;udkvnf; aus;Zl;wifaMumif; ajymMum;vkdygonf/
uRefawmfwdkY ukrÜPDtkyfpkvkyfief;rsm;rS 0efxrf;rsm;? azmuf
onfrsm;udkvnf; vlBuD;rif;wdkY\ opömapmifhodrItwGuf
aus;Zl;wifygaMumif;ESifh FMI tm; ydkrdkaumif;rGefaom ukrÜPD
wpfcktjzpf wnfaqmuf&mwGif uRefawmfwdkYESifh yl;aygif;yg0if
aqmif½GufMuyg&ef wdkufwGef;tyfygonf/
av;pm;pGmjzifh

odrf;a0 (c) Serge Pun
Ouú|
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SPA Flood Relief Committee in Rakhine State

Corporate Social
Responsibility

C

orporate Social Responsibility is an essential
part of our business philosophy, and it forms
the cornerstone of our success. From FMI and
across the larger SPA Group, total CSR contributions
this year totaled US $548,390. Along with our
activities at headquarters, all Group companies
actively engage in their own CSR activities. Martin Pun,
a member of our Board of Advisors, oversees our
overall CSR efforts and ensures their efficacy. Under
his leadership, we were involved in the following
activities this year:

Flood Relief
The devastating floods in July and August this year
were a tragedy that saw the nation truly come
together to pool resources and work with a spirit
of cooperation. In response to the floods, FMI
and the SPA Group formed the SPA Flood Relief
Committee. After evaluating the situation, the
Committee recognized three urgent needs: clean
water for cooking and drinking, transportation of
basic necessities and food distribution. We decided
to focus on the hardest hit areas of Rakhine State.
Working with our Group companies, we were able

to quickly raise over US $150,000 to support the SPA
Flood Relief Team to carry out projects.
As part of our rapid response effort, FMI Air was
engaged to transport relief supplies directly to Sittwe.
Six days after the floods began, our teams were
distributing relief supplies transported on FMI Air
planes, in conjunction with local Sittwe businessmen
Ye Htet Naing and local monasteries.
The SPA Flood Relief Committee also sent Dr. Ye Moe
Myint of Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals to Sittwe where
he met with health officials at Kyaut Taw clinic to
assess the medical needs of the township. Kyaut Taw
Township has nearly 100 villages and a population
of around 200,000. Recognizing the urgent need for
clean water, Dr. Ye and his team distributed Sawyer
PointOne Water Filters to villages in the Mrauk U
area of Rakhine State. These devices are able to filter
more than 2,000 liters a day and last for 5- 7 years.
After the flood waters receded, we remained active
in our relief efforts. From August to October the
SPA Flood Relief team collaborated with Myanmar
Business Coalition on Aid (MBCA) to organize further
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trips to the Mrauk U area. 40 volunteers from Group
companies visited 35 villages and distributed over
500 water filters – providing direct and long term
access to clean drinking water for over 10,000 families
and 45,000 individuals. MBCA also coordinated
relief efforts in Sittwe and Yangon, collecting and
distributing donations from individuals, businesses,
and organizations interested in providing effective
and efficient aid.
In addition to distributing the water filters to the
villages – SPA Flood Relief Team and MBCA staff
also conducted a series of training sessions on their
operation, assembly, and maintenance, as well as
the necessity of clean water for health and hygiene
purposes – including innovative ways of using and
saving clean water.

Myanmar Business Coalition on Aid
FMI and Yoma Bank are the main supporters of the
Myanmar Business Coalition on Aid (MBCA). MBCA’s
mission is to promote responsible business practices
throughout the country through educational
seminars and workshops. The main beneficiaries
of these seminars are small business owners and
managers. To accomplish its mission nationwide,
MBCA maintains eight offices in Yangon, Mandalay,
Monywa, Pakokku, Pyay, Lashio, Dawei and Sittwe.
This year more than 1,800 individuals attended
MBCA workshops which covered topics such as
‘The 10 principles of the UN Global Compact’, ‘Why

companies should adopt Standard Operating
Procedures’, and ‘Why a proper financial system is
important for your company’.

Community Light Centers
In many rural villages across Myanmar, social and
commercial activities stop when the sun goes down.
Without lighting, children find it difficult to study,
which hampers their educational development and
leaves them at a disadvantage to their peers in urban
areas. This education gap often results in stunted
economic development for the community.
FMI and JJ-Pun have joined together to implement
Community Light Centers (CLCs) which help to tackle
this issue. CLCs are sustainable and affordable
lighting systems that turn small rural fields into
public community areas by providing high quality
solar lighting. Powered by four LED street lights,
these CLCs effectively extend the day and therefore
enable communities in locations without electricity
to engage in a range of activities that promote
development.
A typical CLC consists of four poles, each carrying an
energy efficient LED flood light, a solar panel, and a
battery system. The batteries are charged through
solar energy during the day and used at night. Each
light has a lifetime of approximately 50,000 hours.
Myanmar’s first CLC has been successfully installed in
Ngar Zin Yine village in Tada-U Township, Mandalay.
In the coming years we plan to install many more
CLCs, which will enable rural communities to improve
their living standard and enhance their economic
development.

Donation of Marathon Registration Fees

Corporate Social
Responsibility is an
essential part of our
business philosophy, and
it forms the cornerstone
of our success.

The 2015 Yoma Yangon International Marathon was
an opportunity for FMI and the larger SPA Group to
raise funds for charity. We raised US $23,840, which
included the donation of all registration fees. The
funds raised are improving the livelihoods of the
children at the Su Taung Pyae Youth Development
Centre in Thanlyn Township, Yangon. There are more
than 1,500 children at the Centre, and the funds will
help to provide them with access to clean water a
purification system as well as assisting in education
programs.
We further donated US $15,384 to the YCDC NonProfit Child Day Care Centre for Low Income
Citizens which provides early childhood care and
kindergarten education to over 100 children across
six Yangon locations.
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Balloons Over Bagan Employees Deliver Aid
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Donation of Water Towers in Minbya, Rakhine State

An additional US $6,923 was donated to the Aung Za
Bu Youth Development Centre in Sin Chan Village,
Kawhmu Township, which provides education for
1,044 students, many of whom are orphans from
conflict areas.

United Nations Global Compact
The UN Global Compact was initiated in 2000 by Kofi
Anan to promote global corporate responsibility. The
compact consists of ten guiding principles which
cover the environment, anti-corruption, labor and
human rights. FMI has acceded to the UN Global
Compact and we are committed to running the
company based on its framework of sustainable,
transparent and responsible business practices.

Free Community Medical Clinics
This year Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals was engaged
in organizing free health clinics in the villages
surrounding its main hospital in Hlaing Thayar.
These clinics focused on the different health needs
of villagers, including blood pressure monitoring
and treatment, dental, osteoporosis, diabetes and
cataracts. The hospital also offered free calcium
score screenings for monks at nearby monasteries.

Social Initiatives on the Maw Tin Estate
The FMI Group has initiated numerous social
programs on the Maw Tin Estate, where we maintain
a plantation. Amongst the most important of these
is the Sin Wine School, which we built to ensure
the children of Estate employees receive a proper
education. This year we continued to fund the school
and its teachers, ensuring that the youth living on
the estate have access to future education and
employment opportunities.

Donations to Orphanages
FMI has a longstanding commitment to supporting
orphanages in Twante. These orphanages provide
care, food, shelter and a basic education to over 1,000
boys and girls between the ages of 4 and 18. This year
a key focus of our efforts was on improving sanitation
at the Mingalar Youth Development Parahita School
in Phayagyi Village near Twante. FMI along with other
SPA Group companies donated US $10,753 to build
10 new toilets for the orphanage, which will help to
quell the incidence of sanitation related illness.
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vlrI0ef;usifqdkif&mwm0ef,lrIonf uRefawmfwdkY\ vkyfief;o
abmw&m; cH,lcsufwGif vGefpGmta&;ygaom u@wpfckjzpfNyD;
uRefawmfwdkYatmifjrifrI\ tajccHtkwfjrpfjzpfygonf/ FMI ESifh
SPA Group wpfckvHk;rS ,ckESpf vlrI0ef;usifqdkif&mwm0ef,lrI
twGuf ulnDaxmufyHhaiG pkpkaygif;rSm tar&duefa':vm
(548ç390) ½dSygonf/ ukrÜPD½Hk;csKyfrS uRefawmfwdkY\ vlrIa&;
vkyfief;rsm;ESifhtwl ukrÜPDtkyfpkrS ukrÜPDtm;vHk;onf¤if;wdkY\
udk,fydkifvlrIa&;vkyfief; aqmif½GufrIrsm;wGif wuf<upGm yg0iff
aqmif½Gufvsuf ½dSygonf/ 'g½dkufwmtzGJU? tBuHay;tzGJU0if
wpfOD;jzpfol Mr. Martin Pun onf uRefawmfwdkY\ vlrIa&;vkyf
ief;aqmif½GufrIrsm;tm;vHk;udk BuD;Muyfvsuf½dSNyD; ¤if;vkyfief;
rsm;tm; xdda&mufatmifjrif&ef vkyfaqmifEdkifygonf/ ¤if;\
OD;aqmifrIatmufwGif ,ckESpfü atmufygvlrIa&;vkyfief;rsm;
wGif uRefawmfwdkY yg0ifaqmif½GufcJhMuygonf/

þtpD&ifcHonfhESpf ZlvdkifvESifh Mo*kwfvwdkYwGif tBuD;tus,f
xdckdufysufpD;apcJhaom a&vTrf;rdk;rIrsm;onf pdwfrcsrf;ajrUzG,f
aumif;onfh tjzpfqdk;wpfckjzpfcJhNyD; jrefrmEdkifiHonf a&ab;
u,fq,fa&;vkyfief;twGuf vltiftm;t&if;tjrpf trSefw
u,f toifh½dSaomEdkifiHjzpfvmcJhNyD; yl;aygif;aqmif½GufrI pdwf
"mwfjzifh aqmif½GufcJhMuonfudk jrifawGU&ygonf/ a&vTrf;rdk;
jcif;tm; ulnDa&;aqmif½Guf&mwGif FMI ESifh SPA Group wdkY
onf SPA a&ab;u,fq,fa&;aumfrwDudk zGJUpnf;cJhygonf/
a&vTrf;rdk;rIaMumifh xdckdufysufpD;rItajctaeudk csifhwGufqHk;jzwf
NyD;aemuf tqdkygaumfrwDonf csufjyKwfrIESihf aomufoHk;&ef
twGuf oefY½Sif;aoma&? o,f,lydkYaqmifa&; tajccHvkdtyfcsuf
rsm;ESifh pm;eyf&du©mjzefYjzL;a&; wnf;[laom ta&;BuD;vkdtyf
csuf(3)&yfudk todtrSwfjyKcJhygonf/ &ckdifjynfe,f½dS tqdk;½Gm;
qHk;xdcdkufcJhaoma'orsm;tm; tm½Hkpdkuf&ef uRefawmfwdkY qHk;
jzwfcJhMuygonf/ uRefawmfwdkYukrÜPDtkyfpkrS ukrÜPDrsm;ESifh
twlyl;aygif;í u,fq,fa&;vkyfief;rsm; aqmif½Guf&eftwGuf
SPA a&ab;u,fq,fa&;tzGJUtm; axmufyHhulnDEdkif&ef tar&d
uefa':vm (150ç000)ausmfudk vsifjrefpGm pkaqmif;EdkifcJhyg
onf/

uRefawmfwdkY\ vsifjrefaom u,fq,fa&;vkyfief; aqmif½GufrI
tpdwftydkif;wpfcktaejzihf u,fq,fa&;ypönf;rsm;tm; ppfawG
NrdKUodkY wdkuf½dkufydkYaqmifEdkif&ef FMI Air avaMumif;tm; pDpOf
aqmif½Gufay;cJhjcif; jzpfygonf/ a&vTrf;rdk;rIpwifjzpfyGm;NyD;
aemuf(6)&uftMumwGif uRefawmfwdkYtzGJUrsm;onf FMI Air
av,mOfrsm;jzifh o,f,lydkYaqmifay;aom u,fq,fa&;ypönf;
rsm;tm; ppfawGNrdKU Ye Htet Naing ukrÜPDrS a'ocHpD;yGm;a&;
vkyfief;½Sifrsm;? a'owGif;½dS bkef;BuD;ausmif;rsm;ESifh csdwfquf
í jzefYjzL;ay;cJhygonf/
SPA a&ab;u,fq,fa&;aumfrwDonf yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½HkrS
a'gufwm&Jrdk;jrifh udkvnf; ppfawGNrdKUodkY apvTwfcJhNyD; ¤if;onf
ausmufawmfNrdKUe,f\ aq;0g;vdktyfcsuftm; cefYrSef;Edkif&ef
ausmufawmfNrdKUusef;rma&;XmerS wm0ef½dSolrsm;ESifh ppfawGNrdKU
wGif awGUqHkcJhygonf/ ausmufawmfNrdKUe,fonf aus;½Gm(100)
eD;yg;cefYESifh vlOD;a& (200ç000)0ef;usifcefY ½dSygonf/ oefY½Sif;
aoma& ta&;BuD;vkdtyfaerIudk tav;*½kjyKxm;jcif;aMumifh
a'gufwm&Jrdk;jrifhESifh tzGJUonf &cdkifjynfe,f? ajrmufOD;a'o
½dS aus;½Gmrsm;odkY Sawyer Point One Water Filters a&oefY
pifud&d,mrsm;tm; jzefYjzL;ay;cJhygonf/ ¤if;ud&d,mrsm;onf
wpf&ufvQif a&vDwm (2ç000)ausmf oefYpifay;EdkifNyD; ouf
wrf; (5)ESpfrS (7)ESpfxd toHk;jyKEdkifygonf/

a&vTrf;rdk;rIavQmhusoGm;NyD;aemuf uRefawmfwdkYonf u,fq,f
a&;vkyfief;rsm;udk wuf<upGm qufvufaqmif½GufcJhygonf/
Mo*kwfvrS atmufwdkbmvtxd SPA a&ab;u,fq,fa&;
tzGJUonf ajrmufOD;a'oodkY u,fq,fa&;c&D;rsm; xyfrHpnf;½Hk;
oGm;a&mufEdkif&ef Myanmar Business Coalition on Aid
(MBCA) ESifh yl;aygif;aqmif½GufcJhygonf/ ukrÜPDtkyfpkrS vkyf
tm;ay;tzGJU0if(40) onf aus;½Gmaygif; (35)½GmodkY oGm;a&muf
í a&oefYpifud&d,m (500)ausmf jzefYjzL;ay;cJhNyD; rdom;pk
(10ç000)ausmf? vlOD;a& (45ç000)twGuf aomufoHk;a& wdkuf
½dkufjzefYa0ay;cJhNyD; a&½SnfoefY½Sif;aom aomufoHk;a&&½dS&ef
aqmif½Gufay;EdkifcJhygonf/ MBCA onf xda&mufí tusKd;½dS
aom tultnDay;rIwGif pdwfyg0ifpm;Muaom vlyk*¾dKvfrsm;? pD;
yGm;a&;vkyfief;½Sifrsm;ESifh tzGJU0ifrsm;xHrSvSL'gef; aiGESifhypönf;
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Responsible Business Seminar

rsm;tm;aumufcHjcif;? jzefYjzL;jcif;paom u,fq,fa&;vkyfief;
rsm;udk ppfawGNrdKUESifh&efukefNrdKUwdkYwGif yl;aygif;ñdSEdIif; aqmif½Guf
ay;cJhygonf/
aus;½Gmrsm;odkY a&oefYpifud&d,mrsm; jzefYjzL;ay;jcif;tjyif
SPA a&ab;u,fq,fa&;tzGJUESifh MBCA rS 0efxrf;rsm;onf
u,fq,fa&;vkyfief;? vlpnf;½Hk;pka0;jcif;ESifh xdef;odrf;apmifh
a½SmufrIvkyfief;? aomufoHk;a&oHk;pGJjcif;? pkaqmif;jcif;ESifh ywf
oufonfh wDxGifrIenf;vrf;rsm;tygt0if usef;rma&;ESihf
wpfudk,fa&ESifhywf0ef;usif oefY½Sif;a&;twGuf oefY½Sif;aoma&
vkdtyfrIwdkYESifh ywfoufaom avhusifhrItpDtpOf trsdK;rsdK;udk
vnf; aqmif½GufcJhMuonf/

FMI

wdkYonf Myanmar Business
Coalition on Aid (MBCA) tm; t"du axmufyHhulnDolrsm;
jzpfMuygonf/ MBCA \ t"du&nfrSef;csufwm0efrSm EdkifiH
wpf0ef;vHk; ynma&;qdkif&m ESD;aESmzvS,fyGJrsm;ESifh tvkyf½HkaqG;
aEG;yGJrsm;jyKvkyfí wm0ef,lrI½dSaom pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;qdkif&m
tavhtusifhrsm;tm; jr§ifhwifay;&efjzpfygonf/ þESD;aESm
zvS,fyGJrsm;rS t"dutusKd;cHpm;&olrsm;rSm tao;pm;pD;yGm;a&;
vkyfief;½Sifrsm;ESifh refae*smrsm; jzpfMuygonf/ MBCA onf
EdkifiHwpf0ef; ¤if;\t"duwm0ef atmifjrifNyD;ajrmufap&ef
ESifh

Yoma Bank

&efukef? rEÅav;? rHk½Gm? yckuúL? jynf? vm;½dI;? xm;0,fESifh
ppfawGjrdKU rsm;wGif ½Hk;cGJ(8)ck zGifhvSpfaqmif½Gufvsuf½dSygonf/
,ck tpD&ifcHpmwifjyonfhESpfwGif vlyk*¾dKvf (1ç800) ausmf wdkY
onf ]]UN Global Compact \ tajccHrl (10)csuf}}? ]]bm
aMumifh ukrÜPDrsm;onf vkyfief;aqmif½GufrI pHowfrSwfcsuf
vkyfxHk;vkyfenf;rsm; usifhoHk;oifhovJ}}? ]]bmaMumifh aumif;rGef
aom b@ma&;pepfonfoif\ ukrÜPDtwGuf ta&;ygovJ}}
ponfhacgif;pOfrsm; yg0ifaom MBCA tvkyf½HkaqG;aEG;yGJ
rsm;odkY wufa&mufcJhMuygonf/

jrefrmEdkifiHwpf0ef; aus;vufawm½Gmtrsm;tjym;wGif ae0if
oGm;csdefü vlrIa&;ESifh pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;aqmifwmrsm; &yfqdkif;
oGm;ygonf/ tvif;a&mifr&onfhtwGuf uav;i,frsm;tae
jzifh pmayavhvmoifMum;&ef tcuftcJBuHKawGU&ygonf/ ,if;
odkYBuHKawGUrIonf ¤if;wdkY\ ynma&;zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;twGuf
twm;tqD;jzpfapNyD; NrdKUjya'orsm;½dS ¤if;wdkYESifhoufwl½G,fwl
rsm;ESifh ,SOfNydKif&mwGif tcGifha&;rwlnDrI jzpfapygonf/ þodkY
ynma&;uGm[rIonf aus;vufae jynfolrsm;twGuf pD;yGm;
a&;zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrIudk t[efYtwm; jzpfapygonf/
FMI

ESifh JJ-Pun wdkYonf þodkYtcuftcJESifh t[efYtwm;
rsm;tm; ulnDajz½Sif;ay;Edkifaom Community Light Centers
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Donation of Marathon Registration Fees

(CLCs)

rsm;tm; wyfqifaqmif½Guf&mwGif yl;aygif;aqmif
½Gufvsuf ½dSygonf/ CLCs rsm;onf wm½SnfcHí tukeftus
oufomaom vQyfppfrD;ay;pepfrsm;jzpfNyD; ¤if;pepfonf t&nf
taoG;jrifh qdkvmjym;tm; aea&mifjcnfay;jcif;jzifh aus;vufae
jynfolrsm;twGuf v,fuGif;i,frsm;udk vQyfppfrD;a&miftjzpf
odkY ajymif;vJay;ygonf/ aea&mifjcnfpGrf;tifjzifh tm;oGif;xm;
aom LED rD;vHk; (4)vHk;yg½dSaom ,if; CLCs rsm;onf aeY
tcsdefuJhodkYtusdK;½dSpGm tvif;a&mifay;Edkifygonf/ xdkYaMumifh
vQyfppffrD;r½dSaom ae&mrsm;wGif þvkyfief;rsm; us,fus,f
jyefYjyefY aqmif½Gufapjcif;jzifh tqdkyga'o½dS jynfolrsm;tm;
zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrI ydkrdk&½dSapEdkifygonf/

2015 ckESpf ½dk;r-&efukef tjynfjynfqdkif&m rm&oGefNydKifyGJonf
FMI ESifh SPA Group wdkYtwGuf tvSL&HyHkaiGaumufcHEdkif&ef
tcGifhtvrf;wpfck jzpfcJhygonf/ uRefawmfwdkYonf tar&duef
a':vm (23ç840) aumufcH&½dScJhNyD; ,if;aiGwGifNydKifyGJ0ifaMu;
tm;vHk;yg0ifygonf/ tqdkyg&HyHkaiGrsm;jzifh &efukefwdkif;? wGHaw;
NrdKUe,f½dS qkawmif;jynfhvli,fzGHUNzdK;a&;a*[mrS uav;oli,f
rsm;\ vlaerIb0tm; wdk;wufapvsuf½dSygonf/ tqdkyg
a*[mwGif uav;i,f (1ç500)ausmf½dSNyD;þ vSL'gef;aiGrSm ¤if;
uav;i,frsm;twGuf oefY½Sif;aom aomufoHk;a&&½dSa&;ESifh
ynma&;tpDtpOfrsm;twGuf taxmuftuljyKrnfjzpfygonf/

CLC

aea&mifjcnfoHk; "mwftm;ay;ud&d,mwGif wdkif(4)wdkif
yg0ifNyD; wdkifwpfckpDwGif pGrf;tifwm&SnfcH LED rD;oD;wpfvHk;?
qdkvmjym;wpfjym;ESifh bufx&Dpepfwpfck yg½dSygonf/ tqdkyg
bufx&Drsm;tm; aeYtcsdefwGif aea&mifjcnfpGrf;tifjzifh tm;
oGif;NyD; nbufü toHk;jyKygonf/ rD;vHk;wpfvHk;onf em&D
aygif; (50ç000)cefY wm½SnfcHygonf/ jrefrmEdkifiH\ yxrqHk;
CLC "mwftm;ay;ud&d,mudk rEÅav;wdkif;? wHwm;OD;NrdKUe,f?
ig;pif½dkif;aus;½Gmü atmifjrifpGm wyfqifNyD;jzpfygonf/ vm
rnfhESpfrsm;wGif CLCs "mwftm;ay;ud&d,mrsm;udk ydkíwyf
qifoGm;&efpDpOfxm;&m ,if;tpDtpOfonf aus;vufaejynf
olrsm;tm; vlaerItqifhtwef; ydkrdkwdk;wufrIESifh pD;yGm;a&;
zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrI &½dSvmaprnf jzpfygonf/

&efukefNrdKUae&ma'o (6)ckrS uav;i,f (100)ausmfudk xdef;
odrf;apmifha½SmufrIESifh rlBudKynma&; axmufyHhulnDay;vsuf½dS
aom 0ifaiGenf;jynfolrsm;twGuf tcaMu;aiGr,lonfh
YCDC aeYuav;xdef;a*[modkY tar&duefa':vm (15ç384)
tm; xyfrHvSL'gef;cJhygonf/
xyfrHítvSLaiG tar&duefa':vm (6ç923) udk aumhrI;NrdKUe,f
pifcsrf;aus;½Gm½dS atmifZrÁLvli,fzGHUNzdK;a&;a*[modkY vSL'gef;cJh
ygonf/ tqdkyga*[monf ausmif;om;vli,f (1ç044)OD;wdkY
tm; ynmoifMum;ay;vsuf½dSNyD; ,if;ausmif;om;vli,frsm;
teuf trsm;pkrSm y#dyu©jzpfyGm;&ma'orsm;rS rdbrJhuav;rsm;
jzpfMuonf/
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The UN Global Compact

udk urÇmwpf0ef; ukrÜPDrsm;\
vlrI0ef;usifqdkif&mwm0ef,lrltm; wdk;jr§ifhEdkif&ef ukvor*¾t
axGaxGtwGif;a&;rI;csKyf Mr. Kofi Anan u 2000 jynfhESpfwGif
pwifaqmif½GufcJhygonf/ þoabmwlnDcsufwGif obm0ywf
0ef;usifxdef;odrf;a&;? tusifhysufjcpm;rI wdkufzsufa&;? tvkyf
orm;ESifh vlUtcGifhta&;wdkY tusKH;0ifaom tajccHrl (10)csuf
wdkY yg0ifygonf/ FMI onf The UN Global Compact
oabm wlnDcsufudkvufcHcJhNyD; a&½SnfwnfwHhaom? yGifhvif;
íwm0ef ,lrI½dSaom pD;yGm;a&;tavhtxrsm; ponfhtcsufrsm;
yg0ifaom ¤if;oabmwlnDcsufrlabmiftm; tajccHvsuf
uRefawmfwdkYukrÜPDu aqmif½Gufvsuf½dSygonf/

Delivery of Aid in Sittwe by FMI Air

,ckESpf Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals onf vdIifom,m½dS
¤if;\ yifraq;½Hkywf0ef;usif½dS aus;½Gmrsm;wGif tcrJhvlrIusef;
rma&;aq;cef;rsm; aqmif½GufcJhygonf/ tqdkygaq;cef;rsm;
onf aoG;aygifcsdefwdkif;wmí jyKpkukojcif;? oGm;bufqdkif&muk
orI? t½dk;yGa&m*g? qD;csKda&m*gESifh rsufpdtwGif;wdrfa&m*grsm;
tygt0if ½Gmol½Gmom;rsm;\ usef;rma&;vkdtyfcsuf trsdK;rsdK;
tm; tav;xm; jyKpkukoay;cJhygonf/ teD;ywf0ef;usif½dS
bkef;awmfBuD;rsm;twGuf u,fvqD,H"mwfcsdKUwJhrI ½dS^r½dS ppf
aq;jcif;udkvnf; jyKvkyfay;cJhygonf/
FMI

FMI Group

onf uRefawmfwdkY\tyifpdkufysKd;xdef;odrf;jcif;
aqmif½Gufvsuf½dSaom armfwifpdkufcif;wGif vlrIa&;vkyfief;
tpDtpOf trsm;tjym;ukd aqmif½GufcJhygonf/ ,if;vlrIa&;
vkyfief; tpDtpOfrsm;teuf ta&;tygqHk;tpDtpOfrSm 0efxrf;
rsm;\ uav;i,frsm; ynmoifMum;Edkif&ef wnfaqmufcJhaom
qif0dkif;pmoifausmif; jzpfygonf/ ,ckESpfwGif tqdkygausmif;
ESifh ausmif;q&m^q&mrrsm;tm; aiGaMu;qufvufaxmufyHh
cJhygonf/ þodkY axmufyHhjcif;rSm tqdkygpdkufcif;wGif aexdkif
aom vli,frsm;taejzifh tem*wfumv ynma&;ESifh tvkyf
tudkiftcGifhtvrf;rsm; &½dSap&efjzpfygonf/

onf wGHaw;½dS rdbrJhuav;a*[mrsm;twGuf a&½Snf
axmufyHhrI wm0ef,lxm;ygonf/ þ rdbrJhuav;a*[mrsm;
onf touf(4)ESpfESifh (18)ESpftMum;½dS a,musFm;av;ESifh
rdef;uav; (1ç000)ausmf wdkYtm; usef;rma&;apmifha½SmufrI?
tpm;taomuf? ae&mxdkifcif;ESifh tajccHynma&;wdkYudk axmuf
yhHay;xm;ygonf/ tpD&ifcHonfh ,ckESpf uRefawmfwdkY\
axmufyhHay;rIrsm;teuf t"du tav;xm;aqmif½GufrIonf
y&[dwausmif;ü rdv’moefY½Sif;a&;pepf wdk;wufaumif;rGef
ap&ef aqmif½GufrIjzpfygonf/ tjcm;aom SPA Group rS
ukrÜPDrsm;ESifhtwl FMI onf tqdkyg rdbrJhuav;a*[m
twGuf tdrfomtopf (10)vHk; wnfaqmufEdkif&ef tar&duef
a':vm (10ç753)tm; vSL'gef;cJhygonf/ tqdkyg vSL'gef;rI
onf rdv’mESifh qufEG,faom emrusef;jzpfyGm;rItm; ESdrfeif;
&mwGif taxmuftuljyKrnf jzpfygonf/
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Investments
Overview
(As at 27 June 2016)

Financial
Services

Real
Estate

Yoma Bank Ltd.

Digital Money Myanmar
Ltd.

51%

44%

Thanlyin Estate
Development Co., Ltd.

FMI Garden
Development Ltd.

30%

47.5%

LSC-FMI Co., Ltd.

Pun Hlaing Links
Services Co., Ltd.

50%

30%

Meeyahta International
Hotel Ltd.
20%

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Pun Hlaing International
Hospital Ltd.

Yoma Siloam Hospital
Pun Hlaing Ltd.

60%

60%

FMI Air Ltd.

Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd.

10%

30%

Chindwin Holdings
Pte Ltd.

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Ltd.

30%

2.5%

Myanmar Parkson
Co., Ltd.
10%

Healthcare

Portfolio
Investments
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Financial
Services
In FY 2015-2016 Yoma Bank focused on
two key pillars of its strategy: corporate
governance and technology.
It established an international standard Board of
Directors which meets on a quarterly basis and
includes both non-executive and independent
directors. The Board established independent audit
and risk committees chaired by a non-executive
director with many years of banking experience in
international markets. At the request of the Audit
Committee, Yoma Bank has begun to implement
a risk-based approach to its internal audit, which
includes monitoring financial, credit, operations, and
regulatory risk.
A risk-based audit focuses on managing and
anticipating risks that could have material
consequences for the bank, and formulating effective
action plans for mitigating these risks. This ensures
that the bank maintains a strong financial position
and protects its capital. Our strong governance
reflects the professionalism of the bank as well
as a commitment to our shareholders, staff and
customers to offer the highest standards of oversight
and transparency.

Yoma Bank believes that Myanmar’s financial
sector will benefit from global trends in technology
and innovation. We have laid the foundations for
future growth through the procurement of a new
core banking system and the development of our
partnership with Telenor to establish Wave Money.
Yoma Bank expects to use digital channels to offer
modern banking services to improve financial
inclusion across Myanmar in an affordable and
convenient manner. The efficiencies of technology
allow the bank to scale its offering to those that have
not traditionally been able to access interest bearing
products or receive credit.
This year Yoma Bank successfully bid for a grant
from the Livelihoods and Food Security Trust Fund
(LIFT), a multi-donor fund that works on improving
the lives of the rural poor in Myanmar. LIFT’s major
donors are aid organizations from the United States,
United Kingdom, France, Australia and many others.
The focus of Yoma Bank’s partnership with LIFT is to
promote lending for agriculture and off-farm small
businesses.
Initially the program will use hire purchase (HP)
to improve the mechanization of farming in the

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Ayeyarwaddy Delta region, Myanmar’s central Dry
Zone, and the highlands of Northern Myanmar.
Next fiscal year Yoma Bank will be receive technical
assistance from Rabobank International, a Dutch
Agricultural Bank, to expand its agricultural lending
in a sustainable manner. Yoma Bank expects to use
digital channels to access rural areas effectively. The
total value of the grant is US $18.7 million.
Yoma Bank also established 10 new branches this
year, selecting high value locations in both urban
and rural areas to continue the bank’s nationwide
coverage. The bank is re-engineering internal
processes to allow staff to focus on creating value
for customers rather than bureaucracy. Increased
branch efficiency will allow us to optimize costs and
ensure that resources are being maximized across
the network – this will be a focus area in FY 20162017 and going forward.
Meanwhile the bank continues to see strong growth
in its core operations. Deposits grew by 55% from
Ks. 689.6 billion to Ks. 1.1 trillion, and credit by
74% from Ks. 415.3 billion to Ks. 722.8 billion.
Yoma Bank’s continued focus on risk management
instills confidence in the quality of its loan portfolio.
Specifically Yoma Banks NPL’s remain under 1% as
measured by IFRS, the accepted international 90
day standard. Approximately 49% of the bank’s
loans are extended to SMEs, with the remaining
51% extended to corporates, which underscores the
bank’s longstanding commitment to providing capital
to small businesses in Myanmar. As mentioned
previously, Yoma Bank’s shareholders injected Ks.
23.3 billion in equity into the bank this year, shoring
up its capital and positioning it for future growth.
On the back of its expanded loan book this year, the
bank’s interest income rose 94.3% to Ks. 84.4 billion.
Total comprehensive income was up 26.2% with staff
costs being the most significant expense item. Yoma
Bank’s investment in a professional management
team is fundamental to the bank’s strategy of
emphasizing the quality of its operations over the
long term.
As announced on 1 June 2016,
your company has acquired a
44.0% equity stake in Digital
Money Myanmar from Yoma
Bank. Digital Money Myanmar is
a joint venture between Yoma Bank and Telenor that
seeks to provide mobile financial services to the mass

market. The venture combines Telenor’s distribution
capabilities with the financial expertise of Yoma
Bank. Through its ‘Wave Money’ brand, Digital Money
Myanmar seeks to be the market leader in sending
and receiving digital payments nationwide.
The service works by allowing anyone to send or
receive money on their phone. If a customer needs
physical cash, they can visit their nearest authorized
Wave Shop, which include teashops, restaurants, and
grocery stores. Existing stores that offer Telenor SIM
cards and top up will be leveraged into Wave Shops,
providing Wave Money with a distinct competitive
advantage in the number and location of shops
available to customers.
Using a mobile payment platform through Digital
Money Myanmar also allows Yoma Bank to expand
its services to the millions of Myanmar customers
who do not yet have bank accounts. As opposed to a
strategy of building physical branches, a technology
platform such as Wave Money offers greater
efficiency and cost savings.
Digital Money Myanmar’s management team has a
proven track record of successful mobile payment
platform implementation in Asia and Africa, and FMI
is confident that they will be able to execute their
business plan in Myanmar and quickly become the
market leader in mobile payments. We look forward
to updating shareholders on the progress of this
business next year.
Yoma Thitsar Commercial Co., Ltd.,
is a 100% owned subsidiary of FMI.
As announced on 3 May 2016, Yoma
Thitsar is being voluntarily wound up
and is expected to be struck off the register once the
winding up process is complete.
Prior to listing on the Yangon Stock Exchange, Yoma
Thitsar was operating FMI Trading Centre, which
allowed shareholders to trade their shares over
the counter. Subsequent to the listing, FMI Trading
Centre is no longer required and Yoma Thitsar has
therefore ceased operations.
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2015-2016 b@ma&;ESpfwGif ½dk;rbPfonf ¤if;\ t"du
r@dKifESpf&yfjzpfonfh ukrÜPDpDrHcefYcGJrIpepfESifh enf;ynmwdkY
tay: tm½HkpdkufcJhygonf/
EdkifiHwumtqifh½dS 'g½dkufwmtzGJUtm; zGJUpnf;cJh&m ,if;tzGJU
tpnf;onf oHk;vwpfBudrf awGUqHkpnf;a0;NyD; trIaqmifr
[kwfaom 'g½dkufwmrsm;ESifh oD;jcm;vGwfvyfonfh 'g½dkufwmrsm;
yg0ifMuygonf/ 'g½dkufwmtzGJUonf EdkifiHwumaps;uGufü
bPfvkyfief;tawGUtBuHK ESpfaygif;rsm;pGm½dSonfh trIaqmif
r[kwfaom 'g½dkufwmwpfOD;rS Ouú|tjzpfaqmif½Gufonfh
vGwfvyfaompm&if;ppfESifh qHk;½HI;Ekdifajctvm;tvm cefYrSef;a&;
aumfrwDrsm;tm; zGJUpnf;cJhygonf/ pm&if;ppfaumfrwD\
awmif;qdkcsuft& ½dk;rbPfonf ¤if;\ bPfvkyfief;pm&if;
ppfjcif;udk xdcdkufqHk;½HI;Edkifajctvm;tvmtm; tajccHaom
csOf;uyfrIenf;vrf;wpf&yfjzifh pwifaqmif½GufcJhygonf/ ,if;
enf;vrf;wGif b@ma&;qdkif&m avhvmapmifhMunfhjcif;? acs;aiG
vkyfief;vnfywfrIrsm;ESifh qHk;½HI;Edkifajc tvm;tvm½dSrItm;
xdef;odrf;jcif; ponfwdkYyg0ifygonf/
qHk;½HI;Edkifajctvm;tvm½dSrIudk tajcjyKaom pm&if;ppfaq;jcif;
onf bPftwGufta&;BuD;aom ½kyfydkif;qdkif&m tusKd;qufrsm;
tjzpf jzpfay:vmEdkifaom qHk;½HI;Edkifajc tvm;tvmrsm;tm;
pDrHcefYcGJjcif;ESifh BudKwifvufOD;rI,ljcif;? ,if;xdcdkufqHk;½HI;rIrsm;
tm; avQmhenf;apa&;twGuf xda&mufaom ta&;,laqmif
½GufrItpDtpOfrsm; azmfxkwfjcif;wdkYtay: tm½Hkpdkufygonf/
þodkY tm½HkpdkufrIonf bPftaejzifh ckdifrmaomb@ma&;
tajctaeESifh bPf\rwnf&if;ESD;aiGtm; umuG,fwm;qD;Edkif
cGifh &½dSapygonf/ uRefawmfwdkY\ aumif;rGefaompDrHcefYcGJrIpepf
onf bPf\ uRrf;usifpGmvkyfief;aqmif½Gufjcif;ESifh uRefawmf
wdkY\ tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;? 0efxrf;rsm;ESifh azmufonfrsm;tm;
tjrifhrm;qHk;BuD;MuyfrI tqifhtwef;rsm;ESifh yGifhvif;jrifomrI
ay;Edkifjcif;wdkYudk xif[yfapygonf/
jrefrmEdkifiH\ b@ma&;0efaqmifrIu@onf enf;ynmESifh
wDxGifzefwD;rIwdkYwGif urÇmwpf0ef;vHk; tvm;tvmrsm;aMumifh
tusKd;jzpfxGef;rI &½dSvmrnf[k ½dk;rbPfu ,HkMunfxm;yg
onf/ t"du bPfvkyfief;pepfopftm; &,ljcif;ESifhuRefawmf

wdkY\ pD;yGm;zufjzpfonfh Telenor ESifh Wave Money pepftm;
pDpOfaqmif½GufrIwdkYjzifh tem*wfumv zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;twGuf
tajccHtkwfjrpfrsm;tm; csxm;cJhNyD; jzpfygonf/ ukefusp&dwf
oufomNyD; tqifajyvG,fulpGmjzifh jrefrmEdkifiHwpf0ef; aiGaMu;
qdkif&mvkyfief;wGif yg0ifrIwdk;wufvmap&eftwGuf acwfrD
bPfvkyfief;0efaqmifrIrsm;ay;Edkifrnfh 'D*spfw,fenf;ynmrsm;
tm;toHk;jyKEdkif&ef ½dk;rbPfuarQmfvifhxm;ygonf/ enf;ynm
pGrf;aqmifrIrsm;onf tpOftvmtm;jzifh bPfrSvkyfaqmif
ay;EdkifcJhjcif;r½dSaom twdk;&onfh0efaqmifrIrsm; (odkYr[kwf)
bPfrS acs;aiGvufcHjcif;wdkYtm; wdk;jr§ifhvkyfaqmifay;vmEdkif
rnf jzpfygonf/
,ckESpfwGif ½dk;rbPfonf jrefrmEdkifiHü aus;vufaeqif;&Jom;
jynfolrsm;\ vlaerIb0jr§ifhwifa&;twGuf aqmif½Gufay;ae
aom tvSL½Sifaygif;pHkrS axmufyHhaiGwpfckjzpfonfh Livelihoods
and Food Security Trust Fund (LIFT) rS axmufyHhaiGwpf&yf
tm; &,lcJhygonf/ LIFT \ t"dutvSL½Sifrsm;rSm tar&duef
jynfaxmifpk? ,lEdkufwufuif;'rf;? jyifopf? MopaMw;vsESifh
tjcm;EdkifiHtrsm;tjym;rS ulnDaxmufyHha&;tzGJUtpnf;rsm; jzpf
Muygonf/ pD;yGm;zufjzpfol LIFT ESifh ½dk;rbPf\ t"dutm½Hk
pdkufrIrSm v,f,mpdkufysKd;a&;ESifh v,f,mpdkufysdK;a&;r[kwfaom
vkyfief;rsm;twGuf acs;aiGxkwfay;jcif;udk wdk;jr§ifhay;Edkif&ef
jzpfonf/
aiGxkwfacs;rItpDtpOftpydkif;onf {&m0wDjrpf0uRef;ay:a'o?
jrefrmEdkifiHtv,fydkif; tylydkif;ajcmufaoGUZkefESifh jrefrmEdkifiH
ajrmufydkif; ukef;jrihfa'orsm;ü v,f,mpdkufysdK;a&;wGif pufud&d
,moHk;pGJrI wdk;jr§ifhap&ef t&pfus0,f,lrIpepfudk toHk;jyKoGm;
rnf jzpfygonf/ vmrnfhb@ma&;ESpfwGif ½dk;rbPfonf
a&½SnfwnfwHhaom taetxm;wpfckjzifh v,f,mpdkufysKd;a&;
twGuf acs;aiGxkwfay;rI wdk;jr§ifhEdkif&ef 'wfcsfv,f,mpdkufysKd;
a&;bPfwpfckjzpfonfh Rabobank International rS enf;
ynmqdkif&mtultnD vufcH&½dSrnf jzpfygonf/ aus;vufa'
orsm;txd ½dk;rbPf\ vkyfief;rsm;tm; xda&mufpGmvkyfudkif
Edkif&eftwGuf 'D*spfw,fenf;pepfrsm;udk toHk;jyKoGm;&ef ½dk;r
bPfu arQmfvifhxm;ygonf/ tqdkyg axmufyHhaiGpkpkaygif;
wefzdk;rSm tar&duefa':vm (18.7)oef; ½dSygonf/
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½dk;rbPfonf ,ckESpfwGif bPfcGJopf (10)ckudkvnf; zGifhvSpfEdkif
cJhNyD; bPfzGifhvSpfrIudk wpfEdkifiHvHk; qufvufvTrf;NcHKoGm;Edkif
&ef NrdKUjyESifhaus;vufa'oESpfckpvHk;½dS wefzdk;jrihfae&mrsm;tm;
a½G;cs,fvsuf½dSygonf/ AsL&dkua&pDpepfxuf azmufonfrsm;t
wGuf wefzdk;xm;rItm; zefwD;ay;Edkifjcif;udk 0efxrf;rsm; tm½Hk
pdkufrI&½dSap&ef bPfwGif;enf;pepfrsm;tm; jyefvnfpDpOfaqmif
½Gufvsuf ½dSygonf/ bPfcGJrsm;\pGrf;aqmifrI wdk;wufvmjcif;
onf uRefawmfwdkYtwGuf ukefusp&dwfrsm;tm; taumif;qHk;
toHk;jyKcGifh&½dSapNyD; bPfuGef&ufwpfckvHk;twGuf t&if;tjrpf
rsm;tm; taumif;qHk;toHk;cscGifh &½dSapcJhygonf/ þodkY aqmif
½GufrIonf 2016-2017 b@ma&;ESpfwGif tm½Hkpdkufonfh
e,fy,fwpfck jzpfvmrnfjzpfNyD; a½SUwGifqufvufaqmif½Guf
oGm;rnf jzpfygonf/
wpfcsdefwnf;rSmyif ½dk;rbPfonf ¤if;\ t"du0efaqmifrI
vkyfief;rsm;wGif aumif;rGefaom wdk;wufrIudk qufvufjrif
awGU ae&ygonf/ bPfwGifaiGtyfESHjcif;rSm usyf (689.6)
bDvD,HrS usyf (1.1)x&DvD,Hxd 55% wdk;wufcJhNyD; bPfrS
xkwfacs;aiGrSm usyf (415.3)bDvD,HrS usyf (722.8)bDDvD,H
xd tvm;wlEIef;xm;jzpfonfh 74% wdk;wufcJhygonf/ qHk;½HI;
EdkifzG,f½dSrItvm;tvm pDrHcefYcGJjcif;tay: ½dk;rbPfrS quf
vuftm½HkpdkufrIonf acs;aiGxkwfacs;onfh pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;
rsdK;pHk\ tqifhtwef;udk ,HkMunfrIxm;jcif;jzpfonf/ txl;
udpöwpf&yftaejzifh IFRS \wdkif;wmcsuft& ½dk;rbPfrsm;\
jyefrqyfaom acs;aiGyrmPonf 1% atmufwGifom quf

vufwnf½dSaeNyD; EdkifiHwumrS vufcHxm;aom&ufaygif; (90)
pHowfrSwfcsuftwdkif; jzpfygonf/ bPfxkwfacs;aiGrsm;\
49% cefYudk tao;pm;ESifhtvwfpm; pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;rsm;odkY
wdk;jr§ifh xkwfacs;cJhjcif;jzpfNyD; usef½dSaom 51% udk ukrÜPDrsm;odkY
wdk;jr§ifhxkwfacs;cJhjcif; jzpfygonf/ ,if;odkY xkwfacs;jcif;onf
jrefrmEdkifiH½dS tao;pm;tvwfpm; pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;rsm;udk &if;
ESD;rwnfaiG xkwfay;Edkif&eftwGuf tcsdefMumjrifhpGmuyif bPf
\qHk;jzwfxm;jcif;udk tav;teufazmfjyjcif; jzpfygonf/ a½SU
wGifwifjycJhonfhtwdkif; bPf\rwnf&if;ESD;aiGtm; axmuf
uefay;Edkif&efESifh tem*wfwGif wdk;wufrI½dSaeap&ef ½dk;rbPf
\ tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;onf ,ckESpf tpk½S,f,mwefzdk;usyf
(23.3)bDvD,Hudk ½dk;rbPfodkY xnfh0ifcJhygonf/
,ckESpfbPf\acs;aiG wdk;jr§ifhxkwfacs;cJhrI rSwfwrf;t& bPf
twdk;&½dSaiGrSm 94.3% odkY wdk;jrifhcJhNyD; usyf (84.4)bDvD,HodkY
a&muf½dScJhygonf/ ta&;ygqHk; ukefusp&dwfjzpfonfh 0efxrf;
rsm;twGuf oHk;pGJukefuscJhonfhMum;rS pkpkaygif; tvHk;pHk0ifaiG
onf 26.2% wdk;wufcJhygonf/ uRrf;usifrI½dSaom pDrHcefYcGJa&;
tzGJUwpfckrS vkyfaqmifonfh ½dk;rbPf\ &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIonf
a&½Snfudk ausmfvGefarQmfrSef;um bPfvkyfief;rsm;\ t&nf
taoG;tm; tav;xm;onfh r[mAsL[mtwGuf tajccHvdktyf
csuf jzpfygonf/

2016 ckESpf? ZGefv (1)&ufaeYwGif aMunmcJhonfhtwdkif;
vlBuD;rif;wdkYukrÜPDonf Digital Money Myanmar ½dS
tpk½S,f,mxnfh0ifrI 44% udk ½dk;rbPfrS &,lcJhygonf/
Digital Money Myanmar onf rdkbdkif;zkef;jzifh b@ma&;
0efaqmifrIvkyfief;tm; aps;uGufBuD;rm;pGm vkyfaqmifEdkif&ef
BudK;yrf;vsuf½dSaom ½dk;rbPfESifh w,fvDaemwdkYtMum; tusdK;
wl zufpyfukrÜPDwpfckjzpfygonf/ þ zufpyfvkyfief;onf
w,fvDaem\ jzefYjzL;a&mif;csa&; pGrf;aqmif&nfrsm;ESifh ½dk;r
bPf\ b@ma&;pGrf;aqmif&nfrsm; aygif;pyfxm;jcif; jzpfyg
onf/ ¤if;\ Wave Money trSwfwHqdyfjzifh Digital Money
Myanmar onf EdkifiHwpf0ef; 'D*spfw,fenf;pepfjzifh aiGay;
ydkYjcif;ESifhvufcHjcif;vkyfief;wGif aps;uGufOD;aqmifol jzpfvm
ap&ef BudK;yrf;vsuf½dSygonf/
þ0efaqmifrIvkyfief;onf rdrdwdkY\zkef;jzifh aiGay;ydkYjcif;
(odkYr[kwf) vufcHjcif;tm; aqmif½Gufay;ygonf/ tu,fí
azmufonfwpfOD;onf aiGom;vdktyfvmvQif rdrdwdkYESifhteD;qHk;
vkyfief;vkyfydkifcGifh&½dSxm;aom Wave Money qdkifodkY oGm;
a&mufEdkifygonf/ ,if; Wave Money qdkifrsm;wGif vufzuf
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&nfqdkifrsm;? pm;aomufqdkifrsm;? &yfuGufukefpHkqdkifrsm; yg0if
ygonf/ vuf½dS w,fvDaemqif;uwfrsm;ESifh aiGjznfhuwfrsm;
a&mif;csay;vsuf½dSaom qdkifrsm;tm; Wave Money qdkifrsm;
tjzpfodkY wdk;jr§ifhay;oGm;rnfjzpfNyD; Wave Money qdkifudk
trSwfpOfwyfí trsm;ESifh,SOfNydKif&mwGif uGJjym;jcm;em;aom
ta&;omrIESifh qdkifrsm;½dS&mae&modkY azmufonfrsm; tvG,f
wula&muf½dSEdkifaom 0efaqmifrItm;ay;oGm;rnf jzpfygonf/
Digital Money Myanmar jzifh rdkbdkif;zkef; aiGvTJajymif;ay;acsrI

pepftoHk;jyKjcif;onf bPfaiGpm&if;zGifhvSpf&jcif; r½dSao;aom
jrefrmEdkifiH½dS azmufonfoef;aygif;rsm;pGmtwGuf ½dk;rbPf
taejzifh ¤if;\0efaqmifrIvkyfief;rsm;tm; wdk;csJUaqmif½GufcGifh
&½dSaprnfjzpfygonf/ ½kyfydkif;qdkif&m bPfcGJtaqmufttHkrsm;
aqmufvkyfjcif; r[mAsL[mESifhuGJjym;vsuf Wave Money
uJhodkY enf;ynmpepfonf ydkrdkaumif;rGefaompGrf;aqmifrIESifh
ukefus p&dwf oufomrIwdkYudk ay;vsuf½dSygonf/
Digital Money Myanmar

\ pDrHcefYcGJa&;tzGJUonf tm½SESifh
tmz&dua'orsm;wGif rdkbdkif;zkef;jzifh aiGvTJajymif;ay;acsrI
enf;pepfaqmif½Gufjcif;vkyfief;tm; vufawGUatmifjrifrI&½dS
xm;NyD;jzpfygonf/ ¤if;wdkYtaejzifh jrefrmEdkifiHü ¤ifwdkYvkyfief;
udk aqmif½GufEdkifvdrfhrnfjzpfNyD; rdkbdkif;zkef;jzifh aiGay;acsrI
vkyfief;wGif aps;uGufOD;aqmifol vQifjrefpGm jzpfvmrnf[k
FMI u ,HkMunfxm;ygonf/ vmrnfhESpfwGif þvkyfief;
wdk;wufrIESifhywfoufí aemufqHk;tajctaeudk tpk½S,f,m
½Sifrsm;tm; wifjyoGm;Edkif&ef arQmfvifhxm;ygonf/

Yoma Thitsar Commercial Co., Ltd.

onf FMI rS
&mEIef;jynfhydkifqkdifaom ukrÜPDcGJwpfckjzpfygonf/ 2016 ckESpf?
arv (3)&ufaeYwGif aMunmcJhonfhtwdkif; Yoma Thitsar
tm; ukrÜPD\qE´tavsmuf ydwfodrf;vsuf½dSNyD; ,if;ydwfodrf;
jcif;vkyfief; NyD;qHk;oGm;csdefwGif rSwfyHkwifxm;jcif;rS y,fzsuf
oGm;rnfjzpfygonf/
&efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;wGif pm&if;0ifjcif;rwdkifrD Yoma
Thitsar onf FMI Trading Centre vkyfief;rsm;udkaqmif½Guf
cJhygonf/ ,if; FMI Trading Centre onf tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;
taejzifh ¤if;wdkY\½S,f,mrsm;tm; Over-the-Counter jzifh
a&mif;0,fapEdkifcJhygonf/ &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;pm&if;0ifNyD;
aemufydkif;wGif FMI Trading Centre tm; rvdktyfawmhojzifh
Yoma Thitsar onf vkyfief;rsm;tm; &yfpJcJhygonf/
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Real
Estate
Thanlyin Estate Development
FMI owns 30% of Thanlyin
Estate Development, which
is developing the Star City project on 135 acres
of land in Thanlyin Township, just six miles from
downtown Yangon and eight miles from the Thilawa
SEZ project. When the development is complete, it will
contain approximately 9,000 high quality residential
units and 1.7 million sq. ft. of commercial and retail
facilities, a riverside promenade, comprehensive
sporting facilities, and Dulwich College Yangon, a
state-of-the-art international school offering a British
independent school education.
Star City is being developed in phases, with 828
units having been sold in Zone A and all revenue
recognized. Zone B consists of 1,043 units, out of
which 1,016 units, or over 97%, had been sold as of
31 March 2016.
The recently launched Zone C, known as Galaxy
Towers, will take the Star City development to the
next level, with its six residential towers containing
954 luxury apartments. As at 31 March 2016, about
10% of the 334 initial launch units had been sold to
end buyers.

While Yangon’s real estate market has experienced a
general slowdown this year, Star City proved buoyant,
turning in a solid profit for the year. FMI’s portion of
Star City’s profit was 3.7 billion, representing over
a third of FY 2015-2016 Group net profit. This year
recurring revenues from the rental of units in Building
A5 also helped to sustain profitability. We expect this
strategy of balancing rental and sales revenue to
continue in the future.
In addition to the residential areas of Star City,
construction on the Dulwich College international
school is progressing smoothly. Admissions for the
school opened in June 2016 and the school’s first
academic year will commence in August 2017. The
campus will offer an enhanced version of the English
National Curriculum and will cater to a wide variety
of students. The school’s modern facilities include
science laboratories, art and design studios, a library,
gym, swimming pool and sports fields. The campus
will set the bar for academic facilities in Yangon and
help to attract more families to Star City.

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

The Pun Hlaing Links golf course
adjacent to Star City is now open
and is attracting a steady stream
of local and international golfers.
Apart from golf enthusiasts, the course also provides
Star City residents with the convenience of golfing
at their doorstep. A new covered driving range was
opened this year, providing golfers with a convenient
place to practice. We look forward to the course
gaining further traction with the local golf community
next year. FMI owns 30% of Pun Hlaing Links.
FMI owns 20% of Meeyahta
International
Hotel
Limited,
which owns the leasehold rights
to approximately 10 acres of prime real estate in
downtown Yangon. The site will be redeveloped
into the Landmark Development, which includes
the restoration of the former headquarters of the
Myanmar Railway Company to the Peninsula Hotel
Yangon. The development will also contain a luxury
condominium building, a business hotel, executive
serviced apartments, grade-A office towers and
a retail podium. The project will be developed in
conjunction with The Hongkong and Shanghai
Hotels, Mitsubishi Corporation, Mitsubishi Estate, IFC
and ADB.
In December 2015 Meeyahta International Hotel
Limited entered into a framework agreement with
the Ministry of Rail Transportation to extend the site’s

While Yangon’s real
estate market has
experienced a general
slowdown this year, Star
City proved buoyant,
turning in a solid profit
for the year.

leases, a crucial step in obtaining final approval for
the Landmark Development. We are currently in the
process of obtaining permits from the authorities,
and we remain steadfast in our commitment to
seeing this project through to completion.
FMI Garden Development is the
master developer of the FMI City
project in Hlaing Thayar. The project
began in 1995 and is now substantially
complete, with the only remaining unsold houses
being those in the Fontana Project, which is the final
phase of FMI City.
Given the generally cool real estate market this year,
sales of the remaining Fontana houses were slow,
but we expect things to pick up next year. FMI City
was the first gated community in Myanmar and still
offers a unique, master planned environment for
homeowners. We believe these qualities will continue
to spur demand for FMI City properties in the near
future.
Once the remaining houses are sold, FMI Garden will
continue to manage FMI City to ensure the community
is kept to high standards. In addition to estate
management, FMI Garden also owns approximately
11 acres of land adjacent to the Hlaing River which
is earmarked for future development. Subject to the
finalization of permits, this land will be developed
into a master planned residential complex.
LSC-FMI is the joint venture
company developing KrisPLAZA,
the first high-end apartment
complex in Nay Pyi Taw located in
Zabu Thiri Township.
The project is being built on 1.25 acres in a prime
location near government and ministerial offices,
hospitals, the Jade Museum, golf courses, the hotel
zone and Tha Pyay Gone Market. The development
will include a car park, swimming pool, retail plaza
and Yoma Bank’s regional headquarters.
Despite the challenging market environment in FY
2015-2016, we remain optimistic and anticipate
that KrisPLAZA will benefit considerably from Nay
Pyi Taw’s continuing national importance and the
forthcoming relocation of embassies and NGOs to
the capital.
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onf oefvsifMu,fpiftdrf&m azmfxkwfwnfaqmufa&;
ukrÜPD\ tpk½S,f,m 30% udk ydkifqdkifxm;ygonf/ ,if;
ukrÜPDonf &efukefNrdKUwGif;rS (6)rdkifcefYESifh oDv0gtxl;
pD;yGm;a&;pDrHudef;rS (8)rdkiftuGm½dS oefvsifNrdKUe,fü ajr(135)
{uay:wGif Mu,fpifNrdKUawmf (Star City) wnfaqmufa&;udk
aqmif½Gufvsuf½dSygonf/ tqdkygwnfaqmufa&; pDrHudef;NyD;
pD;csdefwGif Star City ü t&nftaoG;jrifh vlaewdkufcef;
(9ç000)cefYESifh pwk&ef;ay (1.7)oef;½dS pD;yGm;a&;ESifhvufvD
ta&mif;qdkifcef;rsm;? jrpfurf;em;pBuøwpfck? tm;upm;enf;
rsdK;pHkyg0ifaom avhusifha&;taqmuftODrsm;? NAdwdefyk*¾vdu
ausmif;ynma&;pepfjzifh oifMum;aom acwftrDqHk; tjynf
jynfqdkif&mausmif; Dulwich College Yangon wdkY yg0ifyg
onf/
Star City

udk tqifhvdkuf wnfaqmufvsuf½dS&m Zkef(u)½dS
vlaewdkufcef; (828)cef;udk a&mif;cscJh&m 0ifaiGtm;vHk;&½dScJhNyD;
jzpfygonf/ Zkef(c)wGif vlaewdkufcef; (1ç043)cef; yg0if&m
2016 ckESpf? rwfv(31)&ufaeYtxd ,if;tcef;rsm;teuf
(1ç016)cef;? &mcdkifEIef;tm;jzifh 97% tm; a&mif;cscJhNyD;jzpfyg
onf/

avmavmq,fü Galaxy Towers [k vlodrsm;aom Zkef(*)
udk pwifwnfaqmufvsuf½dSNyD; ZdrfcHvlaewdkufcef; (954)
cef;yg0ifaom vlaewm0g (6)ckjzifh Star City wnfaqmufrI
aemuftqifhudk aqmif½GufoGm;ygrnf/ 2016 ckESpf? rwfv(31)
&ufaeYtxd ueOD;a&mif;cscJhaom wdkufcef; (334)cef;teuf
rS 10% cefYudk 0,f,lolrsm;xH a&mif;cscJhNyD;jzpfygonf/
&efukeftdrfNcHajraps;uGufrSm ,ckESpfwGif a,bk,stm;jzifh aps;
uGufat;aepOfrSmyif Star City onf ,ckESpftwGuf aumif;
rGefaom tjrwf&½dSjcif;jzifh ta&mif;t0,fwuf&dyf½dSrIudk jyocJh
ygonf/ Star City \ tjrwftpGef;rS FMI \ a0pktjzpf usyf
(3.7)bDvD,H &½dScJh&m 2015-2016 b@ma&;ESpf ukrÜPDtkyfpk
tom;wiftjrwf\ oHk;yHkwpfyHkausmftm; udk,fpm;jyKygonf/
,ckESpf taqmuftOD at(5) ½dS wdkufcef;rsm; iSm;&rf;jcif;aMumifh
0ifaiGrsm;xyfrH&½dScJhrIonf tjrwftpGef;&½dSrItm; qufvuf

xdef;odrf;Edkif&ef taxmuftulay;cJhygonf/ tem*wfumv
wGif iSm;&rf;jcif;ESifh a&mif;csjcif;tm;xdef;ñdSaom þr[mAsL
[maMumifh 0ifaiGqufvuf&½dSrnf[k uRefawmfwdkY arQmfvifhxm;
ygonf/
Star City vlaetdrf&m{&d,mtjyif Dulwich College tjynf

jynfqdkif&mausmif; wnfaqmufrIonf acsmarGUpGmwdk;wufvsuf
½dSygonf/ 2016 ckESpf? ZGefvwGif ausmif;0ifcGifhtm; zGifhvSpfcJh
NyD; tqdkygausmif;\ yxrqHk;ynmoifESpfudk 2017 ckESpf? Mo
*kwfvwGif pwifoGm;rnfjzpfygonf/ þausmif;onf acwfrD
pGmajymif;vJxm;aom t*FvdyftrsdK;om;ynma&; oif½dk;ñTef;
wrf;udk oifMum;ay;oGm;rnfjzpfNyD; ausmif;om;rsdK;pHktwGuf
jznfhqnf;aqmif½Gufay;oGm;rnf jzpfygonf/ þausmif;\
acwfrDtaqmuftOD taxmuftul ypönf;ud&d,mrsm;wGif odyÜH
"mwfcGJcef;rsm;? yef;csDESifh'DZdkif;pwl'D,dkrsm; yg0ifygonf/ þ
ausmif;onf &efukefNrdKUü acwfrDtqifhtwef;jrifhrm;aom ynm
oifMum;a&; taqmufttHkrsm; ay:aygufvmaprnfjzpfNyD;
Star City wGif rdom;pkrsm;tm; ydkrdkaexdkifvmap&ef qGJaqmif
ulnDay;vdrfhrnf jzpfygonf/

Star City

ESifh uyfvsuf½dSaom Pun Hlaing Links a*guf
uGif;onf ,cktcgzGifhvSpfxm;NyD; jynfwGif;ESifh EdkifiHwumrS
a*gufoD;upm;orm;rsm; wnfNidrfpGm yHkrSef0ifxGufoGm;vmjcif;
udk qGJaqmifvsuf½dSygonf/ a*guf½dkufjcif;udk pdwf0ifpm;
olrsm;tjyif a*gufuGif;onf Star City wGif aexdkifolrsm;tm;
¤if;wdkY\ aetdrfwHcg;0teD;ü tqifajypGm a*guf½dkufEdkifjcif;udkd
vnf; 0efaqmifrIay;vsuf½dSygonf/ um;jzifharmif;ESifoGm;vm
í upm;Edkifaom a*gufuGif;opfudk ,ckESpfzGifhvSpfcJh&m a*guf
oD; upm;orm;rsm;twGuf avhusifh&eftqifajyaom ae&m
wpfcktjzpf pDpOfay;xm;ygonf/ vmrnfhESpfwGif þa*gufuGif;
onf jynfwGif;a*gufoD;½dkuform;rsm;tm; ydkrdkvma&muf&ef
qGJaqmifEdkifrnf[k uRefawmfwdkY arQmfrSef;xm;ygonf/ FMI
onf Pun Hlaing Links \ &if;EDS;jr§KyfESHrI 30% tm; ydkifqdkif
xm;ygonf/
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The Landmark Development

FMI

onf Meeyahta International Hotel Limited \
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI 20% udk ydkifqdkifxm;ygonf/ ,if;vDrdwuf
onf &efukefNrdKUv,f½dS txifu&tdrf&majr (10){ucefYudk
iSm;&rf;ydkifqdkifcGifh &½dSxm;oljzpfygonf/ tqdkygae&mudk
Landmark Development tjzpf ajymif;vJwnfaqmufoGm;
rnfjzpfNyD; Landmark Development wGif jrefrmhrD;&xm;½Hk;
csKyftaqmuftODtm; Peninsula Hotel Yangon tjzpf
jyifqif rGrf;rHwnfaqmufrI yg0ifygonf/ tqdkyg Landmark
Development wnfaqmufjcif;wGif ZdrfcHuGef'dkrDeD,H t
aqmufttHkwpfvHk;? pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;oHk; [dkw,fwpfvHk;?
0efaqmifrIyg½dSaom vlaewdkufcef;rsm;? Grade-A tqifh½dS
½Hk;cef;rsm;yg½dSaom wm0grsm;ESifh vufvDta&mif;qdkifcef;rsm;
yg0ifrnf jzpfygonf/ þaqmufvkyfa&; pDrHudef;tm;

aom tqifhwpfckjzpfonfh pDrHudef;ajrae&m iSm;&rf;jcif;ouf
wrf;wdk;Edkif&ef &xm;ydkYaqmifa&;0efBuD;XmeESifh rlabmifoabm
wlnDcsufpmcsKyf a&;xdk;cJhygonf/ vuf½dSwGif uRefawmfwdkYonf
oufqdkif&mtmPmydkif tzGJUtpnf;rsm;xHrS cGifhjyKcsufrsm;&½dSa&;
tm; aqmif½Gufvsuf½dSNyD; cGifhjyKcsufrsm;&½dSNyD;csdefwGif þpDrH
udef;tm; jrifawGUEdkifa&;rSm uRefawmfwdkY\ rajymif;vJaom
qHk;jzwfcsuftjzpf qufvuf½dSaeygonf/

FMI Garden Development

onf vdIifom,m½dS FMI City
pDrHudef;tm; t"duwnfaqmufol jzpfygonf/ 1995 ckESpf
wGif þpDrHudef;tm;pwifcJhNyD; ,cktcg FMI City \ aemuf
qHk; tqifhjzpfonfh Fontana Project ½dS ra&mif;cs&ao;aom
aetdrfrsm;omusef½dSaeNyD; trsm;tm;jzifhNyD;pD;aeNyD jzpfygonf/

The Hongkong and Shanghai Hotels, Mitsubishi
Corporation, Mitsubishi Estate, IFC ESifh ADB wdkY

yl;aygif;

vsuf wnfaqmufoGm;rnf jzpfonf/
2015 ckESpf? 'DZifbmvwGif Meeyahta International
Hotel Limited onf Landmark Development pDrHudef;
twGuf aemufqHk;twnfjyKcsuf&½dSa&;wGif vGefpGmta&;BuD;

,ckESpftdrfNcHajraps;uGuf at;pufcJhjcif;aMumifh usef½dSaom
Fontana aetdrfrsm;tm; a&mif;csjcif;rSm aES;auG;cJhaomfvnf;
vmrnhfESpfwGif a,bk,stm;jzihf wdk;wufvm&ef arQmfvifhxm;
ygonf/ FMI City onf jrefrmEdkifiHwGif yxrqHk;0ifxGuf
*dwfyg½dSaom tdrf&mjzpfNyD; tdrfydkif½Sifrsm;twGuf wpfckwnf;
aom taumif;qHk;pDpOfay;xm;onfh ywf0ef;usifwpf&yftm;
tdrfydkif½Sifrsm;twGuf 0efaqmifrIay;aeqJ jzpfygonf/ þuJh
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Star City
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odkYaom t&nftcsif;rsm;u vmrnfhtem*wfwGif FMI City
tdrf&mrsm;tm; 0,fvkdtm;udk qufvufvHIUaqmfvdrfhrnf[k
arQmfvifhygonf/
usef½Sdaeao;aom tddrfrsm;tm; qufvufa&mif;csNyD;csdefwGif
FMI Garden Development onf tdr&
f mwGif aexdik o
f rl sm;tm;
tqifhtwef;jrifhpGm aexdkifEdkif&ef FMI City tm; qufvuf
pDrHcefYcGJoGm;rnf jzpfygonf/ tdrf&mpDrHcefYcGJrItjyif FMI
Garden Development onf tem*wf wnfaqmufa&;
twGuf oD;oefYowfrSwfxm;aom vdIifjrpfurf;ESifhuyfvsuf
½dSonfh ajr (11){ucefYudkvnf; ydkifqdkifxm;ygonf/ aemufqHk;
cGifhjyKcsufrsm;ESifhtnD tqdkygajrudk taumif;qHk;pDpOfa&;qGJ
xm;aom vlaetdrf&m0ef;wpfcktjzpf wnfaqmufoGm;rnf
jzpfygonf/
LSC-FMI
LSC-FMI onf

aejynfawmf? ZrÁLoD&dNrdKUe,fü yxrqHk;txyf
jrifh vlaewdkufcef;tdrf&mjzpfaom KrisPLAZA tm; wnf
aqmufvsuf½dSonfh tusKd;wlzufpyfukrÜPD jzpfygonf/
tpdk;&½Hk;rsm;ESifh 0efBuD;Xme½Hk;rsm;? aq;½Hkrsm;? ausmufpdrf;jycef;?
a*gufuGif;? [dkw,fZkef? oajyukef;aps;wdkYteD;½dS txifu&
ae&mwGif½dSaom ajr (1.25){uay:wGif tqdkygpDrHudef;udk
wnfaqmufvsuf ½dSygonf/ þwnfaqmufa&;pDrHudef;wGif
um;&yfem;&efae&m? a&ul;uef? vufvDaps;qkdifcef;rsm;ESifh
½dk;rbPf a'oqdkif&m½Hk;csKyfwdkY yg0ifrnfjzpfygonf/

2015-2016 b@ma&;ESpfwGif aps;uGuftajctaetm; pdefac:
rI½dSaeaomfjim;vnf; KrisPLAZA onf aejynfawmf\ EdkifiH
awmftwGuf qufvufta&;ygaerIESifh ra0;awmhaom umv
wGif þNrdKUawmfodkY oH½Hk;rsm;? tpkd;&r[kwfaomtzGJUtpnf;rsm;
a½GUajymif;tajcpdkufvmrnfh ae&mopfjzpfaomaMumifh tusKd;
aus;Zl;rsm;pGmjzpfvmrnf[k uRefawmfwdkYtaejzifh taumif;
bufrS qufvufarQmfvifhxm;ygonf/

Pun Hlaing Links Golf Course
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Healthcare
This year saw PHSH make
steady
progress
towards
its goal of becoming the
premier healthcare provider
in Myanmar. The hospital’s upgrade to 174 beds
last year has resulted in greater efficiencies across
its entire facility, while revenue has also increased
considerably. Gross profit rose 64% this year on the
back of strong growth in Outpatient, Inpatient and
Emergency patient volumes and the corresponding
increase in revenue from room occupancy, pharmacy,
laboratory and radiology services.
Higher room occupancies were mostly attributable
to PHSH’s clinical model of retaining full time inhouse specialists to provide 24/7 care with a patientcentered focus. This clinical model, coupled with
its new five-tiered pricing model, has allowed the
hospital to expand its reach and serve a greater
number of patients. Inpatient facilities now range
from 6 Grand Suite rooms with private bathroom and
dining room, to 36 beds in the economically priced
Silver ward.
The hospital has also continued to offer marketleading services in Neurosurgery, Orthopedics,
General Surgery, Plastics, Obstetrics and Emergency
Services. These services have been enhanced by the
hospital’s full-time nursing staff that has improved

its ability to provide holistic patient care. PHSH’s
comprehensive medical checkup center has also
been revamped and offers tailored health screening
packages for a wide range of patients.
PHSH’s 24/7 Emergency Services department stands
alone in Myanmar in its commitment to using
modern systems, equipment, and ambulances with
highly trained clinical staff. This department has
adopted international best practices for emergency
care, focusing on achieving ‘golden time standards’
for diagnosis, treatment and interventions. This
ensures that patients receive appropriate care within
a specified period as benchmarked to international
standards. Emergency services staff have completed
formal emergency medicine training and key Medical
Officers in the department are accredited by the
American Heart Association.
The hospital has also instituted a formal clinical
governance framework that aims to continuously
improve the quality of patient care. The framework
consists of guidelines for ensuring that the appropriate
systems and processes are in place to monitor
clinical practice and ensure patient safety standards.
The framework’s five key tenants revolve around
ensuring that the hospital is patient-centered, has a
focus on providing timely and accurate information,
is constantly improving its service quality, works
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to develop its staff, and implements management
accountability through appropriate delegation and
risk management.
As part of its focus on human capital, PHSH has
implemented a unique full-time model for its doctors.
This model breaks with the norm in Myanmar where
doctors typically rotate from hospital to hospital
throughout the day, leaving very little time for
patient contact and institutional accountability. With
full-time highly qualified doctors on staff, PHSH can
offer 24/7 specialist care across all major service
disciplines. During this fiscal year, the hospital has
been able to recruit and retain high caliber doctors
with a variety of international experience. This not
only increases the level of patient care but also
results in an exchange of international practices and
information that significantly improved the hospital’s
collective performance.
As previously reported to shareholders, PHSH plans
to establish a nationwide network of hospitals in
the coming years. As opposed to a single facility, a
hospital network provides greater efficiencies – for
example a single laboratory can be used across
the network, driving down costs for each hospital.
Networks also provide an ecosystem of referrals, so
that patients can be channeled from local clinics into
specialist centers at larger hospitals.
Our first Mandalay facility, PHSH Mandalay 73, is
also currently under development. Mandalay 73 will
be developed in two phases, with 27 beds initially
available and an additional 92 beds coming on line
during the second phase. This hospital will offer a
comprehensive suite of services including 1.5 Tesla
MRI, 128 Slice CT Scanner, 4D Ultrasound machine,
filmless Tele-radiology system as well as 2 operating
theaters and 24/7 emergency services.
As mentioned earlier in this report, we are also proud
to announce that PHSH opened its first primary
care facility in Shan State this year, with a clinic in
Nyaung Shwe near Inle Lake. The Nyaung Shwe clinic
provides outpatient services for tourists visiting the
Inle region. An additional Yangon facility on Bogyoke
Aung San Road is currently under development. We
plan to offer a 24/7 Acute Care Centre along with
outpatient care, laboratory and imaging services, day
care and small scale operations at this facility.

Physical Therapy at PHSH

The hospital continues to see robust demand
nationwide for healthcare services, as Myanmar still
has an acute shortage of hospital beds, given the
size of its population. As life expectancy, purchasing
power, and urbanization increase, the hospital
expects to see increased healthcare spending in
Myanmar. With the strong and continuing support of
FMI and the Lippo Group, PHSH is well positioned for
continued success next year.
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,ckESpf yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½Hk (PHSH) onf jrefrmEdkifiHwGif
xdyfwef;usef;rma&; 0efaqmifrIay;oljzpfvmapa&; ¤if;\
&nfrSef;csuftm; rSefrSefwdk;wufap&ef aqmif½GufEdkifcJhygonf/
vGefcJhonfhESpfwGif þaq;½Hktm; ckwif (174)vHk;xd tqifhjr§ifh
aqmif½GufcJhrIonf ¤if;\usef;rma&;0efaqmifrItm;vHk;udk ydkrdk
pGrf;aqmif&nf½dSpGm aqmif½GufEdkifcJhygonf/ wcsdefwnf;rSmyif
0ifaiGrSmvnf; rsm;pGmwdk;wufcJhygonf/ jyifyvlem? twGif;
vlemESifh ta&;ay:vlemOD;a& wdk;wufrsm;jym;jcif;ESifh tcef;
iSm;&rf;jcif;? aq;0g;a&mif;csjcif;? "mwfcGJcef;ESifh "mwfrSefcef;
0efaqmifrIvkyfief;rsm;rS 0ifaiGwdk;wufvmjcif;wdkYaMumifh ,ck
ESpf tom;wiftjrwfaiGonf 64% wdk;jrifhvmcJhygonf/
tcef;iSm;&rf;rIrsm; ydkrdkrsm;jym;vmjcif;onf vlemtm; tav;
xm;tm½Hkpdkufí (24)em&D jyKpkukorIay;Edkif&ef tcsdefjynfhvpm
ay;xm;aom txl;ukq&m0efrsm;xm;½dSonfh PHSH \ aq;
ukorIyHkpHaMumifh[k trsm;qHk;,lqMuygonf/ aps;EIef;tqifh
yHkpH(5)rsdK; owfrSwfxm;aom aq;½HkopfESifhyl;wGJvsuf þaq;
ukorIykHpHopfonf aq;½Hktaejzifh ydkrdkwdk;csJUEdkif&efESifh vlemOD;
a&ydkrdkrsm;pGm 0efaqmifrIay;apEdkifygonf/ ,cktcg twGif;
vlemukoaqmifrsm;rSm udk,fydkifa&csKd;cef;ESifh xrif;pm;cef;yg
½dSaom Grand Suite tqifh½dS tcef; (6)cef;rS aps;EIef;oufom
onfh Silver tqifh½dS ckwif (36)vHk;xd 0efaqmifrIay;vsuf
½dSygonf/
þaq;½Hkonf OD;aESmufESihftm½HkaMumcGJpdwfukorI? t½dk;a&m*g
ukorIrsm;? taxGaxGcGJpdwfukorI? rsufESmoGifjyif cGJpdwfuko
jcif;rsm;? om;zGm;jcif;rsm;ESihf ta&;ay:ukorI vkyfief;rsm;wGif
aps;uGufOD;aqmifaom 0efaqmifrIay;jcif;wdkYudkvnf; quf
vuf vkyfaqmifEdkifcJhygonf/ aq;½Hk\ tcsdefjynfh jyKpkapmifh
a½Smufay;aom 0efxrf;rsm;jzifh þodkY 0efaqmifrIrsm;tm;
wdk;jr§ifhay;cJhjcif;aMumihf vlem\a&m*gvu©PmrsdK;pHkudk NcHKiHkoHk;
oyfí tvHk;pHkjyKpkukoay;Edkifonfxd wdk;wufcJhygonf/
PHSH \ a&m*gvu©PmrsdK;pHk usef;rma&;ppfaq;rIXmeudk
vnf; jyKjyifrGrf;rHcJhNyD; vlemrsdK;pHktwGuf tH0ifcGifuspDrHxm;
aom usef;rma&;Munfh½Ippfaq;jcif; tpDtpOfrsm;udkvnf;
0efaqmifrIay;vsuf ½dSygonf/
acwfrDpepfrsm;? ypönf;ud&d,mrsm;ESifh tqifhjrifhpGmavhusifhay;
xm;onfh usef;rma&;0efxrf;rsm;yg0ifonfh ta&;ay:vlem
wif,mOfrsm;tm; toHk;jyKum yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½Hk\ (24)em&D
tcsdefjynfh ta&;ay:ukorIXmeonf jrefrmEdkifiHwGif wpfckwnf;

aomXme jzpfygonf/ þXmeonf ta&;ay: jyKpkukorItwGuf
tjynfjynfqdkif&m taumif;qHk; vufawGUusifhoHk;rIrsm;udk
csrSwfusifhoHk;jcif;? a&m*gtrsdK;trnf ½SmazGazmfxkwfjcif;? jyKpk
ukojcif;ESifh a&m*gjzpfjcif;rS BudKwifumuG,fjcif;wdkYtm; tcsdef
rD atmifjrifpGmNyD;pD;a&;udk tm½Hkpdkufvsuf½dSygonf/ þodkY 0ef
aqmifrIay;jcif;onf tjynfjynfqdkif&m pHowfrSwfcsufrsm;
twdkif; wdusaocsmaom tcsdefumvtwGif; vlemrsm;tm;
oifhavsmfaom ukorI&½dSapygonf/ ta&;ay:ukorI 0efxrf;
rsm;onf w&m;0ifta&;ay: aq;ukojcif;oifwef;tm; wuf
a&mufxm;MuNyD; tqdkygXme½dS aq;rSL;rsm;onf American
Heart Association rS w&m;0iftodtrSwfjyKvufrSwf &½dS
xm;olrsm; jzpfMuygonf/
þaq;½Hkonf vlemrsm;tm; apmifha½SmufukorIt&nftaoG;
pOfqufrjywf wdk;wufapa&;tm;&nf½G,faom w&m;0ifaq;
ukorIqdkif&m pDrHcefYcGJrIpepf rlabmifwpf&yfudkvnf; jy|mef;
xm;ygonf/ tqdkygrlabmifwGif aq;ukorIqdkif&m vufawGU
vkyfudkifjcif;tm; apmifhMunhfEdkif&efESifh vlemrsm;tm; ab;uif;
vHkNcHKrI pHEIef;rsm;ESifhtnD ½dSaeap&eftwGuf oifhavsmfaom
pepfrsm;ESifh tpDtpOfrsm;tm; olYae&mESifhol ½dSap&eftwGuf
vrf;ñTefcsufrsm; yg0ifygonf/ tqdkygrlabmif\ t"duta&;
ygaom 0efaqmifrI(5)ckonf vlemtm;A[dkjyKaom aq;½Hkjzpf
jcif;? wdusrSefuefaomowif;udk tcsdefrDtoday;jcif;? 0efaqmif
rIt&nftaoG;tm; tpOftNrJwdk;wufap&ef aqmif½Gufjcif;?
aq;½Hk0efxrf;rsm; t&nftcsif;zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufap&ef vkyfaqmif
jcif;ESifh oifhavsmfaom wm0efcGJa0rIESifh qHk;½HI;Edkifajctvm;t
vmpDrHcefYcGJrI xm;½dSjcif;wdkYjzifh wm0efcHrI½dSaom pDrHcefYcGJrIudk
taumiftxnfazmfjcif; paomtcsufrsm;tm; r@dKifjyKxm;
ygonf/
vltiftm;&if;ESD;pdkufxkwfjcif;tay: tm½HkpdkufrItjyif PHSH
onf ¤if;\q&m0efrsm;tm; wrlxl;jcm;aom tcsdefjynfh vpm
ay;jcif; yHkpHwpf&yfudk aqmif½Gufxm;ygonf/ q&m0efrsm;
taejzifh vlemtm; xdawGUqufqHrIESifh aq;½HkESifhywfoufonfh
wm0efcHrItwGuf tcsdeftenf;i,fom&½dSNyD; wpfaeYvHk; aq;½Hk
wpf½HkrSwpf½Hk yHkrSeftvSnfhusoGm;a&muf&onfh jrefrmEdkifiH\
xHk;wrf;pOfvmudk þyHkpHu ajymif;vJapcJhygonf/ aq;½HktrI
xrf;rsm;ESifh ywfoufí t&nftcsif;jrifhrm;NyD; tcsdefjynfh
q&m0efrsm;½dSjcif;aMumifh PHSH onf ta&;BuD;aom ukorI
tm;vHk;udk yg&*lrsm;jzifh (24)em&D tcsdefjynfh aqmif½Gufay;Edkif
ygonf/ ,ckb@ma&;ESpftwGif; þaq;½Hkonf EdkifiHwum
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tawGUtBuHKrsdK;pHk½dSaom t&nftcsif;jrifhrm;onfh q&m0efrsm;
tm; ½SmazGcefYtyf EdkifcJhygonf/ þodkY aqmif½GufEdkifrIonf
vlemrsm;tm;ukorI tqifhtwef; jrifhrm;aponfomrubJ
aq;½Hk\pGrf;aqmifrI wpfckvHk;tm; ododomom wdk;wufapcJh
aom tjynfjynfqdkif&m vufawGUvkdufem usifhoHk;rIrsm;ESihf
owif;tcsuftvuf zvS,frIwdkYudkvnf; &½dSapcJhygonf/

a½SUydkif;wGif tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;tm;wifjycJhonfhtwdkif; vmrnhf
ESpfrsm;twGif; EdkifiHwpf0ef; aq;½HkuGef&ufwpfck wnfaqmuf
&ef pDpOfvsuf½dSygonf/ wpfckwnf;aom aq;½Hk½dSjcif;ESifh rwl
uGJjym;vsuf aq;½HkuGef&ufwpfckonf pGrf;aqmifrIrsm; ydkrdkay;
Edkifygonf/ Oyrmtm;jzifh wpfckwnf;aom "mwfcGJcef;udk
uGef&ufwpfckvHk;rS toHk;jyKEdkifNyD; aq;½HkwpfckpDtwGuf ukefus
p&dwfrsm;tm; avsmhusapygonf/ uGef&ufrsm;onf vlemrsm;
twGuf a'oqdkif&maq;cef;rsm;rS ydkíBuD;rm;aom aq;½Hkrsm;
ESifh txl;ukq&m0efrsm;½dS&m Xmersm;odkY qufoG,fydkYaqmif
vTJajymif;rIrsm;udkvnf; ukefusp&dwfoufompGm aqmif½Gufay;
Edkifygonf/
uRefawmfwdkY\ yxrqHk;rEÅav;aq;½Hk PHSH Mandalay (73)
udkvnf; vuf½dSwGif wnfaqmufaeqJjzpfygonf/ PHSH
Mandalay (73) udk tqifhESpfqifhjzifh wnfaqmufoGm;rnf
jzpf&m ueOD;taejzifh ckwif(27)vHk; toHk;jyKEdkifrnfjzpfNyD;
'kwd,wnfaqmufrIumvtwGif; ckwif (92)vHk;udk xyfrHí
wnfaqmufoGm;rnf jzpfygonf/ þaq;½Hkonf 1.5 Tesla
MRI, 128 Slice CT Scanner, 4D Ultrasound Machine
pufrsm; zvifrJh Tele-radiology pepffwdkY tygt0if aq;zuf

qdkif&m oHk;ypönf;ud&d,mrsdK;pHkjzifh 0efaqmifrIygaom cGJpdwfcef;
(2)cef;? (24)em&D ta&;ay:0efaqmifrIwdkYudk ay;oGm;rnf
jzpfygonf/
þtpD&ifcHpmtpydkif;wGif wifjyxm;onfhtwdkif; tif;av;uef
teD; anmifa½Tü aq;cef;wpfcef;tm; zGifhvSpfjcif;jzifh ,ckESpf
½Srf;jynfe,fü yxrqHk;tajccHusef;rma&;ukorI taqmuftOD
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PHSH's Philips CT Scanner
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wpfcktm; PHSH rS zGifhvSpfcJhjcif;twGuf uRefawmfwdkYtaejzifh
*kPf,l0rf;ajrmufpGm aMunmvkdygonf/ tqdkyg anmifa½Taq;
cef;onf tif;av;a'oodkY vma&mufvnfywfaom urÇmvSnfh
c&D;onfrsm;tm; jyifyvlemtjzpf ukoay;jcif;jzifh 0efaqmifrI
ay;vsuf ½dSygonf/ AdkvfcsKyfatmifqef;vrf;ay:½dS &efukefaq;
cef;wdk;csJUrIudk vuf½dSaqmif½Gufvsuf½dSygonf/ þaq;cef;ü
jyifyvlemukorI? "mwfcGJcef;ESifh yHk&dyfazmfí a&m*g½SmazGjcif;?
aeYzufjyKpkukorIESifh tao;pm;cGJpdwfjcif;rsm;ESifhtwl (24)em&D
tcsdefjynfh ta&;ay:vlemrsm;twGuf ukoa&;Xmewpfcktm;
0efaqmifrIay;Edkif&ef pDpOfvsuf½dSygonf/
jrefrmEdkifiHonf vlOD;a&rsm;jym;onfhtavsmuf ta&;ay:vlem
rsm;twGuf aq;½Hkckwifrsm; rvHkavmufrI ½dSaeqJjzpfí usef;rm
a&;0efaqmifrIu@twGuf yef;vdIifpDvHkaq;½Hkonf EdkifiHwpf
0ef; cdkifrmaomaps;uGufvdktyfcsufudk qufvufawGUjrifae&yg
onf/ yQrf;rQvlYoufwrf;? 0,f,lpm;oHk;EdkifrIpGrf;tm;ESifh NrdKUjyzGHU
NzdK;wdk;wufrIrsm;aMumifh jrefrmEdkifiHtwGif; usef;rma&;apmifh
a½SmufrItwGuf aiGaMu;oHk;pGJrIwdk;jrifhvmEdkifrnf[k þaq;½Hku
arQmfvifhxm;ygonf/ FMI ESifh Lippo Group wdkYrS cdkifrmpGm
qufvufaxmufyHhay;rIaMumifh PHSH onf vmrnfhESpfwGif
qufvufatmifjrifrItwGuf aumif;rGefaomtaetxm;wGif
&yfwnfvsuf ½dSaeygonf/
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Portfolio
Investments
As reported to shareholders
last year, we reduced our stake
in FMI Air from 50% to 10% in
June 2015. Although we believe the aviation sector
in Myanmar has solid long-term potential, FMI Air is
still in the initial stages of its development and we
felt it was prudent to adjust our equity stake to give it
time to develop without hurting our overall financial
performance.
FMI Air continues to successfully operate Bombardier
CRJ-200 Regional Jets on its flagship Yangon - Naypyitaw
route and also added a new Yangon-Sittwe route this
year. The airline offers an exclusive upmarket service,
which includes the use of premium FMI Air lounges,
as well as membership in the FMI Air Loyalty Program,
which allows customers to earn points and privileges
with FMI Air and its partners. Moving forward, the
airline will be looking to expand its routes, including
destinations in Shan and Mon States.
FMI has a 30% interest in Chindwin
Holdings Pte Ltd. which provides unique
tourism experiences. The company’s
main product, Balloons over Bagan, is
one of Myanmar’s most iconic tourist

attractions, taking visitors soaring above the ancient
temples of Bagan. Chindwin currently operates 14
balloons and flew a total of 21,676 passengers this
season.
This year also marked a new chapter for Chindwin
as it expanded into the hot air balloon business in
Inle Lake, Shan State. The company’s Inle Lake flights
take guests over floating gardens and lakeside
villages, where they can view local Inthar fishermen
and floating markets. As the Inle Lake service proved
popular this year, the company is looking to expand
its offerings in the future.
Myanmar Parkson is your
company’s retail joint
venture with Parkson Retail Asia and Yoma Strategic
Holdings. We own 10% of this company. The first
Parkson store in Myanmar commenced operations in
May 2013 and is now in its third year of operations.
For the nine months up to March 31, 2016 Parkson
recorded gross sales proceeds of approximately S$
3.62 million, however the store is not yet profitable.
Given the redevelopment plans for FMI Centre where
the current store is located, Parkson has secured a
new location with a new store expected to open by
March 2017.
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Parkson Retail Asia Limited is listed on the main board
of SGX and operates additional department stores
in Malaysia, Vietnam and Indonesia with nearly 40
department stores in Malaysia alone. We continue to
be optimistic about the retail sector in Myanmar and
are exploring ways to improve our results in this area.
Myanmar Agri-tech Ltd. (MAGT),
in which your company maintains
a 30% interest, owns the planting
rights to the Maw Tin Estate
plantation near Pathein. Maw Tin
comprises 100,000 acres with approximately 3,700
acres designated for a Robusta coffee plantation.
Working with eD&F Man, a global commodities
house, MAGT was active in implementing the coffee
plantation this year, although this is a long-term
project with results only expected after a number of
years.
FY 2015-2016 was a landmark
year for Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Co., Ltd. (MTSH) as
it became the second company to list on the Yangon
Stock Exchange on 20 May 2016. Your company
currently owns approximately 2.5% of MTSH, which
is a holding company that has investments in
companies involved in the development, construction,
marketing, lease, sale and operation of Zone A in the
Thilawa Special Economic Zone.

This year also marked
a new chapter for
Chindwin as it expanded
into the hot air balloon
business in Inle Lake,
Shan State.

Ongoing Construction in the Thilawa SEZ

Zone A spans approximately 400 hectares and is
being developed into an industrial park. A range of
light-industry manufacturers from across the globe
are currently building factories in the Zone. The
master plan for Zone A divides the area into three
sections: one for land that is leased to investors for
construction of their own manufacturing facilities,
another area for ready-built rental factories that are
leased to companies on a short-term basis, and a
third residential and commercial component.
Zone A is being developed in phases with Phase 1
in progress and Phase 2 scheduled to be completed
sometime in 2016. The residential and commercial
areas are expected to built over time with completion
scheduled for 2020.
Given its strong financial performance to date,
MTSH declared a Ks. 2,000 per share dividend, which
represents a 20% yield on par value, at the MTSH
Annual General Meeting in December 2015. Your
company received our share of this dividend which
amounted to Ks. 390 million.
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vGefcJhonfhESpfu tpk½S,f,m½Sifrsm;odkY wifjycJhonfhtwdkif;
2015 ckESpf? ZGefvwGif FMI Air avaMumif;ü uRefawmfwdkY
\ &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHxm;rIudk 50% rS 10% odkY avsmhcscJhygonf/
jrefrmEdkifiHwGif avaMumif;u@onf a&½Snftvm;tvm
aumif;½dSonfukd uRefawmfwdkY ,HkMunfxm;aomfvnf; FMI Air
onf zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrI tpydkif;üom ½dSaeqJjzpfNyD; uRefawmf
wdkY\ b@ma&;pGrf;aqmifrIwpfckvHk;tm; xdcdkufrIr½dSbJ &if;ESD;
jr§KyfESHrIudk zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufap&ef tcsdefay;&rnfjzpfNyD; FMI Air ½dS
uRefawmfwdkY\ &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHxm;rItm;csdefñdS&ef tajrmftjrif½dS½dS
pOf;pm;cJhygonf/

½Srf;jynfe,f tif;av;uefwGif rdk;ysHabmvHk;ysHoef;jcif; vkyfief;
tm; wdk;csJUcJhjcif;aMumifh ,ckESpfonf Chindwin Holdings
Pte Ltd. tzdkY u@opfwpf&yf jyocJhygonf/ þukrÜPD\
tif;av;uefü rdk;ysHabmvHk;ysHoef;rIvkyfief;onf a&ay:uRef;
arsmpdkufcif;rsm;ESifh uefab;½dS aus;½Gmrsm;tay: c&D;onfrsm;
tm; ysHoef;jyoay;cJh&m urÇmvSnfhc&D;onfrsm;taejzifh ,if;ae
&mrsm;½dS a'ocHtif;om;ig;zrf;orm;rsm;ESifh a&ay:aps;rsm;udk
jrifawGUEdkifygonf/ ,ckESpfwGif tif;av;uefay:wGif ysHoef;rI
onf vlBudKufrsm;aomaMumifh ukrÜPDonf tem*wfumvwGif
¤if;\0efaqmifrIay;jcif;rsm;udk wdk;csJU&ef arQmfvifhxm;ygonf/

FMI Air avaMumif;onf ¤if;\ &efukef-aejynfawmfc&D;pOfudk
CRJ-200 Regional *sufav,mOfrsm;jzifh atmifjrifpGm quf

vufysHoef;vsuf½dSNyD; ,ckESpfwGif &efukef-ppfawG c&D;pOfopf
udkvnf; wdk;csJUysHoef;cJhygonf/ þavaMumif;vkdif;onf oD;
oefYwefzdk;jr§ifh 0efaqmifrIwpf&yfudkvnf; ay;vsuf½dS&m ,if;0ef
aqmifrIwGif t&nftaoG;jrifh c&D;onfem;ae&m taqmuf
ttHkrsm; toHk;jyKjcif;yg0ifouJhodkY azmufonfrsm;taejzifh
vkdufygpD;eif;onfhacgufa&udk trSwfay;í FMI Air ESifh ¤if;\
rdwfzufavaMumif;rsm;wGif txl;oufomrI tcGifhta&;&½dSap
onfh FMI Air Loyalty Program wGif tzGJU0ifjzpfjcif;wdkY
vnf; yg0ifygonf/ a½SUodkYqufvufí þavaMumif;onf
½Srf;jynfe,fESifh rGefjynfe,f c&D;pOfrsm;tygt0if ¤if;\av
aMumif;c&D;pOfrsm;tm; wdk;csJUoGm;&ef tm½HkpdkufoGm;rnf jzpfyg
onf/

onf Parkson Retail Asia ? Yoma
wdkYESihftwl tusKd;wlzufpyf ta&mif;
ukrÜPDwpfck jzpfygonf/ uRefawmfwdkYonf þukrÜPD\
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI 10% udk ydkifqkdifxm;ygonf/ jrefrmEdkifiHwGif
yxrqHk; Parkson ukefwdkufonf 2013 ckESpf? arvwGif
vufvDta&mif;vkyfief;rsm; pwifcJhNyD; ,cktcg ¤if;ta&mif;
vkyfief;rSm (3)ESpf½dSNyD jzpfygonf/ 2016 ckESpf? arv(31)&uf
aeYtxd (9)vwm umvtwGuf Parkson onf tom;wif
a&mif;csaiG puFmyla':vm (3.62)oef;cefY pHcsdefwif wdk;wuf
cJhygonf/ odkY&mwGif Parkson ukefwdkufonf tjrwftpGef;
r&½dSao;yg/ vuf½dS þukefwdkufwnf½dSaom FMI Centre tm;
jyefvnfwnfaqmufrnfh tpDtpOfaMumifh Parkson onf
2017 ckESpf? rwfv rwdkifrD zGifhvSpf&ef arQmfvifhxm;aom ukef
wdkufopfESifhtwl ae&mopfwGif ½dSaernfrSm aocsmygonf/

FMI onf c&D;oGm;vkyfief;tawGUtBuHKwGif NydKifbufuif;onfh
Chindwin Holdings Pte Ltd. wGif 30% &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrItm;

Parkson Retail Asia Limited
(SGX) wGif pm&if;0ifxm;aom

ydkifqdkifxm;ygonf/ þukrÜPD\ t"du 0efaqmifrIvkyfief;
onf yk*Ha½S;a[mif;apwDykxdk;rsm;ay:wGif c&D;onfrsm;tm;
ysH0Jjyojcif;jzifh jrefrmEdkifiHwGif trTrf;wifcH&aom c&D;onf
rsm;tm; qGJaqmifrIt½dSqHk; vkyfief;wpfckjzpfonfh Balloons
Over Bagan rdk;ysHabmvHk;vkyfief; jzpfygonf/ Chindwin
Holdings Pte Ltd. onf vuf½dSwGif abmvHk; (14)vHk;jzifh
0efaqmifrIay;vsuf½dSNyD; ,ckESpf c&D;oGm;&moDwGif pkpkaygif;
c&D;onf (21ç676)OD;tm; ysHoef;jyocJhygonf/

Myanmar Parkson
Strategic Holdings

onf puFmylpawmhtdwfcsdef;
ukrÜPDjzpfNyD; rav;½Sm;EdkifiH
wpfckwnf;üyif ukefwdkuf (40)cefY½dSNyD; rav;½Sm;? AD,uferf?
tif'dkeD;½Sm;EdkifiHwdkYwGif ukefwdkufrsm; wdk;csJUzGifhvSpfvkyfudkif
vsuf½dSygonf/ jrefrmEdkifiHwGif vufvDta&mif;u@ESifh ywf
oufí uRefawmfwdkYtaejzifh taumif;bufrS qufvuf½Ijrif
xm;NyD; þvufvDta&mif;vkyfief;wGif tusKd;tjrwfwdk;wuf
&½dSa&; enf;vrf;rsm;udk ½SmazGvsuf½dSygonf/
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Parkson Department Store

Myanmar Agri-tech Ltd. (MAGT)

wGif vlBuD;rif;wdkY
ukrÜPDonf &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI 30% tm; qufvufydkifqkdifxm;NyD;
ykodrfNrdKUteD; armfwifpkdufcif;wGif opfyifpdkufysKd;cGifh &½dSxm;
ygonf/ armfwifpdkufcif;wGif Robusta aumfzDpdkufysKd;jcif;
twGuf owfrSwfxm;aom{u (3ç700)cefY tygt0if ajr{u
(100ç000) yg0ifygonf/ þaumfzDpdkufysKd;rIonf ESpfaygif;
tawmfMumNyD;rSom tusKd;tjrwftm; arQmfvifhxm;onfh
a&½Snfvkyfief;wpfck jzpfaomfjim;vnf; ,ckESpfwGif urÇmh
pm;aomufukef vkyfief;ukrÜPD wpfckjzpfaom eD&F Man ESifh
tusKd;wlyl;aygif;um MAGTonf aumfzDpdkufysKd;jcif;udk aqmif
½GufcJhygonf/

2016 ckESpf? arv(20)&ufaeYwGif &efukefpawmhtdwfcsdef;wGif
'kwd,ajrmuf pm&if;0ifukrÜPDwpfck jzpfvmojzifh 20152016 b@ma&;ESpfonf Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings
Public Co., Ltd. (MTSH) twGuf txifu& ESpfwpfESpfjzpfcJh
ygonf/ vlBuD;rif;wdkYukrÜPDonf vuf½dSwGif MTSH \ tpk
½S,f,m (2.5%)cefYtm; ydkifqkdif xm;ygonf/ trsm;ydkifukrÜPD
wpfckjzpfonfh MTSH onf oefvsif oDv0gtxl;pD;yGm;a&;
Zkef½dS Zkeftydkif;(u)wGif ajr,mazmfxkwfjcif;? wnfaqmufjcif;?
aps;uGuf½SmazGjcif;? ajriSm;&rf;jcif;? ajra&mif;csjcif;? ukefxkwf
jcif;vkyfief;rsm;wGif vkyfudkifaqmif½Gufaeaom ukrÜPDrsm;ü
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHxm;ygonf/

Zkeftydkif;(u) onf [ufwm (400) cefYus,f0ef;NyD; pufrIZkef
wpfcktjzpf wnfaqmufvsuf ½dSygonf/ ,cktcg urÇmwpf
0ef;rS tao;pm;pufrIukefxkwfvkyfief;rsdK;pHkonf þpufrIZkefü
puf½Hktvkyf½Hkrsm; wnfaqmufvsuf½dSygonf/ Zkeftydkif; (u)
twGuf vTrf;NcHKa&;qGJxm;aom pDrHudef;wGif þZkef{&d,mtm;
tydkif;(3)ydkif; tjzpfcGJjcm;xm;&m yxrydkif;rSm ¤if;wdkYukd,fydkif
ukefxkwfvkyfief;puf½Hkrsm; wnfaqmuf&eftwGuf &if;ESD;jr§KyfESH
onfh ukrÜPDrsm;tm; ajriSm;&rf;jcif;tydkif;? a&wdkumv vkyfief;
aqmif½Gufaom ukrÜPDrsm;odkY topfwnfaqmufNyD; puf½Hkrsm;
iSm;&rf;jcif;twGuf ajr{&d,mtydkif;ESifh vlaetdrf&mESifh pD;yGm;
a&;vkyfief;rsm;yg0ifaom wwd,tydkif;wdkY jzpfMuygonf/
Zkeftydkif;(u)udk tqifh(1)jzifh aqmif½GufaeqJjzpfNyD; tqifh
(2)udk 2016 ckESpftwGif;NyD;pD;&ef tqifhqifhpDpOfwnfaqmuf
vsuf½dSygonf/ vlaetdrf&mESifh pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief; {&d,mrsm;
udk 2020 jynfhESpfwGif tNyD;wnfaqmuf&ef arQmfvifhxm;yg
onf/
,ckcsdefxd MTSH \ aumif;rGefaomb@m a&;pGrf;aqmifrI
aMumifh 2015 ckESpf? 'DZifbmvwGif jyKvkyfcJhaom MTSH
ESpfywfvnftaxGaxGtpnf;ta0;wGif tpk½S,f,mwpfpkvQif
tjrwfaiG (2ç000)usyf ay;tyf&efaMujimcJh&m ¤if;aiGrSm ½S,f
,m rlvwefzdk;\ 20% tm; udk,fpm;jyKygonf/ vlBuD;rif;wdkY
ukrÜPDonf uRefawmfwdkY\ xnfh0ifaom tpk½S,f,mtwGuf
tjrwfaiG usyfoef; (390) &½dScJhygonf/
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Mission
Statement
Our Customers

Our Shareholders

We will provide customer satisfaction through the
delivery of our Star Quality Service that is consistent,
fair and sincere. We shall never forget that the
customer is the reason we exist and that only with
service that comes from the heart can we expect
more customers tomorrow.

The motivation of our work will be focused on
maximizing the returns for our shareholders. We
value the trust that our shareholders have placed in
us and we shall return their confidence with profits,
earned with integrity, customer satisfaction and
intelligent business skills.

Our Community

Our Employees

We care for our environment and for the communities
we work in. Due consideration will always be given
to safeguarding our environment, saving our natural
resources and providing benefits and assistance to
the communities in which we work.

People will always be a vital resource in our
organization. Our employees will always be treated
fairly and with respect. We consider training and
human resource development as part of our
Company's goals and we shall try to develop staff
to their optimal potential to help them develop
themselves to be more effective, productive and
professional within the Company.

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Our
Core Values

7

Focus

Customer Focus
Quality Focus
Learning Focus
Teamwork Focus
Loyalty Focus
Innovative Focus
Accountability Focus

We are an energetic group of professionals totally committed to constantly
improving the quality of our business performance through the practice of our
Seven Focuses. We will continue to pursue and achieve our company's goals
through a shared vision that will benefit all.
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Corporate Governance
Report
Corporate Governance Philosophy

Board Accountability

Good corporate governance is one of FMI’s
foundational principles. We seek to manage Company
affairs in a fair and transparent manner, to create
long-term sustainable value for our shareholders
and the wider community through ethical and
responsible business practices.

The Board is ultimately accountable to shareholders
regarding the management of the Company’s
affairs. The Management recognises the importance
of providing the Board with timely and accurate
information, and seeks to keep the Board informed
of any material developments. This ensures that
the Board has the proper information to make
informed decisions on the Company’s behalf. The
Board reviews and approves the Company’s annual
financial statements before they are released, and
aims to provide shareholders with a balanced and
clear assessment of the Group’s financial position.

This report describes the corporate governance
practices that were in place during the fiscal year
ended 31 March 2016, however in order to achieve
our aim of incorporating international best practices
into our corporate governance systems, we are
constantly looking for ways to improve. FMI considers
it our inherent responsibility to disclose timely and
accurate information to shareholders to allow them
to make informed investment decisions.

Board of Directors
FMI’s Board of Directors (“the Board”) forms the
core of our corporate governance practices. The
Board leads and oversees the decisions of FMI’s
management team (“the Management”) and serves
to protect the long term interests of shareholders
and the wider community. We believe that an active,
well-informed, accountable and independent Board
is necessary to ensure the highest standards of
corporate governance.

The Board’s Role
The Board’s role is to provide strategic leadership and
sound decision making to ensure that the Company’s
objectives are met. In order to achieve this aim, the
Board has established a framework of effective risk
management that allows it to assess and manage
the risks associated with Company’s businesses. The
Board is also responsible for considering the impact
of the Company’s investments on the environment
and the community, ensuring that FMI lives up to
its commitment to responsible business practices.
The Board is also responsible for upholding the
Company’s values and ensuring that the Management
is accountable to these values.

Board Independence
With a majority of Non-Executive Directors, the
Board maintains a strong independence. The NonExecutive members of the Board bring a diverse set
of experiences and opinions that help to create an
environment of independent thinking. Any decision
involving an Executive Director or company related
to an Executive Director is made with the concerned
Executive Director abstaining from voting and not
participating in deliberations. This ensures that Board
decisions are made in accordance with the interests
of all stakeholders and that no individual dominates
the Board’s decisions.

Board Approval
The Board reviews all decisions that may have a
material impact on the Group’s financial position
or earnings. In addition, the Board approves the
declaration of dividends, the publishing of the Group’s
financial statements, the acquisition or disposal
of key assets and the nomination of Directors. The
Board’s advice is sought on all key financial decisions,
strategies, and projects with special attention
given to the Board’s opinion on the impact of the
Management’s decisions on the local community.

Size and Composition of the Board
The Board comprises nine Directors. A majority of
the Board is independent, with six Non-Executive
Directors and three Executive Directors. The NonExecutive Directors bring strong backgrounds in
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Company’s decisions accurately account for different
interests. Non-Executive Directors may also meet and
communicate outside of Board meetings in order to
discuss Company matters in an independent setting.

entrepreneurship, finance, academia and legal
compliance which allows for effective decision making.
With highly respected members of the community
as Board members, the Company benefits from a
diverse range of objective perspectives. To learn more
about the qualifications of each Director, please see
the Board of Directors section of this Annual Report.
The Directors that served the Company during the
financial year ended 31 March 2016 were:

Selection of New Directors
The Nomination Committee works with the Board to
determine the appropriate qualifications, skills and
experience for the Board as a whole and its individual
members with the objective of creating a diverse
Board comprised of individuals with experience in
finance, business, government, and education. Any
appointment or removal of a Director is subject to
approval from the entire Board.

Non Executive Directors
U Myat Thin Aung
U Than Aung
U Tin Maung Win (Resigned 30 May 2015)
Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint
U Tun Myat (Resigned 5 Nov 2015)
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
U Win Thin (Appointed 30 May 2015)
U Kyi Aye (Appointed 5 Nov 2015)

Board Meetings and Attendance
Dates for Board meetings are communicated to
all Directors in advance. Meetings are convened
when material developments in the Company’s
affairs are likely to occur, and meetings are held at
the Company’s registered office at FMI Centre, 380
Bogyoke Aung San Road, Pabedan Township, Yangon.
All materials required for proper consideration of
issues affecting the Company are sent to Directors
in advance to allow them to carefully consider the
proper course of action. The Board meets annually
to decide the date on the Annual General Meeting
and Board Committees usually meet before the
formal Board meeting, or whenever the need arises.
The recommendations of the Committees are placed
before the Board for necessary approval.

Executive Directors
U Theim Wai
U Tun Tun
U Linn Myaing

Directors’ Participation
All Directors are encouraged to voice their views on the
Management’s decisions and share opinions during
Board meetings. The Board seeks to create a receptive
environment where perspectives can be voiced
openly. Having the benefit of outside perspectives and
experiences, Non-Executive Directors are especially
encouraged to speak their minds to ensure the
Director

Five Board meetings were held during the fiscal year
ended 31 March 2016. Dates of these meetings and
attendance (demarcated with an ‘X’) is below:

30 Apr 2015

30 May 2015

02 Jul 2015

19 Oct 2015

15 Mar 2016

U Theim Wai

X

X

X

X

X

U Myat Thin Aung

X

X

X

X

X

U Than Aung

X

X

X

X

U Tin Maung Win

*

Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint

X

X

X

X

X

U Tun Tun

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

U Linn Myaing

X

X

U Tun Myat**

X

X

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
U Win Thin

***

X

U Kyi Aye

****

*****

*

U Tin Maung Win resigned from the Board on 30 May 2015		

***

U Win Thin was appointed on 30 May 2015

**

U Tun Myat resigned from the Board on 5 Nov 2015		

****

U Kyi Aye was appointed on 5 Nov 2015

*****

Attended as an observer

47

48

Annual Report 2015-2016

Board Committees
Audit Committee
The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to
assist the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities
to the Company to act in the interest of the Company’s
shareholders as a whole. In addition to pursuing this
goal, the Audit Committee:
( a ) Oversees and appraises the quality of the audit
effort of the Company’s external auditors;
( b ) Reviews the adequacy of the Company’s
administrative and operating controls as well
as internal accounting controls and evaluates
adherence to such controls;
( c ) Serves as an independent and objective party to
review the integrity of the financial information
presented by management to shareholders,
regulators and the general public;
( d ) Provides communication, when necessary,
between the Board and the external auditors;
( e ) Ensures the independence of the external
auditors;
( f ) Reviews with the external auditors their audit
plan, audit report, management letter and any
material queries raised by the external auditor
to management about accounting records,
financial accounts or systems of control;
( g ) Reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems, including financial, operational,
compliance and information technology
controls;
( h ) Reviews with the external auditors the
Company’s existing financial and accounting
policies and practices and the impact of any new
or proposed changes in accounting principles
or regulatory requirements on the financial
statements of the Company;
( i ) Reviews related party transactions for potential
conflicts of interest to ensure that proper
measures to mitigate such conflicts of interests
have been put in place;
( j ) Assesses the suitability of the accounting firm
as external auditors and recommends to the
Board their appointment or re-appointment as

external auditors for the coming year, to approve
their compensation and terms of engagement
as negotiated by management and to review
and approve their discharge, resignation or
dismissal;
( k ) Reviews filings with any regulatory bodies that
contain the Company’s financial statements and
ensures proper disclosure;
( l ) Commissions and reviews the findings of
internal investigations into matters where there
is any suspected fraud or irregularity or failure
of internal controls or infringement of any
law, rule and regulation which has or is likely
to have a material impact on the Company’s
operating results and/or financial position, and
management's response to these findings;
(m) Reviews arrangements that employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other
matters, and ensures that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation
of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action; and
( n ) Reviews the Company’s compliance with any
applicable rules and regulations and disclosure
in its annual report.
The Audit Committee comprises three directors, all
of whom are Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman
of the Audit Committee is U Win Thin, with the other
two members being Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint and U Kyi
Aye. Collectively, the Audit Committee has broad
business experience, knowledge of the operations,
finance and auditing procedures of the Company.
The Audit Committee functions independently of the
officers and other directors of the Company who are
not members of the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee
The primary purpose of the Remuneration
Committee is to support and advise the Company in
remuneration matters and leadership development
of the Company by:
( a ) Overseeing the development of leadership and
management talent in the Company;
( b ) Ensuring that the Company has appropriate
remuneration policies;
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( c ) Designing competitive compensation packages
which focus on the long term sustainability of the
business and long term shareholders’ returns;
( d ) Making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for determining
executive
remuneration
including
the
remuneration of the Executive Chairman and
the other senior management executives;
( e ) Reviewing the ongoing appropriateness and
relevance of the executive remuneration policy
and other benefit programmes;
( f ) Reviewing and approving termination payments,
retirement
payments,
gratuities,
ex-gratia
payments, severance payments, compensation
and other similar payments in connection with
any loss or termination of office or appointment to
senior management executives;
( g ) Reviewing and approving compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of Directors (both Executive and Non-Executive)
to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;
(h) Reviewing and approving the design of all option
plans, share plans and/or other equity based plans;
( i ) Making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration (including Directors’ fees) for the
Non-Executive Directors of the Company; and
( j ) Reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three
directors, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors.
The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is U
Kyi Aye, with the other two members being U Myat
Thin Aung and Prof Dr. Yi Yi Myint.

Nominating Committee
The primary purpose of the Nominating Committee
is to support and advise the Company in fulfilling its
responsibilities to shareholders in ensuring that the
Board of the Company is comprised of individuals
who are best able to discharge their responsibilities as
Directors. The Nominating Committee, having regard
to the law and the highest standards of corporate
governance, shall identify suitable candidates for
appointment who can add value to the Management

through their contributions in relevant strategic
business areas.
The duties and responsibilities of the Nominating
Committee are as follows:
( a ) The Nominating Committee shall review the
structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.
(b) The Nominating Committee shall identify
individuals suitably qualified to be Board
members, review and recommend the
candidates to the Board for appointments to
the Board and Board committees. However,
the appointment of existing Board members to
Board committees need not be endorsed by the
Nominating Committee.
( c ) The Nominating Committee shall assess the
independence of Non-Executive directors of the
Company.
( d ) The Nominating Committee shall also review and
recommend the nomination for re-appointment or
re-election or renewal of appointment of directors
on the Board, and succession planning for the
directors of the Company.
The Nominating Committee comprises three
directors, two of whom are Non-Executive Directors.
The Chairman of the Nominating Committee is Prof.
Dr. Aung Tun Thet, with the other two members
being U Than Aung and U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun.

Annual General Meetings
Annual General Meetings are held once per year
at suitable locations in Yangon. In advance of the
Annual General Meeting, the Company delivers a
notice to each shareholder by post which contains
the time and location of the meeting as well as an
agenda. Notice of the meeting is also published in
widely circulating newspapers in Myanmar.
Shareholders who are unable to attend the Annual
General Meeting may appoint a proxy to attend and
vote on their behalf. The Company’s ordinary shares
have one vote per share. Shareholders’ resolutions
are passed at each Annual General Meeting and these
resolutions are also published on the Yangon Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
Shareholders’ approval is sought for amendments
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to the Company’s Articles of Association, approval
of the Company’s financial statements, appointment
of Directors and any other material matters
concerning the Company. The Executive Chairman or
a member the Management delivers a presentation
to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to
explain the Company’s results and future strategies.
Shareholders are encouraged to ask questions to the
Directors at the meeting.

Appointment or
Re-Appointment of Directors

Shares belonging to shareholders who had opened
an account with a licensed securities company in
Myanmar were deposited into that account, while
the shares belonging to shareholders without a
securities account were placed in a ‘Special Account’
as mandated by the Yangon Stock Exchange.
Shareholders who wish to transfer their shares from
the ‘Special Account’ to their own securities account
can do so through a clear procedure established
between the Company, the Yangon Stock Exchange,
and securities companies. Shareholders can contact
the Company for more details on this procedure.

As per the Company’s Articles of Association, onethird of the Directors retire by rotation and, if
eligible, seek re-appointment by shareholders at the
Company’s Annual General Meeting. Accordingly, U
Win Thin, U Kyi Aye and U Theim Wai will retire at
the upcoming Annual General Meeting and being
eligible, seek re-appointment. Any appointment of
new Directors is subject to the recommendation of
the Nominating Committee. During the fiscal year
ended 31 March 2016, U Tin Maung Win and U Tun
Myat resigned from the Board, and with the approval
of Board, U Win Thin and U Kyi Aye were appointed.
Being newly appointed Directors, U Win Thin and U
Kyi Aye will seek re-appointment from shareholders
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Dividends

Communication with Shareholders

Corporate Policies

The Company is committed to transparency and
the open exchange of ideas with shareholders. This
includes the question and answer session at the
Annual General Meeting as well ongoing dialogue with
shareholders via phone and in person communication.

The Company has adopted a range of corporate
policies to promote responsible business practices
across the organization and to uphold our
commitment to the United Nations Global Compact.
These corporate polices include:

Information that is material to the Company’s
financial position or results is disclosed in an accurate
and timely manner via the Yangon Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s own website.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Company’s website is a key source of timely information
for shareholders. In addition to the Company’s annual
financial results, it contains other important information,
including announcement, investor presentations, annual
reports, and share information.

Dematerialization of Shares
Being listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange, FMI
shares are tradable compulsorily in electronic form
as per Notification No. 1/2015 of the Securities and
Exchange Commission dated 7 August 2015. When
the Company listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange
on 25 March 2016, all shares were dematerialized.

The Company aims to declare and pay an annual
dividend to shareholders. In considering the amount
of each year’s dividend, the Board takes into account
the amount of cash available, the potential returns
generated from reinvesting our profits, and the
Company’s projected capital expenditures and
investment plans. Having considered these factors,
the Board recommends a per share dividend amount.
This recommendation requires the final approval
of shareholders at the Company’s Annual General
Meeting. The Company maintains a single class of
shares and all shares are treated equally in regards
to dividend payments.

Code of Conduct
Anti-Bribery Policy
Anti-Corruption Procedure
Conflict of Interest Policy
Environment, Health and Safety Policy
Employment Policy
Human Rights Policy
Land Acquisition Policy
Stakeholder Engagement
Whistle Blowing Policies

All of the above policies are available in full on the
Company’s website.

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Corporate
Profile

F

MI was one of the earliest public companies formed following the adoption of the market economy and the
promulgation of the Myanmar Investment Law in 1990. Established in 1992, it became an instant success
with local investors hungry for professional investment management and sound diversity. On 25 March
2016 FMI became the first company to be listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange with the trading code 00001.
FMI's strength lies not only in its strategic diversification, but also in its professional management, stringent
corporate governance and transparency. FMI’s Board strictly adheres to corporate rules and acts independently
to ensure proper conduct.
FMI’s current focus is on its ‘three pillar’ strategy of investing in the Financial Services, Real Estate and Healthcare
sectors, while remaining open to strategic opportunities in other growth industries.
With an unbroken track record of profitability and dividend payments since inception, FMI is one of Myanmar’s
most successful companies.

Company Information, Registration and Commencing of Business
FMI was founded with reference to the Ministry of Trade, Company Registration Office, Registration No.159/9293 dated 3 July 1992 and the Certificate for Commencement of Business dated 30 October 1992, under the
Myanmar Companies Act. FMI commenced business on 1 November 1992. FMI’s Certificate of Incorporation was
renewed to 23 May 2020 by the Directorate of Investment and Company Administration, Ministry of National
Planning & Economic Development.

Board of Directors (as of 31st March 2016)
U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun
U Myat Thin Aung 		
U Than Aung 			
Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint		
U Linn Myaing			
U Tun Tun 			
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet		
U Win Thin			
U Kyi Aye			

Executive Chairman
Non-Executive Vice-Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Executive Director / Chief Operating Officer
Executive Director / Chief Financial Officer
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

Advisors (as of 31st March 2016)
U Maung Maung Soe Tint
Mr. Martin Pun 			

Lead Advisor
Advisor

Auditor
V Advisory Limited

Corporate Address
FMI Centre, 10th Floor, 380, Bogyoke Aung San Road, Pabedan Township, Yangon, Myanmar
Tel: +95-1-240 363, 240 373 | Fax: +95-1-246 882, 246 883
E-Mail: fmi@spa-mm.com | Web : fmi.com.mm
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Board of
Directors
Theim Wai @ Serge Pun is the founder and Chairman of the Serge Pun &
Associates (SPA) Group. He has over 40 years of international business
and investment experience in Hong Kong, China, Taiwan, Malaysia,
Thailand, Singapore, Western Europe, North America and Myanmar.

Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

Myat Thin Aung
Non-Executive Vice-Chairman

OD;odrf;a0 onf Serge Pun & Associates (SPA) tkyfpktm; wnfaxmifonfh
Ouú| jzpfonf/ olonf a[mifaumif? w½kwf? xdkif0rf? rav;½Sm;? xdkif;? puFmyl?
Oa&mytaemufydkif;? ajrmuftar&duESifh jrefrmEdkifiHwdkYwGif ESpfaygif;(40)ausmfMum
EdkifiHwumpD;yGm;a&;ESifh &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIjyKonfh vkyfief;tawGUtBuHKrsm;½SdcJhonf/

Myat Thin Aung is the Chairman of AA group of companies. He also serves
as the President of Ye-Me-Thin Association, member of Central Executive
Committee of Union of Myanmar Federation of Chamber of Commerce
& Industry and Patron of Hlaing Thayar Industrial City Management
Committee. He is also an Executive Member of the Myanmar China
Friendship Association. Myat Thin Aung is a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

OD;jrwfoif;atmif onf AA ukrÜPDrsm;tkyfpk\ Ouú| jzpfonf/ olonf &rnf;oif;
NrdKUe,ftoif;wGif em,utjzpfvnf;aumif;? jynfaxmifpkjrefrmEdkifiH ukefonfrsm;ESifh
pufrIvufrIvkyfief;½Sifrsm;toif; A[dktvkyftrIaqmiftjzpfvnf;aumif;? vIdifom
,mpufrIZkef pDrHcefYcGJa&;aumfrwD\ em,utjzpfvnf;aumif;? jrefrmw½kwfcspfMunf
a&;toif; (A[dk) trIaqmiftjzpf aqmif½Gufvsuf½Sdonf/ OD;jrwfoif;atmif onf
Remuneration Committee tzGJU0if jzpfygonf/

Than Aung is the Managing Director of Yar-Pye Co., Ltd. and other family
owned companies. He is also the Vice Chairman of the Pathein Association
and the Vice Chairman of the Ayeyawady United Football Club. He has
been a Non-Executive Director of FMI since 1992. Than Aung is a member
of the Nominating Committee.
Than Aung
Non-Executive Director

OD;oef;atmif onf &mjynfhukrÜPDESifh tjcm;rdom;pkydkifukrÜPDrsm;\ tkyfcsKyfrI'g½dkufwm
jzpfonf/ olonf ykodrfNrdKUe,ftoif;ESifh {&m0wD,lEdkufwufabmvHk;toif;
(Ayeyawady United Football Club) wdkY\ 'kwd,Ouú| wm0efrsm;udkvnf;
xrf;aqmifvsuf½dSonf/ olonf FMI ukrÜPD\ 'g½dkufwmtjzpf 1992 ckESpfrS pwif
aqmif½GufcJhonf/ OD;oef;atmif onf Nominating Committee tzGJU0ifjzpfygonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Yi Yi Myint
Non-Executive Director

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint is a retired professor of economics with a long
tenure at the Yangon Institute of Economics. She is highly respected for her
contribution towards the introduction of business education and advocating
a market-oriented economy in Myanmar. She was awarded the Good Public
Service Medal in 1990 and was a delegate to the National Convention. She is
the promoter and advisor of the Myanmar Women Entrepreneurs Association
and Vice-President of the Management Committee of U Hla Tun (Hospice)
Cancer Foundation. In 2015 she was awarded a D.Litt (Honoris Causa) from
Yangon Institute of Economics. She was appointed Non-Executive Director of
FMI in 2009, and is a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

ygarmu©a'gufwma':&D&Djrifh onf &efukefpD;yGm;a&;wuúodkvfwGif ESpfaygif;rsm;pGm
wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhjyD;aemuf ygarmu©tjzpfrS tjidrf;pm;,lcJhygonf/ jrefrmEdkifiHwGif
pD;yGm;a&;qdkif&mynm&yfrsm;udk pwifrdwfqufay;cJhjyD;? aps;uGufpD;yGm;a&;pepf jzpfxGef;
wdk;wufa&;twGuf tm;xkwfBudK;yrf;cJhrIrsm;aMumifh av;pm;todtrSwfjyKcH&ol wpfOD;
vnf;jzpfygonf/ jynfolU0efxrf;aumif;wHqdyfudk 1990 ckESpfwGif csD;jr§ifhjcif;cHcJh&NyD;
trsdK;om;nDvmcH udk,fpm;vS,fwpfOD;vnf; jzpfygonf/ olronf jrefrmtrsdK;orD;
pD;yGm;a&;pGrf;aqmif½Sifrsm;toif;\ wnfaxmifolESifh tBuHay;yk*¾dKvftjzpfaqmif½Guf
vsuf½Sdonfhtjyif? OD;vSxGef;arwåm&dyfrGef(uifqm)azmifa';½Sif; pDrHcefYcGJrIaumfrwD\
'kwd,Ouú|tjzpf wm0ef,laqmif½Gufaeygonf/ 2015 ckESpfwGif olronf &efukef
pD;yGm;a&;wuúodkvfrS *kPfxl;aqmifyg&*lbGJUudk csD;jr§ifhjcif;cHcJh&ygonf/ olronf
FMI ukrÜPD\ 'g½dkufwmtzGJU0iftjzpf 2009 ckESpfrS pwifcefYtyfjcif;cH&NyD; Audit
Committee ESifh Remuneration Committee tzGJU0if jzpfygonf/

Tun Tun
Executive Director & CFO

Tun Tun was born and raised in Yangon. He joined the Serge Pun & Associates
(SPA) Group in 1998. Over the years he has held various positions in the
Group, including roles in corporate secretarial, legal, accounting, finance,
stock exchange listing, operation management, corporate development and
investment management. He has been an Executive Director of FMI since
2009 and also holds directorships in many of the Group’s companies and
joint ventures. He is also an Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries & Administrators (UK). Tun Tun currently serves as FMI’s Chief
Financial Officer.

OD;xGef;xGef; onf &efukefNrdKUwGif arG;zGm;BuD;jyif;cJhol jzpfonf/ olonf SPA ukrÜPD
tkyfpkodkY 1998 ckESpfwGif 0ifa&mufcJhonf/ olonf ukrÜPDtwGif;a&;rSL;? Oya'a&;&m?
pm&if;udkif? b@ma&;? pawmhtdyfcsdef; pm&if;oGif;rSwfyHkwifjcif;? pDrHcefYcGJa&;vkyfief;?
ukrÜPDzGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;ESifh &if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIpDrHcefYcGJa&; wm0efrsm;tygt0if ukrÜPDtkyfpk
wGif &mxl;wm0efrsm;tm; ESpfaygif;rsm;pGm xrf;aqmifcJholjzpfygonf/ 2009 ckESpfrSpí
FMI \ trIaqmif'g½dkufwmwm0ef xrf;aqmifcJhNyD; ukrÜPDtkyfpk\ukrÜPDrsm;ESifh
zufpyfvkyfief;rsm;wGif 'g½dkufwm&mxl;rsm;udkvnf; xrf;aqmifvsuf½dSygonf/
olonf Institute of Chartered Secretaries & Administrators (UK) \
toif;0ifwpfOD;vnf; jzpfygonf/ vuf½dSwGif OD;xGef;xGef; onf FMI ukrÜPD\
Chief Financial Officer jzpfygonf/
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Linn Myaing is a retired Director General from the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs. Prior to this assignment, he also served as Myanmar Ambassador
to several Western countries including France and the United States. He
joined SPA in 2006 as Advisor to the Board and currently heads the Group
Government Relations Department. He is also an Executive Director and
Chief Operating Officer of FMI.
Linn Myaing
Executive Director & COO

Aung Tun Thet
Non-Executive Director

OD;vif;NrdKif onf EdkifiHjcm;a&;0efBuD;Xme\ tNidrf;pm;ñTefMum;a&;rSL;csKyfwpfOD; jzpf
onf/ ,if;rwdkifrDolonf jyifopfEdkifiHESifhtar&duefjynfaxmifpktygt0if taemuf
EdkifiHtcsKdU\jrefrmoHtrwfBuD;tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ olonf 2006 ckESpf
wGif SPA ukrÜPDodkY tBuHay;yk*¾dKvftjzpf pwif0ifa&mufcJhNyD;? vuf½SdwGif olonf
ukrÜPDtkyfpk\ tpdk;&qufqHa&;Xme tBuD;tuJwm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf ½Sdygonf/
xdkYtjyifolonf FMI ukrÜPD\ tvkyftrIaqmif'g½dkufwm^vkyfief;qkdif&mtrIaqmif
t&m½SdcsKyfvnf; jzpfygonf/

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet is an Advisor to the Union of Myanmar Federation
of Commerce, Visiting Professor at the Yangon Institute of Economics,
Yangon University and National Defence College, Honorary Professor at
the University of British Columbia, in Vancouver, Canada and a Member
of the Governing Board at the UNESCO-India Mahatma Gandhi Institute
of Education for Peace and Sustainable Development in New Delhi, India.
He was also a former Economic Advisor to President U Thein Sein and
Vice-Chairman of the President’s National Economic and Social Advisory
Council. Prof. Aung Tun Thet holds a B.Com. from Yangon University, a
Post-graduate Diploma in Management Studies from the University of
Brighton, an M.Sc. in Operations Research from the University of Warwick,
and a Ph.D. in Management Sciences from the University of Marburg. In
2015 he was also awarded a D.Litt (Honoris Causa) from Yangon Institute of
Economics. He was appointed Non-Executive Director of FMI in December
2013, and is the Chairman of the Nominating Committee.

ygarmu©a'gufwmatmifxGef;ouf onf jynfaxmifpkjrefrmEdkifiH ukefonfrsm;ESifh pufrI
vufrIvkyfief;½Sifrsm;toif;\ tBuHay;yk*¾dKvf? &efukefpD;yGm;a&;wuúodkvf? &efukef
wuúodkvfESifhEdkifiHawmf umuG,fa&;wuúodkvfwdkYwGif {nfhygarmu©? uae'gEdkifiH
Aeful;Am;NrdKU University of British Columbia wGif *kPfxl;aqmifygarmu©ESifh
tdE´d,EdkifiH? e,l;a'vDNrdKU½dS UNESCO-India Mahatma Gandhi Institute of
Education for Peace and Sustainable Development \ tkyfcsKyfa&;bkwftzGJU
0ifwm0efrsm;tm; xrf;aqmifvsuf½dSygonf/ olonf ,cifor®w OD;odef;pdef \
pD;yGm;a&;tBuHay;yk*¾dKvfESifh or®w\ trsdK;om;pD;yGm;a&;ESifh vlrIa&;tBuHay;aumifpD
'kwd,Ouú|vnf; jzpfcJhygonf/ ygarmu©a'gufwmatmifxGef;ouf onf &efukef
wuúodkvfrS 0gPdZÆbGJU? Brighton wuúodkvfrS bGJUvGefpDrHcefYcGJa&;'DyvdkrmbGJU?
University of Warwick rS r[modyÜHbGJU (vkyfief;okawoe) ESifh University of
Manchester rS pDrHcefYcGJa&;odyÜHbmom&yfjzifh a'gufwmbGJUwdkYudk &½dSxm;oljzpfyg
onf/ 2015 ckESpfwGif &efukefpD;yGm;a&;wuúodkvfrS *kPfxl;aqmifyg&*lbGJUudk csD;jr§ifh
jcif; cHcJh&ygonf/ 2013 ckESpf? 'DZifbmvwGif FMI ukrÜPD\ 'g½dkufwmtjzpf
cefYtyfjcif;cH&NyD; Nominating Committee \ Ouú| jzpfygonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Win Thin
Non-Executive Director

Kyi Aye
Non-Executive Director

Win Thin is a professional accountant and serves as a member of the Myanmar
Accountancy Council and Steering Committee member of the Myanmar Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is currently the Chairman of Win Thin &
Associates, the firm he set up 58 years ago which is the technical partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Myanmar. He has been an Advisor to the Board of
FMI since 1992, and became a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Audit Committee in May 2015.

OD;0if;oif onf vufrSwf&jynfolUpm&if;udkifwpfOD;jzpfNyD; jrefrmEdkifiHpm&if;aumifpD
tzGJU0ifjzpfNyD;vQif jrefrmEdkifiHvufrSwf&jynfolUpm&if;udkifrsm;toif;\ OD;aqmifem,
u0if jzpfygonf/ vuf½SdtcsdefwGif olonf PricewaterhouseCoopers \ jrefrm
EdkifiHtwGuf Technical Partner ½Hk;jzpfaom vGefcJhaom (58)ESpfausmfu olxlaxmif
cJhonfh 0if;oifpm&if;udkifpm&if;ppftzGJU\ OD;aqmifem,utjzpf aqmif½Gufvsuf
½Sdygonf/ olonf FMI ukrÜPD\ tBuHay;tzGJU0iftjzpf 1992 ckESpfrS pwif
aqmif½GufcJhNyD; 2015 ckESpf? arvwGif 'g½dkufwmtzGJU0if ESifh Audit Committee \
Ouú| jzpfvmcJhygonf/

Kyi Aye is a former Governor of the Central Bank of Myanmar (19921998). He began his career in banking in 1960 and transferred to the
Central Bank of Myanmar in 1965. In his 25 years at the Central Bank
of Myanmar, he held many positions including Chief Accountant and
Executive Director. In 1991, he was appointed Managing Director of
Myanmar Economic Bank. In 1992, he became Governor of the Central
Bank of Myanmar and retired in 1998.
Kyi Aye holds B.Com and B.L degrees from Yangon University and a
Diploma in World Banking and Finance from the Economic Institute in
Boulder, Colorado. He is also a Certified Public Accountant. Kyi Aye joined
Yoma Bank in 2000 as the Special Counsel to the Chairman of Yoma Bank.
He was appointed Non-Executive Director of FMI in October 2015 and is
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

OD;Munfat; onf ,cifjrefrmEdkifiHawmfA[dkbPfOuú| (1992-1998) jzpfygonf/
olonf 1960 ckESpfrS pwifí bPfvkyfief;e,fy,fodkY 0ifa&mufcJhjyD; 1965 ckESpf
wGif jrefrmEdkifiHawmfA[dkbPfodkY ajymif;a½TUwm0ef xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ jrefrmEdkifiH
awmfA[dkbPfü (25)ESpf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJh&mwGif pm&if;udkifcsKyfESifh trIaqmif
'g½kdufwmtygt0if &mxl;tqifhqifhudk xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ 1991 ckESpfwGif jrefrmh
pD;yGm;a&;bPf\ OD;aqmifñTefMum;a&;rSL;tjzpf cefYtyfwm0efay;jcif; cH&ygonf/
1992 ckESpfü jrefrmEdkifiHawmfA[dkbPfOuú|wm0efudk xrf;aqmifcJhum 1998 ckESpf
wGif EdkifiHhwm0efrS tjidrf;pm;,lcJhygonf/
OD;Munfat;onf &efukefwuúodkvfrS 0gPdZÆbGJUESifh Oya'bGJUrsm;tjyif Economic
urÇmYbPfvkyfief;ESifh b@ma&;qdkif&m 'Dyvdkrmudk
&½Sdxm;ol jzpfygonf/ olonf vufrSwf&pm&if;udkifwpfOD;vnf; jzpfygonf/
½kd;rbPfodkY 2000 jynfhESpfwGif 0ifa&mufcJhjyD; ½kd;rbPfOuú|\ txl;tBuHay;tjzpf
wm0ef xrf;aqmifvsuf ½Sdygonf/ olonf 2015 ckESpf? atmufwdkbmvwGif FMI
ukrÜPD\'g½kdufwmtjzpf cefYtyfjcif;cH&jyD; Remuneration Committee \ Ouú|
jzpfygonf/
Institute, Boulder, Colorado rS
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Advisors

Maung Maung Soe Tint
Lead Advisor

Maung Maung Soe Tint started his career as the youngest Head Master
of State High School in Myanmar in 1953. He served as a diplomat in
the Soviet Union, United Kingdom and Australia for 15 years and retired
as the Myanmar Ambassador to Australia and New Zealand in 1989.
After retiring, he became actively involved in religious affairs, education,
health, socio-economic work, and literature. He is the Chairman of the
Border Areas Development Association and MNGO – Contingency Plan
Steering Committee. He is also the author of eight books. He has served
as Advisor to the Board of FMI since 1998 and became the Lead Advisor
in October, 2010.

OD;armifarmifpdk;wifh onf jrefrmEdkifiH½Sd txufwef;ausmif;tkyfq&mBuD;rsm;xJwGif
toufti,fqHk; ausmif;tkyfq&mBuD;tjzpf 1953 ckESpfrSpí EdkifiHhwm0efudk xrf;aqmif
cJhonf/ jynfywGif (15)ESpfwmrQ qdkAD,ufjynfaxmifpk? ,lauEdkifiH? MopaMw;vsEdkifiH
wdkYwGif oHwreftjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhonf/ 1989 ckESpfwGif MopaMw;vsESifh
e,l;ZDvefEdkifiHqdkif&m oHtrwfBuD;tjzpfrS tNidrf;pm;,lcJhNyD;aemuf? EdkifiHawmftwGuf
bmoma&;? ynma&;? usef;rma&;? pD;yGm;a&;ESifhpmaya&;&m vkyfief;rsm;udk aqmif½Guf
vsuf½Sdonf/ jrefrmEdkifiHe,fpyfa'o zGHUNzdK;a&;toif; Ouú|ESifh jrefrmtef*sDtdkrsm;\
ta&;ay:wHkYjyefrIpDrHcsuftzGJU OD;aqmifaumfrwDOuú|tjzpf aqmif½Gufvsuf½Sdonf/
pma&;q&mtaejzifh pmtkyf(8)tkyfudk a&;om;xkwfa0cJhNyD;jzpfonf/ olonf FMI
ukrÜPD\ tBuHay;tzGJU0iftjzpf 1998 ckESpfrSpwifí wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhNyD;? 2010
jynfhESpf? atmufwkdbmvwGif OD;aqmiftBuHay;yk*¾dKvftjzpf cefYtyfjcif;cHcJh&ygonf/

Martin Pun
Advisor

Martin Pun was born in Myanmar and was educated in Yangon and
Beijing. He spent twelve years in China and Hong Kong, and eighteen
years in Hawaii, USA. He has worked in various sectors throughout his
career, with his last assignment in the USA being the Managing Partner
of the Hawaii Branch for New York Life Insurance Co. He joined SPA in
1994 as Chief Executive Officer and currently serves as Group Director of
Corporate Social Responsibility, Non-Executive Vice-Chairman of SPA and
Advisor to the Board of FMI.
Mr. Martin Pun tm;

&efukefNrdKUwGif arG;zGm;cJhNyD;? &efukefNrdKUESifh ayusif;NrdKUrsm;wGif
ynmoif,lcJhygonf/ olonf w½kwfjynfESifh a[mifaumifwdkYwGif (12)ESpfMumESifh tar
&duefEdkifiH [m0dkif&DwGif (18)ESpfMum tvkyfvkyfudkifcJhygonf/ olonf [dkw,fvkyfief;
tygt0if vkyfief;aygif;pHkvkyfudkifcJhNyD;? tar&duefEdkifiH New York Life Insurance
ukrÜPD? [m0dkif&DuRef;½Hk;cGJ\ Managing Partner tjzpf vkyfudkifcJhonf/ 1994 ckESpfwGif
SPA ukrÜPD\ trIaqmift&m½SdcsKyftjzpf 0ifa&mufwm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ vuf
½SdtcsdefwGif olonf ukrÜPDvlrIa&;qdkif&mwm0ef,lrI Group Director, SPA ukrÜPD
\ 'k-Ouú|ESifh FMI ukrÜPD\ tBuHay;tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf½Sdygonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Senior
Executives
Corporate Executives

Jeremy Rathjen

Jeremy Rathjen is the General Manager of FMI. He has extensive private
sector experience in Myanmar, including stints as an entrepreneur in the
garment and hospitality industries. Before joining the SPA group in 2014,
Jeremy was Vice President at Myanmar consulting firm Thura Swiss,
responsible for its equity research and capital markets business. His
financial analysis has been featured in numerous local and international
publications including NBC News, IFLR, The Diplomat, Nikkei Asian
Review, The Myanmar Times, and others. A fluent Myanmar speaker,
Jeremy holds a BA from the University of Massachusetts.
Jeremy Rathjen onf FMI

ukrÜPD\ taxGaxGrefae*smjzpfonf/ olonf txnf
vkyfief;ESifh[dkw,fvkyfief;rsm;wGif pD;yGm;a&;pGrf;aqmif½SifwpfOD;uJhodkY wm0efrsm;tyg
t0if jrefrmEkdifiHü yk*¾vdupD;yGm;a&;u@tawGUtBuHKrsm;pGm½dSolwpfOD; jzpfonf/
2014 ckESpfwGif SPA Group odkY 0ifa&mufwm0efrxrf;aqmifrD jrefrmEdkifiH twdkif
tyifcHukrÜPD Thura Swiss ü ukrÜPD\½S,f,m&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrI okawoejyKjcif;ESifh
&if;ESD;jr§KyfESHrIaps;uGuf pD;yGm;a&;vkyfief;rsm;twGuf 'kwd,Ouú|wm0ef xrf;aqmif
cJhygonf/ ol\b@ma&;qdkif&m avhvmoHk;oyfcsuftm; NBC News, IFLR, The
Diplomat, Nikkei Asian Review, The Myanmar Times ESifh tjcm;aom pmapmif
rsm;tygt0if jynfwGif;jynfypme,fZif;rsm;pGmwGif azmfjyjcif;cH&ygonf/ jrefrmpum;
uRrf;usifpGmajymqdkEdkifol Jeremy onf Massachusetts wuúodkvfrS 0dZÆmbGJU (B.A)
&½Sdxm;ol jzpfygonf/

One of our core strengths is our human capital,
and we will continue to invest in recruiting and
retaining the top talent in Myanmar to ensure
continued success in a changing business
environment.
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Maw Thein is a retired naval officer. While in the Navy, he served
on naval vessels and on-shore establishments, including the offices
of the Commander-in-Chief (Navy) and Quarter Master General, in
various capacities. He retired from the service in 2008 with the rank of
Commodore.

Maw Thein

Maw Thein joined the SPA Group in 2012 as COO of FMI Flotilla Co.,
Ltd. and is concurrently appointed as a Senior Director in the Group’s
Government Relations Department.

OD;armfodrf; onf tNidrf;pm;a&wyft&m½dSwpfOD;jzpfonf/ olonf wyfrawmf(a&)wGif
wm0efxrf;aqmifpOf ppfa&,mOfrsm;ESifh umuG,fa&;OD;pD;csKyf½Hk;(a&)? ppfaxmufcsKyf½Hk;
tygt0if urf;ajcpdkufwyfpcef;rsm;wGif wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ AdkvfrSL;csKyftqifh
jzifh 2008 ckESpfwGif wyfrawmfwGifwm0efxrf;aqmifjcif;rS tNidrf;pm;,lcJhygonf/
OD;armfodrf; onf 2012 ckESpfwGif FMI Flotilla Co., Ltd. \ vkyfief;qdkif&mtrIaqmif
t&m½dScsKyftjzpf pwif0ifa&mufwm0efxrf;aqmifcJhNyD; ukrÜPDtkyfpk tpdk;&qufqHa&;
Xme\ tBuD;wef;'g½dkufwmtjzpfvnf; wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf½dSonf/

Kyi Aye is a former government official and has served in the armed
forces, Ministry of Industry and Ministry of Rail Transportation for over
40 years. He is also a former member of the Board of Directors of FMI,
where he served as a representative of the Central Railways Welfare
Society from 1997-2006.

Kyi Aye

He retired from Myanma Railways as General Manager in January 2013
and joined the SPA Group in July of the same year. He currently serves
as a Senior Director in the Group’s Government Relations Department.

OD;Munfat; onf ,ciftpdk;&t&m½dSwpfOD;jzpfNyD; wyfrawmf? trSwf(2)pufrI0efBuD;
XmeESifh &xm;ydkYaqmifa&;0efBuD;XmewdkYwGif ESpfaygif;(40)ausmf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhol
jzpfygonf/ olonf 1997 ckESpfrS 2006 ckESpftxd A[dk&xm;ydkYaqmifa&; oufom
acsmifcsda&;toif; udk,fpm;vS,ftaejzifh FMI 'g½dkufwmtzGJUwGif wm0efxrf;aqmif
cJhonfh 'g½dkufwma[mif;wpfOD;vnf; jzpfygonf/
2013 ckESpf? Zefe0g&DvwGif taxGaxGrefae*sm&mxl;jzifh jrefrmhrD;&xm;rS tNidrf;pm;
,lcJhNyD; xdkESpfZlvdkifvwGif SPA Group ü pwifwm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ vuf½dSwGif
ukrÜPDtkyfpk tpdk;&qufqHa&;Xme\ tBuD;wef;'g½dkufwmtjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmif
vsuf½dSonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Financial Services

Hal Bosher

Hal Bosher is Advisor to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of
Yoma Bank based in Yangon. Prior to joining Yoma Bank, Mr. Bosher spent
10 years with the World Bank Group at both the International Finance
Corporation (IFC) and the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency
(MIGA). Most recently, Mr. Bosher was MIGA's Regional Representative
for Northern Asia based in Hong Kong. While at MIGA, he founded the
Agency's private equity business supporting the development of frontier
market funds. Prior to joining the World Bank, Mr. Bosher worked for
Price Waterhouse Coopers (PwC), McKinsey & Co., and INSEAD Business
School. Mr. Bosher has extensive experience in banking operations and
SME finance.
A Canadian national, Mr. Bosher holds a BA in economics and political
science from McGill University in Montreal; an MA in International
Finance and Southeast Asian Studies from the John Hopkins School of
Advanced International Studies (SAIS) in Washington, DC; and an MBA
from IESE Business School in Spain.
Hal Bosher onf

&efukeftajcpdkuf ½dk;rbPf Ouú|\tBuHay;yk*¾dKvfESifh trIaqmif
t&m½SdcsKyf jzpfygonf/ ½dk;rbPfodkYr0ifa&mufrD olonf urÇmhbPf\ International
Finance Corporation (IFC) ESifh Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency
(MIGA) wdkYwGif (10)ESpf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ rMumao;rDu Mr. Bosher
onf a[mifaumiftajcpdkuf MIGA \ tm½Sajrmufydkif;a'oqdkif&m udk,fpm;vS,f
jzpfygonf/ MIGA wGif wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhpOf olonf Frontier Market Funds
zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;udk taxmuftuljyKonfh MIGA \ Private Equity pD;yGm;a&;
wpf&yfudk xlaxmifcJhygonf/ urÇmYbPfodkY r0ifa&mufrD olonf Price Waterhouse
Coopers (PwC)? McKinsey & Co., ESifh INSEAD Business School wdkYwGif tvkyf
vkyfudkifcJhNyD;? bPfvkyfief;ESifh SME Finance vkyfief;wdkYwGiftawGUtBuHKrsm;pGm½Sdol
wpfOD; jzpfygonf/
Mr. Bosher onf uae'gEdkifiHom;wpfOD;jzpfNyD;? Montreal ½Sd McGill University rS
pD;yGm;a&;ESifh EdkifiHa&;odyÜHbGJU? 0g½Sifwef'DpD½Sd Johns Hopkins School of Advanced
International Studies (SAIS) rS EdkifiHwumb@ma&;ESifh ta½SUawmiftm½Sqdkif&m
r[m0dZÆmbGJUESifh pydefEkdifiH? IESE Business School rS MBA bGJUwdkYudk &½Sdxm;ygonf/
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Kyaw Soe Lin

Kyaw Soe Lin graduated from Yangon University with a B.Sc. (Hons.) in Physics
and also holds a Master of Information Science degree from the University of
Computer Studies, Yangon. He has more than 18 years of experience in the
IT sector, including programming, custom software applications, database
management, telecommunications, networking and project management. He
also has extensive experience in banking operations, hospital management
systems and other commercial sectors. Kyaw Soe Lin was one of the founding
members of Yoma Bank’s IT department and currently serves as Chief
Technology Officer and a member of the Executive Committee.

OD;ausmfpdk;vif; onf &efukefwuúodkvfrS odyÜHbGJU(*kPfxl;) ½lyaA'bmom&yfbGJU&wpfOD;
jzpfNyD; &efukefuGefysLwmwuúodkvfrS owif;jyefMum;a&;bmom&yfjzifh r[modyÜHbJGUudk
vnf; &½dSxm;oljzpfygonf/ olonf Custom Software Applications, Database
Management, Telecommunications, Networking ESifh Project Management
tygt0if qufoG,fa&;enf;ynm tdkifwDu@wGif (18)ESpfausmfMum tawGUtBuHK
½dSol jzpfygonf/ olonf bPfvkyfief;rsm;? [dkw,fpDrHcefYcGJrIvkyfief;rsm;ESifh tjcm;
pD;yGm;a&;u@rsm;wGif tawGUtBuHKrsm;pGm½dSolvnf;jzpfygonf/ OD;ausmfpdk;vif; onf
½dk;rbPftdkifwD Xmewnfaxmifol tzGJU0ifwpfOD;jzpfNyD; vuf½dSwGif¤if;Xme\ enf;
ynmqdkif&mt&m½dScsKyfESifh tvkyftrIaqmifaumfrwDtzGJU0iftjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmif
vsuf ½dSygonf/

Aye Aye Soe

Aye Aye Soe graduated from the Institute of Economics (Yangon) in 1991 with
a Bachelor’s of Commerce in Banking, and subsequently interned at many
institutions in the banking industry from 1991-1993 including the Myanmar
Central Bank, Myanmar Foreign Trade Bank, Myanmar Economic Bank and
others. She became a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) in 1993 and joined
First Private Bank as Chief Accountant in 1994. In 1999, she joined Yoma Bank
as Branch Manager, and in the 15 years since has steadily risen to her present
position as Executive Director.

a':at;at;pdk; onf 1991 ckESpfwGif &efukefpD;yGm;a&;wuúodkvfrS bPfvkyfief; bmom
&yfjzifh 0gPdZÆbGJU &½dSxm;ygonf/ xdkYaemuf jrefrmEdkifiHawmf A[dkbPf? jrefrmhEdkifiHjcm;
ukefoG,frIbPf? jrefrmhpD;yGm;a&;bPfESifh tjcm;bPfrsm;tygt0if bPfvkyfief;½dS
tzGJUtpnf;rsm;wGif 1991 ckESpfrS 1993 ckESpfxd wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ olr
onf 1993 ckESpfwGif vufrSwf&pm&if;udkifjzpfvmNyD;aemuf 1994 ckESpfwGif yxr
yk*¾vdubPfü pm&if;udkifcsKyfwm0ef xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ 1999 ckESpfwGif bPfcGJ
refae*smtjzpf ½dk;rbPfodkY 0ifa&mufwm0efxrf;aqmifcJhonf/ xdktcsdefrSpí (15)
ESpfMumumvtwGif; tqifhqifh&mxl;wdk;jr§ifhjcif;cH&NyD; ,ckvuf½dS trIaqmif'g½dkufwm
&mxl;udk &½dScJhygonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Zarchi Tin

Zarchi Tin is an Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee at Yoma Bank. She has over 15 years of experience in
international banking and central bank operations, after having worked
at BNP Paribas in London and the Central Bank of Canada in Ottawa.
She has also authored contributions for the IMF’s foreign reserves
management guidelines and for an OECD publication on sovereign risk
management practices. Zarchi is a Myanmar national with exposure to a
wealth of different cultures after having lived and studied in the United
Kingdom, Canada, France, Belgium, the United States, Indonesia and Hong
Kong. She holds an MBA in Finance from Canada and a BA in Economics
from Belgium. She has also obtained the Financial Risk Manager (FRM)
designation from the Global Association of Risk Professionals (GARP).

a':Zmjcnfwif onf ½dk;rbPfü trIaqmif'g½dkufwmESifh trIaqmifaumfrwDtzGJU0if
wpfOD; jzpfygonf/ olronf vef'efNrdKU½dS BNP Paribas ESifh atmhw0gNrdKU½dS uae'g
A[dkbPf (Central Bank of Canada) wdkYwGif wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhNyD;aemuf EkdifiHwum
ESifh A[kdbPfvkyfief;rsm;wGif(15)ESpfausmfMum tawGUtBuHK½dSoljzpfygonf/ olronf
IMF \ EdkifiHjcm;t&HaiG pDrHcefYcGJrIvrf;ñTefcsufrsm;ESifh Sovereign Risk Management
vkyfxHk;vkyfenf;ESifhywfoufonfh OECD xkwfpmapmifwdkYwGif yg0ifa&;om;cJhygonf/
a':Zmjcnfwif onf NAdwdefEdkifiH? uae'gEdkifiH? jyifopfEdkifiH? b,fvf*sD,HEdkifiH? tar&d
uefjynfaxmifpk? tif'dkeD;½Sm;EdkifiHESifh a[mifaumifEdkifiHwdkYwGif aexdkifynmoifMum;cJh
onfhtwGuf ,Ofaus;rItrsdK;rsdK;wGif tawGUtBuHK<u,f0onfh jrefrmEdkifiHom;wpfOD; jzpf
ygonf/ olronf uae'gEkdifiHrS b@ma&;bmom&yfjzifh pD;yGm;a&;qdkif&mpDrHcefYcGJa&;
r[mbGJU (MBA) ESifh b,fvf*sD,HEkdifiHrS pD;yGm;a&;bmom&yfjzifh 0dZÆmbGJU(B.A) udk &½dS
xm;ygonf/ olronf Global Association of Risk Professionals (GARP) rS
Financial Risk Manager &mxl;udkvnf; &½dSxm;ygonf/

Bo Lay

Bo Lay was born in Yangon and immigrated to the United States in 1975
where he settled in New York City. He graduated from the State University
of New York at Buffalo where he earned his BA with a double major in
Economics and Political Science. He also holds an MBA in Accounting
and Finance from St. John's University. Bo has a wealth of experience in
finance and banking, having worked in financial reporting and analysis
in many major financial and banking institutions in New York City, both
as fulltime staff and consultant. He joined Yoma Bank in 2014 as Chief
Auditor.

OD;bdkav; onf &efukefNrdKUwGifarG;zGm;cJhNyD; 1975 ckESpfwGif tar&duefjynfaxmifpkodkY
ajymif;a½TUoGm;cJhNyD; e,la,mufNrdKUwGif tajccsaexdkifcJhygonf/ olonf Buffalo NrdKU½dS
State University of New York rS 0dZÆmbGJUudk pD;yGm;a&;ESifh EdkifiHa&;odyÜHbmom&yfESpfck
wdkYjzifh &½dScJhygonf/ ¤if;onf St. John's University rS aiGpm&if;ESifhb@ma&;
bmom&yfjzifh pD;yGm;a&;pDrHcefYcGJrIr[mbGJUudkvnf; &½dSxm;ygonf/ OD;bdkav; onf
e,l;a,mufNrdKU½dS t"duaiGaMu;ESifh bPfvkyfief;tzGJUtpnf;rsm;pGmwGif tcsdefjynfh
0efxrf;ESifh twdkifyifcHtjzpf b@ma&;tpD&ifcHpma&;om;jcif;ESifh qef;ppfoHk;oyfcsuf
wdkYtm; vkyfudkifcJhjcif;aMumifh aiGaMu;ESifhbPfvkyfief;wGif tawGUtBuHKrsm;pGm&½dSxm;ol
jzpfygonf/ 2014 ckESpf? azazmf0g&DvwGif pm&if;ppfcsKyftjzpf ½dk;rbPfü 0ifa&muf
wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/
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Khin Mu Mu Myint

Khin Mu Mu Myint graduated from Baruch College, New York with a BA
in Accounting and is also a CPA holder. She is an accomplished financial
professional with over 15 years of experience in Corporate Finance,
Accounting and Management in various sectors including investment
banking, financial institutions and the secondary mortgage market.
During her career Khin has worked with many Fortune 500 companies and
prominent names on Wall Street including J.P. Morgan, Deloitte, Prudential
Insurance, Freddie Mac and Citigroup. Her areas of expertise are Capital
Markets & Derivatives, Financial & Management Reporting, Accounting
Procedures and Process Improvement & Optimization. Khin joined Yoma
Bank in late 2013 as Head of Corporate and International Banking.

a':cifrrl jl rifh onf e,l;a,mufNrdKU Baruch aumvdyrf S pm&if;tif;bmom&yfjzifh 0dZmÆ bGUJ
S m;NyD; vufrw
S &f pm&if;udik f (CPA) wpfO;D vnf;jzpfygonf/ olronf &if;ES;D
(B.A) &½dx
jr§KyfErHS b
I Pfvyk if ef;? b@ma&;tzGUJ tpnf;rsm;ESihf wpfqifch t
H aygifpmcsKyfaps;uGuf vkyif ef;
tygt0if vkyif ef;e,fy,frsKd ;pHw
k iG f ukrP
Ü b
D @ma&;? pm&if;ppfEiS phf rD cH efcY aJG &; wdw
Yk iG f (15)
ESpaf usmf vkyif ef;tawGUtBuHK½daS om b@ma&;qdik &f muRr;f usio
f w
l pfO;D jzpfygonf/ olr
\ vkyif ef;oufwrf;umvtwGi;f J.P. Morgan, Deloitte, Prudential Insurance,
Freddie Mac ESihf Citigroup tygt0ifemrnfausmf Wall Street ESihf Fortune 500
ukrP
Ü rD sm;pGmwdw
Yk iG f wm0efxrf;aqmifcyhJ gonf/ olr\ uRr;f usirf eI ,fy,frsm;rSm t&if;
aiGaMu;aps;uGuEf iS hf aiGaMu;tmrcHpmcsKyfvyk if ef;? b@ma&;ESiphf rD cH efcY rJG t
I pD&ifcpH ma&;
om;jcif;? pm&if;tif;vkyx
f ;kH vkyef nf;? Process Improvement ESihf Optimization wdYk
jzpfygonf/ a':cifrrl jl rifh onf 2013 ckEpS f aESmif;ydik ;f wGif ukrP
Ü ED iS hf Ekid if w
H umqdik &f m
bPfvyk if ef;XmerSL;tjzpf ½d;k rbPfü 0ifa&mufwm0efxrf;aqmifcyhJ gonf/

Joselito Rivera

Joselito Rivera joined Yoma Bank as Head of Finance and Treasury in
November 2014, bringing with him over 15 years of accounting, finance,
and audit experience. He was most recently the Chief Financial Officer
for the Navy Federal Financial Group (a subsidiary of the Navy Federal
Credit Union) in the Washington DC area. He had previously held financial
controllership positions at Citigroup, Morgan Stanley, Barclays Capital,
and Lehman Brothers. He had also worked in financial services audit at
KPMG, LLP. Mr. Rivera graduated from Baruch College in New York with
a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration majoring in Accounting.
He is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) licensed in New York and holds
a Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) designation.
Joselito Rivera onf aiGpm&if;vkyfief;? b@ma&;ESifh pm&if;ppfvkyfief;rsm;wGif (15)
ESpfausmf tawGUtBuHK½dSoljzpfNyD; 2014 ckESpf? Edk0ifbmvwGif b@ma&;ESifhaiGwdkuf
tBuD;tuJtjzpf ½dk;rbPfodkY 0ifa&mufcJhygonf/ rsm;rMumrDuyifolonf 0g½Sifwef
'DpDa'o½dS Navy Federal Financial Group (the Navy Federal Credit Union \
ukrÜPDcGJ) wGif Chief Financial Officer wm0ef,lcJholjzpfonf/ ,if;rwdkifrD olonf
Citigroup, Morgan Stanley, Barclays Capital ESifh Lehman Brothers ukrÜPD
rsm;wGif b@ma&;qdkif&mvkyfief;rsm; xdef;odrf;BuD;MuyfrIwm0efudk xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/
olonf KPMG, LLP wGifvnf; b@ma&;qdkif&m0efaqmifrI vkyfief;pm&if;ppfwm0ef
xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ Mr. Rivera onf e,l;a,mufNrdKU Baruch College rS pD;yGm;a&;
qdkif&m pDrHcefYcGJa&;bGJUtm; pm&if;tif;t"dubmom&yfjzifh &½dSxm;oljzpfygonf/
olonf e,l;a,mufNrdKUü vufrSwf&pm&if;udkifwpfOD;jzpfNyD; Chartered Global
Management Accountant (CGMA) &mxl;udkvnf; &½dSxm;oljzpfygonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Ohmmar Sein

Ohmmar Sein holds a B.Econ (MS) degree from the Institute of Economics. She
joined the Research and Training Department of the Central Bank of Myanmar
as a Statistical Assistant and worked there for over 38 years until her retirement.
While working at the Central Bank, she was seconded to serve as Senior Advisor
to the Executive Director of the SEAV Group at the IMF for a two year term
(1996-1998). She has written several research papers, given lectures at various
institutions including the Institute of Economics and the National Defense
College, and has represented the Central Bank at local and international
conferences and forums. She was also a member of the drafting committee that
worked on the 2002 Control of Money Laundering Law. She joined Yoma Bank in
September 2014 and currently serves as Advisor and Chief Compliance Officer.

a':Or®mpdef onf pD;yGm;a&;wuúodkvfrS pD;yGm;a&;bJGU&½dSxm;oljzpfonf/ olronf
jrefrmEkdifiHawmfA[dkbPf? okawoeESifh avhusifha&;XmeodkY pm&if;tif;vufaxmuf
&mxl;jzifh 0ifa&mufí tNidrf;pm;,lcsdeftxd (38)ESpfMum wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/
A[dkbPfü wm0efxrf;aqmifpOf IMF ½dS SEAV Group trIaqmif'g½dkufwm\ tBuD;
wef;tBuHay;tjzpf (2)ESpfoufwrf; (1996-1998) Mum vTJajymif;trIxrf;aqmif
cJhygonf/ olronf okawoepmwrf;rsm;a&;om;jyKpkcJhNyD; pD;yGm;a&;wuúodkvfESifh EdkifiH
awmfumuG,fa&;wuúodkvftygt0if tzGJUtpnf;rsdK;rsdK;ü a[majymydkYcscJhygonf/ xdkY
tjyif jynfwGif;ESifh EdkifiHwumtpnf;ta0;rsm;ESifhzdk&rfrsm;wGif A[dkbPfudkudk,fpm;jyK
wufa&mufcJhygonf/ olronf 2002 ckESpf aiGaMu;c0gcsrIxdef;csKyfa&; Oya'a&;qGJ
&mwGif Oya'rlMurf;a&;qGJa&;aumfrwD0ifwpfOD; jzpfcJhygonf/ 2014 ckESpf? pufwif
bmvwGif ½dk;rbPfü 0ifa&mufwm0efxrf;aqmifcJhNyD; vuf½dStcsdefü tBuHay;ESifh
Chief Compliance Officer tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf½dSygonf/

Tiffany Win

Tiffany Win was born and raised in Yangon and graduated with a Bachelor
of Science in Mathematics from Yangon University. She later immigrated to
Canada and furthered her studies in Toronto, graduating with a Bachelor's
Degree in Accounting (Honours) from York University. She is currently a
Certified Management Accountant (CMA) candidate. Tiffany joined Yoma
Bank in 2014 and currently serves as Head of Credit Risk. Prior to this role
she worked as a Deputy General Manager in the Credit and Risk Department
at KBZ Bank. In a career spanning more than 20 years, she has also held
various positions in top financial institutions in Canada, including Toronto
Dominion Bank, Laurentian Bank of Canada and Royal Bank of Canada.
Tiffany Win onf &efukefNrdKUwGif arG;zGm;BuD;jyif;cJholjzpfNyD; &efukefwuúodkvfrS ocsFm
bmom&yfjzifh odyÜHbGJU&½dScJhygonf/ xdkYaemuf uae'godkY ajymif;a½TUcJhNyD; wdk&efwdkNrdKUwGif
ynmqufvufoifMum;cJh&m York University rS pm&if;tif;bmom&yf (*kPfxl;)
jzifh bGJU&½dScJhygonf/ vuf½dStcsdefwGif vufrSwf&pDrHcefYcGJa&;pm&if;udkif (CMA) bGJU
oifwef;ol jzpfygonf/ 2014 ckESpfwGif Tiffany Win onf ½dk;rbPfwGif 0ifa&muf
wm0efxrf;aqmifcJh&m vuf½dStcsdefwGif Credit Risk XmerSL;tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmif
vsuf½dSygonf/ olronf ,ckwm0efxrf;aqmifjcif;rwdkifrDu uarÇmZbPfü Credit
and Risk Department wGif 'kwd,taxGaxGrefae*smtjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmif cJhyg
onf/ ESpfaygif;(20)ausmfMum vkyfief;oufwrf;wpfavQmufwGif olronf Toronto
Dominion Bank ? Laurentian Bank of Canada ESifh Royal Bank of Canada
tygt0if uae'gEdkifiH½dS xdyfwef;aiGaMu;tzGJUtpnf;rsm;ü &mxl;trsdK;rsdK;wGif wm0ef
xrf;aqmifcJholjzpfonf/

63

64

Annual Report 2015-2016

Real Estate

Steven Nelson

Steven Nelson was born and educated in Australia where he obtained his TAFE
(Technical And Further Education) building diploma. He started his career in
1971 as a building foreman and clerk of works with an established Sydneybased construction and development company in Australia. In his years spent
in the construction industry, Steven garnered immense experience in the areas
of civil engineering, site management, quantity survey, value engineering,
architectural design, infrastructure development and project management. In
March 1995, he joined SPA Project Management as a Construction Manager for
the Sand-River Golf Course development in Shenzhen, China. In August 1997,
he was appointed Project Manager for Pun Hlaing Golf Estate. In February
2001, Steven was appointed Managing Director of SPA Project Management as
well as Project Director of Pun Hlaing Golf Estate. He has been the Managing
Director of Lion Century Properties Ltd and SPA Project Management Pte Ltd
since January 2007.
Australia EdkifiHwGifarG;zGm;í ,if;EdkifiHüyif ynmoifMum;cJhonfh Steven Nelson onf
taqmuftODqdkif&m 'DyvkdrmbGJU TAFE (Technical And Further Education) udk &½dS
xm;oljzpfonf/ Australia EdkifiH½dS Sydney NrdKUwGif tajcpdkufwnfaxmifxm;onfh

aqmufvkyfa&;ESifh tdrf&mwnfaqmufa&; ukrÜPDwpfckwGif aqmufvkyfa&;zkdrifESifh
pma&;tjzpf 1971 ckESpfwGif ¤if;\toufarG;0rf;ausmif;vkyfudkifrIudk pwifcJhygonf/
tqdkyg wnfaqmufa&;vkyfief;wGif tcsdeftawmfMum vkyfudkifcJhNyD;csdefwGif Steven
onf aqmufvkyfa&;NrdKUjytif*sifeD,mvkyfief;? vkyfief;cGifpDrHcefYcGJrI? aqmufvkyfa&;
ypönf;rsm;ESifh ukefusp&dwfcefYrSef;jcif;? tif*sifeD,mqdkif&mwGufcsufrI? Adokum'DZdkif;?
tajccHtaqmufttHk zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;ESifh pDrHudef;pDrHcefYcGJrIe,fy,frsm;wGif tawGU
tBuHKrsm;pGm qnf;yl;&½dScJhol jzpfonf/ 1995 ckESpf rwfvwGif olonf SPA Project
Management odkY 0ifa&mufí w½kwfEdkifiH? Shenzhen a'o½dS Sand-River Golf
Course wnfaqmufa&;vkyfief;wGif aqmufvkyfa&;refae*smtjzpf vkyfudkifcJhygonf/
1997 ckESpf Mo*kwfvwGif ¤if;tm; Pun Hlaing Golf Estate twGuf pDrHudef;refae*sm
tjzpf cefYtyfwm0efay;cJhygonf/ 2001 ckESpf? azazmf0g&DvwGif Steven tm; SPA
Project Managerment \ Managing Director ESifh Pun Hlaing Golf Estate
Project Director tjzpf cefYtyfcJhygonf/ 2007 ckESpf? Zefe0g&DvrSpí olonf
Lion Century Properties Ltd. \ Managing Director ESifh SPA Project
Management Pte Ltd. \ Managing Director wm0eaqmif½GufcJYol jzpfygonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Le’ Le’ Win is a career hotelier. She joined the SPA/FMI Group in 1993 and
currently serves as the Managing Director of FMI Garden Development
Ltd., as well as a Director of FMI Syndication Ltd. and an Alternate Director
of SPA (Myanmar) Ltd.

Le’ Le’ Win

a':vJhvJh0if; onf [dkw,fvkyfief;uRrf;usifoljzpfNyD; SPA/FMI ukrÜPDtkyfpkodkY 1993
ckESpfwGif 0ifa&mufcJhonf/ vuf½SdtcsdefwGif olronf FMI Garden Development
Ltd. \ tkyfcsKyfrI'g½dkufwm wm0eftjyif Grand Meeyahta Executive Residences
\ 'g½dkufwm? FMI Syndication Ltd. \ 'g½dkufwmESifh SPA (Myanmar) Ltd. \
tvSnfhus'g½dkufwmwm0efrsm;udkyg xrf;aqmifvsuf½Sdygonf/

Stephen Purvis is a chartered member of the Royal Institute of British
Architects. He holds a Bachelors of Arts (Hons) in Architecture from
Newcastle University and a Bachelors of Architecture from Westminster
University. During his thirty years of professional experience, Stephen has
led the design and development of mixed use, industrial, and hospitality
projects. He also has extensive experience in masterplanning, including
the masterplan for Merchant City Liverpool in the UK.
Stephen Purvis

Stephen was previously a Director at Cuba-focused Coral Capital Group,
where he oversaw the design, funding, construction and operation of a
series of hotel projects, including the acclaimed Hotel Saratoga. He also
masterplanned the container port and economic zone at Mariel, Cuba.
Stephen was appointed Project Director at our sister company Yoma
Strategic Holdings in December 2013 and is currently overseeing the
Landmark Development.
Stephen Purvis onf Royal Institute of British Architects Adokumynm½Sifrsm;
toif;\ tzGJU0ifwpfOD; jzpfygonf/ olonf Newcastle University rS Adokumynm&yf
jzifh 0dZÆmbGJU(*kPfxl;) ESifh Westminster University rS AdokumbGJU&½dSxm;ol jzpfyg
onf/ ESpfaygif;(30)Mum ol\vkyfief;tawGUtBuHKumvtwGif; Stephen onf

vkyfief;aygif;pHkoHk; taqmufttHk? pufrIvkyfief;ESifh [dkw,fvkyfief;pDrHudef;rsm;
yHkpHxkwfvkyfrIESifh wnfaqmifrIwdkYudk OD;pD;aqmif½GufcJhonf/ ,lEdkufwufuif;'rf;½dS
Merchant City Liverpool twGuf yifrpDrHudef;tygt0if yifrpDrHudef;a&;qGJrI
tawGUtBuHKrsm;pGm½dSolvnf; jzpfygonf/
,cifu Stephen onf Cuba-focused Coral Capital Group wGif 'g½dkufwm
wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhNyD; ,if;ukrÜPDwGif csD;usL;*kPfjyKjcif;cH&aom Hotel Saratoga
tygt0if [dkw,fwnfaqmufa&; vkyfief;rsm;wGif 'DZdkif;a&;qGJjcif;? aiGaMu;½SmazG
jcif;ESifh wnfaqmufa&;vkyfief;rsm;tm; BuD;MuyfcJhygonf/ olonf usL;bm;EdkifiH
Mariel NrdKU½dS ukefaowåmqdyfurf;ESifh pD;yGm;a&;ZkefwdkYtm; yifrpDrHudef;a&;qGJcJhol
jzpfygonf/ Stephen tm; 2013 ckESpf? 'DZifbmvwGif uRefawmfwdkY nDtpfrukrÜPD
jzpfaom Yoma Strategic Holdings wGif pDrHudef;'g½dkufwm&mxl; cefYtyfcJhNyD;
vuf½dSwGif Landmark Development wnfaqmufa&;vkyfief;tm; BuD;Muyfaqmif
½Gufvsuf ½dSygonf/
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Than Htut Naing

Than Htut Naing graduated from Yangon Institute of Technology in June
1996 with a bachelor's degree in Electrical Power Engineering. He joined
the Group in February 1997 as an Engineer and worked at FMI City until
November 1998. He worked at Pun Hlaing Golf Estate from November
1998 to June 2007, originally as an Assistant Manager and eventually
Assistant to the Project Director. Since February 2011 he has served
as Senior Project Manager for Thanlyin Star City, and is responsible for
utilities & infrastructure development projects.

OD;oef;xG#fEdkif onf &efukefpufrIwuúodkvfrS vQyfppfpGrf;tm;tif*sifeD,mbGJUudk 1996
ckESpf? ZGefvwGif &½SdcJhNyD; ukrÜPDtkyfpkodkY 1997 ckESpf? azazmf0g&DvwGif pwif0ifa&mufcJhyg
onf/ 1998 ckESpf? Edk0ifbmvtxd FMI City wGif tif*sifeD,mtjzpfvnf;aumif;?
1998 ckESpf? Edk0ifbmvrS 2007 ckESpf? ZGefvtxd Pun Hlaing Golf Estate wGif
a½S;OD;pGm vufaxmufrefae*sm? xdkYaemuf pDrHudef;'g½dkufwm\ vufaxmuftjzpf
tqihfqihfaomwm0efrsm; xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ 2011 ckESpf? azazmf0g&DvrSpí
Thanlyin Star City ü wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf½Sdum tBuD;wef;pDrHudef;refae*smtjzpf
wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf½dSNyD; Utilities & Infrastructure zGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;vkyfief;rsm;
udk wm0ef,lvkyfudkifvsuf ½Sdygonf/

Kyaw Thu Htun

Kyaw Thu Htun @ Paul graduated from Rangoon Institute of Technology
(RIT) and obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) degree in
1984. He is a well-rounded and highly qualified engineer with extensive
experience in project management, construction, and site maintenance.
After working on many renowned projects in Myanmar from 1985 to
2002, Paul joined SPA Myanmar in 2002 as a Project Manager. He was
subsequently appointed as General Manager at SPA Project Management
Ltd and Pun Hlaing Golf Estate (PHGE) in July 2007.
In 2009, he was promoted to Deputy Project Director and Estate Manager
at PHGE while continuing to work as a Project Manager at SPA Project
Management Ltd. In 2014, he was further promoted to Project Director,
with responsibility for infrastructure and residential development projects.

OD;ausmfolxGef; (c) Paul onf 1984 ckESpfwGif &efukefpufrIwuúodkvfrS tif*sifeD,m
bGJU (pufrI) &½dScJhygonf/ olonf pDrHudef;pDrHcefYcGJUrI? aqmufvkyfa&;ESifh vkyfief;cGif
jyKjyifxdef; odrf;rIvkyfief;rsm;wGif tawGUtBuHKrsm;pGm½dSolwpfOD; jzpfonfhtjyif tzuf
zufrSjynfhpHkNyD; t&nftcsif;jynfh0aom tif*sifeD,mwpfOD;jzpfygonf/ 1985 ckESpfrS
2002 ckESpftxd jrefrmEdkifiH½dS emrnfausmfpDrHudef;rsm;pGmwGif wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhNyD;
aemuf Paul onf 2002 ckESpfwGif SPA Myanmar ü pDrHudef;refae*smtjzpf pwif
wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ xdkYaemuf olUtm; 2007 ckESpf? ZlvdkifvwGif SPA Project
Management Ltd. ESifh Pun Hlaing Golf Estate (PHGE) wdkYwGif taxGaxG
refae*smtjzpf cefYtyfwm0efay;jcif;cH&ygonf/
2009 ckESpfwGif olonf PHGE ü 'kwd,pDrHudef;'g½dkufwmESifh tdrf&mrefae*sm&mxl;
wdk;jr§ifhcH&NyD; SPA Project Management Ltd. ü pDrHudef;refae*smtjzpf qufvuf
wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ 2014 ckESpfwGif tajccHtaqmufttHkESifh vlaetdrf&mwnf
aqmufa&;pDrHudef;rsm;tm; wm0ef,laqmif½Guf&ef pDrHudef;'g½dkufwm&mxl;odkY xyfrH
wdk;jr§ifhjcif; cH&ygonf/
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Healthcare

Gershu Paul

Dr. Gershu Paul has over 25 years of international health experience at
an executive level. His expertise is in health services planning, strategy
development, project management and implementation, and clinical
operations. He received his Bachelor of Medicine; Bachelor of Surgery
(MBBS) from the University of Bangalore, India in 1986, and a Masters
of Business Administration (MBA) from the University of Otago, New
Zealand in 1997. In addition, Dr. Paul graduated as a Fellow of the Royal
Australasian Medical College of Administrators (FRACMA), Melbourne,
Australia in 2006.
Dr. Paul has held senior executive positions in Sri Lanka, New Zealand,
Australia and Indonesia. Prior to joining Pun Hlaing Hospital as CEO in
2014, he served as President of Siloam Hospitals, Indonesia’s largest and
fastest growing hospital group. He was instrumental in successfully taking
Siloam from 4 to 24 hospitals with a market cap of over US $1 billion.
The company was successfully listed on the Jakarta Stock Exchange in
September 2013.
Dr. Gershu Paul onf trIaqmif&mxl;tqifhjzifh EkdifiHwum usef;rma&;apmifh
a½SmufrItawGUtBuHK(25)ESpfausmf ½dSoljzpfonf/ ol\ uRrf;usifrIynm&yfrSm usef;rm
a&;apmifha½SmufrIpDrHudef;? r[mAsL[mzGHUNzdK;wdk;wufrI? pDrHudef;pDrHcefYcGJrIESifh taumif
txnfazmfrI? vufawGUaq;0g;ukorIwdkYjzpfygonf/ olonf 1986 ckESpfwGif tdE´d,
EdkifiH? bef*vdkwuúodkvfrS aq;odyÜHbGJUESifh cGJpdwfukorIbGJU? 1997 ckESpfwGif e,l;ZDvef
EdkifiH University of Otago rSpD;yGm;a&;pDrHcefYcGJrIr[mbGJUESifh 2006 ckESpfwGif MopaMw;
vsEdkifiH? rJvfbkef;NrdKU Fellow of the Royal Australian Medical College of
Administrators (FRACMA) bGJUwdkYudk &½dScJhygonf/
Dr. Paul onf oD&dvuFm? e,l;ZDvef? MopaMw;vsESifh tif'dkeD;½Sm;EdkifiHwdkYwGif tBuD;
wef;trIaqmift&m½dS&mxl; wm0eftrsdK;rsdK; xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ 2014 ckESpfwGif trI
aqmift&m½dScsKyftjzpf yef;vdIifaq;½HkwGif wm0efrxrf;aqmifrD tif'dkeD;½Sm;EkdifiH\
tBuD;qHk;ESifh zGHUNzdK;rItjref qHk; aq;½Hktkyfpkjzpfonfh Siloam Hospitals \ Ouú|wm0ef
xrf;aqmif cJhygonf/ olonf Siloam aq;½Hktkyfpktm; aq;½Hk(4)½HkrS (24)½Hkxdwdk;csJU
um tar&duefa':bm (1)bDvD,Hausmfwefzdk;½dS aps;uGufxdyfqHk;ae&mokdY a&muf
½dSatmif aqmif½Guf&mwGif ta&;ygoljzpfcJhygonf/ Siloam tm; 2013 ckESpf? pufwif
bmvwGif Jakarta Stock Exchange ü atmifjrifpGm pm&if;0ifcJhNyD; jzpfygonf/
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Dr. Ye Moe Myint received his medical degree from the Institute of Medicine (1)
in 1989. He joined Pun Hlaing Hospital as the manager of Pun Hlaing Clinic and
was subsequently promoted to Associate Medical Director in 2008 and Hospital
Administrator in 2009. He currently serves as Network and Development
Executive Director for the hospital. Dr. Ye Moe Myint was elected President of
the Myanmar Private Hospitals’ Association in 2012 and is currently serving his
second term in this capacity.
Ye Moe Myint

a'gufwm&Jrdk;jrifh onf 1989 ckESpfwGif aq;wuúodkvf(1) &efukefrS M.B.,B.S bGJUudk
&½SdcJhygonf/ yef;vdIifaq;½Hkü yef;vdIifaq;cef;refae*smtjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhNyD;?
2008 ckESpfwGif aq;bufqdkif&m wGJbufñTefMum;a&;rSL;ESifh 2009 ckESpfwGif aq;½Hktkyf
&mxl;rsm;odkY wdk;jr§ifhjcif;cH&ygonf/ ,cktcg Network ESifh Development Executive
Director tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf ½Sdygonf/ 2012 ckESpfwGif a'gufwm&Jrdk;jrifh
onf jrefrmEdkifiH yk*¾vduaq;½Hkrsm;toif;\ Ouú|tjzpfa½G;cs,fcH&NyD; ,ckxdwdkif
'kwd,oufwrf; Ouú|wm0efudk xrf;aqmifvsuf½Sdygonf/

Win Myint

Professor Win Myint graduated with an M.B.B.S degree from the Institute
of Medicine (1) in 1968. He also holds M.Med.Sc (Surgery) and F.R.C.S
degrees. He served as Professor and Head of the Surgery Department
at the University of Medicine in Mandalay and the University of Medicine
(2) in Yangon before joining Pun Hlaing Hospital in 2005. He worked as
a Consulting Surgeon from 2005 to 2010 and as Medical Director from
2010 to June 2014. He currently serves the hospital as Clinical Excellence
Director.

ygarmu©a'gufwm0if;jrifh onf 1968 ckESpfwGif aq;wuúodkvf(1) &efukefrS M.B.,B.S
bGJUudk &½SdcJhygonf/ olonf M.Med.Sc (Surgery) ESifh F.R.C.S bGJUrsm;udkvnf;
&½Sdxm;ol jzpfygonf/ 2005 ckESpfwGif yef;vdIifaq;½HkwGif wm0efrxrf;aqmifrD
aq;wuúodkvf (rEÅav;)ESifh aq;wuúodkvf(2)&efukefwdkYwGif ygarmu©XmerSL; (cGJpdwf
ukynmXme) tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhonf/ 2005 ckESpfrS 2010 ckESpftxd yef;vdIif
aq;½Hk\ twdkifyifcH cGJpdwfukq&m0efMuD;tjzpfvnf;aumif;? 2010 ckESpfrS 2014ckESpf?
ZGefvtxd Medical Director tjzpfvnf;aumif; wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ ,ck
tcg Clinical Excellence Director tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf½Sdygonf/

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

Portfolio Investments

Tin Htut Oo

Tin Htut Oo is a retired Director General of the Department of Agricultural
Planning, Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation. During his tenure
as Director General, he established, among others, the Agricultural
Marketing Service (MIS). He has served as a national and international
consultant with the United Nations and international organizations in
the field of agricultural and rural development in Myanmar and other
developing countries in the Asia Pacific region. He joined the SPA/FMI
Group after his retirement from the civil service and served as Chief
Executive Officer of Myanmar Agri-Tech and Agribusiness and Rural
Development Consultants. He currently serves as Chairman of Agriculture
at Yoma Strategic Holdings. Tin Htut Oo served as the Chairman of the
National Economic and Social Advisory Council from 2012 to 2016 and
was an Economic Advisor to former President U Thein Sein.

OD;wifxG#fOD; onf v,f,mpdkufysKd;a&;ESifh qnfajrmif;0efBuD;Xme? pdkufysKd;a&;pDrHudef;
OD;pD;Xme\ tNidrf;pm;ñTefMum;a&;rSL;csKyfwpfOD; jzpfonf/ olonf Agricultural
Marketing Service (MIS) udk wnfaxmifcJhNyD; ukvor*¾wGif jrefrmEdkifiHESifh tm½S^
ypdzdwfa'owGif;½dS tjcm;aomzGHUNzdK;qJEdkifiHrsm;\ aus;vufa'ozGHUNzdK;wdk;wufa&;
pDrHudef;vkyfief;rsm;twGuf twdkifyifcHwpfOD;tjzpf aqmif½GufcJhygonf/olonf EdkifiHh
0efxrf;tjzpfrS tNidrf;pm;,lcJhNyD;aemuf? SPA/FMI ukrÜPDtkyfpkokdY 0ifa&mufcJhNyD;?
MAGT ESifh ARDC ukrÜPDwdkY\ tvkyftrIaqmift&m½SdcsKyftjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhyg
onf/ olonf vuf½SdwGif Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd. ? v,f,mpD;yGm;vkyfief;
tkyfpk\Ouú|tjzpf wm0efxrf;aqmifvsuf½Sdygonf/ OD;wifxG#fOD; onf 2012 ckESpfrS
2016 ckESpfxd trsdK;om;pD;yGm;a&;ESifh vlrIa&;tBuHay;aumifpDOuú|tjzpf wm0efxrf;
aqmifcJhNyD; ,cifEdkifiHawmfor®w\ pD;yGm;a&;tBuHay; yk*¾dKvfwpfOD;vnf;jzpfygonf/

Capt. Tin Maung Aye joined the Myanmar Air Force in 1969 where he flew
Dakota C-47s as a squadron pilot. In 1977, he was seconded to Myanma Airways
as Captain of DHC6 Twin Otter and Fokker 27 aircrafts. From 1988 to 1991
he flew for Malaysia Airlines. He was transferred to Yangon Airways in 1996
and served in the airline as Chief Pilot, Flight Operation Manager, General
Manager and Executive Director. Capt. Tin Maung Aye joined FMI Air in 2012
and currently serves as General Manager of Government Affairs.
Tin Maung Aye

uyÜwdefwifarmifat; onf 1969 ckESpfwGif wyfrawmf(av)wGif pwifwm0efxrf;
aqmifcJhNyD; Dakota C-47 av,mOfrsm;udk tkkyfavol&Jtjzpf armif;ESifcJhygonf/
1977 ckESpfwGif wyfrawmf(av)rS jrefrmhavaMumif;odkY DHC6 Twin Otter ESifh
Fokker 27 av,mOfrsm;\ av,mOfrSL;tjzpf vTJajymif;wm0ef xrf;aqmifcJhygonf/
1988 ckESpfrS 1991 ckESpftxd Malaysia Airlines wGif wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/
1996 ckESpfwGif Yangon Airways odkY ajymif;a½TUcJhNyD; ¤if;avaMumif;vdkif;ü &mxl;
ae&mtoD;oD;wGif wm0efxrf;aqmifcJhygonf/ uyÜwdefwifarmifat; onf 2012
ckESpfwGif FMI Air Ltd. odkY 0ifa&mufwm0ef xrf;aqmifcJhNyD; vuf½dSwGif Director
(Government Affairs) wm0efudk xrf;aqmifvsuf½dSygonf/
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Report of the
Directors
The directors have the pleasure in submitting their
annual report and audited financial statements for
the year ended March 31, 2016.

Principal Activities
The Company continued to engage in the business of
investment holding during the year.

Results
The state of the company's affairs at March 31, 2016
is set out in the Balance Sheet on page 75. The results
for the year are set out in the Statement of Income
on page 76.

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and up
to the date of this report were:
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
U Myat Thin Aung
U Than Aung
Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint
U Tun Tun
U Linn Myaing
U Tun Myat
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
U Win Thin
U Kyi Aye

In accordance with the Company's Articles of
Association, U Win Thin, U Kyi Aye and U Theim
Wai will retire at the Company's upcoming Annual
General Meeting.

Dividends
A final dividend at the rate of 13.5% of par value,
equal to Ks. 135 per share, has been proposed as per
a resolution made at the Board of Directors Meeting
of the Company held on 24 June 2016.

Auditors
A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General
Meeting of the Company to reappoint the auditors
Messrs. V Advisory Limited.

On behalf of the Board,

Tun Tun
Executive Director

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated
Financial Statements
and Other Financial Information
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
In the opinion of the Directors,
a)

the accompanying balance sheet and income statement of the Company and the consolidated balance
sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of
the Group together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015, of the results of the
business of the Company and of the Group, and of the changes in equity and cash flow of the Group for
the years then ended, and

b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and its
subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorized these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun

U Tun Tun

Executive Chairman

Executive Director

Date: 24 June 2016

Date: 24 June 2016

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.(the
“Company) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheet of the Company and the
consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015, the statement of income of
the Company and the statement of comprehensive income of the Group, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group for the years then ended and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with group accounting policies, Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Myanmar
Companies Act. This responsibility includes: devising and maintaining a system of internal controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorized and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of
assets; selecting and applying appropriate accounting Policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit includes performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments , the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

73

74

Annual Report 2015-2016

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of
income of the Company present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and the
Group as at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015, the results of operations of the Company and the Group and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and of cash flows of the Group for the financial years then
ended in accordance with the significant accounting policies set out in Note 2 which conform with Myanmar
Financial Reporting Standards.

Myat Noe Aung
Certified Public Accountant
V Advisory Limited
Bldg 14, #306, MICT Park,
University of Yangon – Hlaing Campus,
Yangon, Myanmar.
Date: 25 June 2016
Yangon
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 March 2016

Company

Group
2016
Kyats'000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers,
by the bank subsidiary
Inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets

2015
Kyats'000

2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

Notes
187,642,183
21,257,883

129,014,320
2,834,879

148,993
7,187,701

18,243
269,943

722,546,915

415,076,012

-

-

7
8

612,470
11,148,954
943,208,405

479,951
10,506,235
557,911,397

3,403,822
10,740,516

3,159,842
3,448,028

6
9
10
11

12,100,000
5,566,674
56,847,210
-

2,209,042
57,619,618
-

12,100,000

5,566,674
33,446,187
60,512,061

2,209,043
31,167,153
60,167,727

12

239,685,081

178,978,920

-

-

13
14
15

21,904,018
66,332,939
55,527,285
457,963,207
1,401,171,612

1,448,447
107,338,813
56,008,483
403,603,323
961,514,720

1,417,197
15,285
113,057,404
123,797,920

1,448,447
25,757
95,018,127
98,466,155

16

24,577,486

26,553,789

1,540,414

1,116,870

1,094,803,948

689,054,974

-

-

3,452,402

-

-

-

1,502,326
1,124,336,162

227,000
2,874,603
3,930,429
722,640,795

1,540,414

227,000
1,343,870

16
18

12,169,855
14,497,188
26,667,043
1,151,003,205

123,856
13,793,000
13,916,856
736,557,651

12,169,855
9,642,188
21,812,043
23,352,457

123,856
123,856
1,467,726

Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Retained profit

19
19
21

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

22

23,480,013
70,282,041
12,832,314
80,210,633
186,805,001
63,363,406
250,168,407

22,480,013
71,282,041
5,454,104
76,317,417
175,533,575
49,423,494
224,957,069

23,480,013
70,282,041
6,683,409
100,445,463
100,445,463

22,480,013
71,282,041
3,236,375
96,998,429
96,998,429

1,401,171,612

961,514,720

123,797,920

98,466,155

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivable
Available-for-sale financial assets
Investment in associates
Investment in subsidiaries
Government Treasury & other
securities, by the bank subsidiary
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

5
6

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from
customers, by the bank subsidiary
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP, by
the bank subsidiary
Redeemable preference shares
Provision for income tax
Borrowings
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

17
18

EQUITY

Total liabilities and equity
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

2016
Kyats'000
Revenue
- Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income/(expenses)

Notes
23
24

Group

2015
Kyats'000

Company

2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

110,024,282
(74,931,635)
35,092,647
132,838

33,318,535
(20,400,760)
12,917,775
-

7,521,025
7,521,025
108,448

2,834,879
2,834,879
-

Expenses
- Administrative
- Finance
- Exceptional Expenses (Listing)

25
26

(35,524,121)
(437,926)
(624,949)
(36,454,158)

(14,007,206)
(623,516)
(14,630,722)

(1,610,510)
(24,428)
(624,949)
(2,151,439)

(1,188,126)
(31,780)
(1,219,906)

Share of profit of associates - net of tax

10

3,961,058

15,452,800

-

-

2,599,547

13,739,853

5,369,586

1,614,973

7,915,887

60,490,657

858,552

1,979,546

10,515,434

74,230,510

6,228,138

3,594,519

(1,599,388)

(1,107,342)

(83,503)

(210,653)

8,916,046

73,123,168

6,144,635

3,383,866

-

(1,177,430)

-

-

-

(565,502)

-

-

-

(1,742,932)

-

-

8,916,046

71,380,236

6,144,635

3,383,866

9,427,241
(511,195)
8,916,046

74,655,413
(1,532,245)
73,123,168

-

-

9,427,241
(511,195)
8,916,046

72,912,481
(1,532,245)
71,380,236

-

-

407

3,811

265

173

Profit/(loss) from operating activities
Profit from non-operating activities

27

Total profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

28

Net profit

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - net
of tax:
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
- Reclassification of reserve upon
disposal of associates
- Reclassification of reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share - overall
- Basic (Kyats per share)

29

20

19
19

Dividend paid

Scrip shares issued
Bonus shares issued
Additional quasi-equity loan
Disposal of subsidiaries
Acquisition of subsidiaries
End of financial year

2,221,850
1,839,685
22,480,013

18,418,478
-

2015
Beginning of financial year
Other comprehensive loss
Capital reserve added for the year
Net profit/(loss)

2,221,850
1,839,685
22,480,013

18,418,478
-

23,480,013

23,480,013

End of financial year

22,480,013
1,000,000
-

20
19

22,480,013
-

1,000,000
-

2016
Beginning of financial year
Prior year adjustment
Capital reserve added for the year
Net profit/(loss)
Dividend paid
Shares issued (employee share scheme)
Additional capital contribution
Disposal of subsidiaries
Decrease in shareholding in a subsidiary
Acquisition of a subsidiary

Notes

Share Capital
No. of
ordinary
Kyats'000
shares

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

23,329,425
(1,839,685)
71,282,041

49,792,301
-

70,282,041

(1,000,000)
-

71,282,041
-

Kyats'000

Share
Premium

5,454,104

-

1,742,932
(1,742,932)
5,454,104
-

12,832,314

5,454,104
7,378,210
-

Kyats'000

Reserves

76,317,417

(3,683,696)

11,684,022
(6,338,323)
74,655,414

80,210,633

76,317,417
(74,738)
(3,638,291)
9,427,241
(2,697,602)
876,606
-

Kyats'000

Retained
earnings

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

25,551,275
175,533,575

(3,683,696)

81,637,733
(1,742,932)
(884,219)
74,655,414

186,805,001

175,533,575
(74,738)
3,739,919
9,427,241
(2,697,602)
876,606
-

Kyats'000

Total

14,468,666
(431,997)
36,534,019
49,423,494

-

385,051
(1,532,245)

63,363,406

49,423,494
3,598,810
(511,195)
11,417,000
(7,141,020)
1,301,317
5,275,000

Kyats'000

Noncontrolling
interests

25,551,275
14,468,666
(431,997)
36,534,019
224,957,069

(3,683,696)

82,022,784
(1,742,932)
(884,219)
73,123,169

250,168,407

224,957,069
(74,738)
7,338,729
8,916,046
(2,697,602)
11,417,000
(7,141,020)
2,177,923
5,275,000

Kyats'000

Total

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit after tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization expenses
Adjustment to reserve for unclaimed deposits & doubtful debts
Adjustment for available-for-sale
(Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries
(Gain) loss on disposal of associates
(Gain) Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Income tax expense, net of effects from acquisition of subsidiaries and share of result of
associates
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of result of associates
Change in working capital, net of effects from acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in deposits and balances from customers, by the bank subsidiary
Increase in AFP foreign currency deposit, by the bank subsidiary
Income taxes paid
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Additions to available-for-sales financial assets
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net of transfer
Additions to investment properties
Additions to intangible asset
Addition in government & other securities by the bank subsidiary
Advance payment for future business acquisition
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
Proceeds from disposal of associates (part of investment transfer)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Quasi-equity loans to associates
Dividend received from associates
Interest received
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid
Interest paid
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares
Proceeds from borrowing
Redemption of preference shares
Capital contribution from non-controlling interest for a newly formed subsidiary
Decrease in shareholding in a subsidiary
Capital addition from non-controlling interests
Loan from a non-controlling interests
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

8,916,046

73,123,168

3,474,610
7,338,729
(449)
(4,397,646)
(899,550)
(18,473)
9,439
1,599,388
(17,025)
425,877
(3,961,058)
12,469,888

1,605,228
(3,333,120)
(57,308,003)
16,831
4,777
565
1,107,342
(378,326)
612,345
(15,452,800)
(1,992)

(132,519)
(31,343,625)
(307,470,903)
(3,757,391)
17,140,996
405,748,974
3,452,402
(2,971,665)
93,136,157

121,026
11,695,240
(130,996,877)
12,929,861
19,216,512
163,231,770
(2,070,215)
74,125,324

(3,507,733)
(9,199,275)
(2,796,933)
(60,706,162)
(401,241)
11,156,494
401,241
1,050,100
41,802
(2,680,275)
7,012,500
17,025
(59,612,457)

75,921,119
(2,429,513)
(27,548,358)
(36,868)
(2,311,825)
(18,921,420)
(1,250,466)
2,643,797
2,952,149
2,834,403
1,651,215
(17,710,553)
1,322,500
785,746
17,901,926

(2,745,661)
(435,287)
9,642,188
(227,000)
5,275,000
2,177,923
11,417,000
25,104,163
58,627,863
129,014,320
187,642,183

(3,597,280)
(612,912)
25,551,275
3,430,000
11,038,666
35,809,748
127,836,997
1,177,323
129,014,320

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.
1.

Corporate information
First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a Public Company incorporated on 3 July 1992 as per
Certificate of Incorporation No. 159 of 1992-93 and Certificate for Commencement of Business dated 30
October 1992 under the Myanmar Companies Act. The address of its registered office is FMI Centre, 10 th
floor, 380, Bogyoke Aung San Road, Pabedan Township, Yangon, Myanmar.
Certificate of Incorporation No. 159 of 1992-93 was renewed to 23 May 2020 by the Directorate of Investment
and Company Administration, Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development.
The Company is listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange on 25 th March, 2016.
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries and associates are disclosed in Note 4 to these financial statements.
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and, therefore, continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these
financial statements.

2.

Significant accounting policies
2.1.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting
Standards (“MFRS”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
These financial statements are prepared in Kyats or (“Ks”).
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates and assumptions.
Investment in subsidiaries and associates are measured using cost and acquisition method accounting in
the separate financial statements of the Company and using equity method accounting in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. Please refer to Note 2.3 Group accounting and Note 2.5
Investment in subsidiaries and associates in the separate financial statements of the Company.

2.2.

Revenue recognition
Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
rendering of services in the ordinary course of the activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”). Sales are presented net of commercial tax, rebates and discounts, and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
2.2.

Revenue recognition (continued)
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and its related cost can be reliably
measured, when it is reasonably assured that the related receivables are collectable, and when the
specific criteria for each of the Group’s activities are met as follows:
(a) Rendering of services – Financial services, healthcare and hospital services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered.
(b) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
(c) Interest income and expenses
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within
‘interest income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
(d) Fees and commission income
Fees and commission are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided.
(e) Rental income
Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.3.

Group accounting
(a) Subsidiaries
(i)

Consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities,
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
2.3.

Group accounting (continued)
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a
subsidiary attributable to interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity
holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet. Total
comprehensive income is attributable to the non-controlling interests based on their
respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.
(ii) Acquisitions
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the
Group.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair value of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration
arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
The excess of (i) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the (ii) fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and
the measurement of all amounts have been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase. Please refer to paragraph “Intangible assets – Goodwill” for
the subsequent accounting policy on goodwill.
(iii) Disposals
When a change in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control
over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are
derecognised. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings if required
by a specified Standard.
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
2.3.

Group accounting (continued)
Any retained interest in the entity is re-measured at fair value. The difference between the
carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value is
recognised in profit or loss.
Please refer to “Note 2.5” for the accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries and associates
in the separate financial statements of the Company.
(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control
over the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any
difference between the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised within equity attributable to the equity
holders of the Company.
(c) Associates
Associates are entities over which the Company has significant influence, but not control,
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above, but not
exceeding 50%. Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any.
(i)

Acquisitions
Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Goodwill on associates represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition of the associates
over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the associates and is
included in the carrying amount of the investments.

(ii) Equity method accounting
In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associates’ postacquisition profits or losses are recognised in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition
other comprehensive income is recognised as other comprehensive income. These postacquisition movements and distributions received from the associates are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in associates equals or
exceeds its interest in the associates, including any other unsecured non-current receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has obligations or has made payments
on behalf of the associates.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The accounting
policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
2.3.

Group accounting (continued)
(iii) Disposals
Investments in associates are derecognised when the Company loses significant influence and
any retained interest in the former associates is a financial asset. Such retained interest in the
entity is re-measured at its fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the
retained interest at the date when significant influence is lost and its fair value is recognised
in profit or loss.
Gains and losses arising from partial disposals or dilutions in investments in associates, in
which significant influence is retained, are recognised in profit or loss.
Please refer to Note 2.5 for the accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries and associates in
the separate financial statements of the Company.

2.4.

Property, plant and equipment
(a) Measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price
and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Costs of a self-constructed
asset include material costs, labour costs and other direct costs used in the construction of the asset.
Other costs such as start-up costs, administration and other general overhead costs, advertising and
training costs are excluded and expensed as incurred. Cost also includes borrowing costs (refer to
Note 2.14 on borrowing costs).
(b) Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Building
Land improvement
Machinery and equipment
Renovation, furniture and office equipment
Motor vehicles
IT & Computers
Facilities/Infrastructure system

Useful lives
20 – 67 years
50 years
5 – 10 years
3 – 20 years
5 – 8 years
3 - 5 years
10 – 20 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are
recognised in the profit or loss when the changes arise.
Assets under construction included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these
assets are not yet available for use.
Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are
no longer in use.
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(c) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repair and maintenance expense is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
(d) Disposal
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal
proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss within “Other gain or loss”.
2.5.

Investments in subsidiaries and associates in the separate financial statement of the Company
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the
Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associates, the difference
between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit and loss.

2.6.

Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill on acquisitions
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired.
Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill on associates is included in the carrying amount of the
investments.
The profit or loss on disposal of subsidiaries and associates is stated after deducting the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

2.7.

Investment properties
Investment properties include those portions of office buildings that are held for long-term rental yields
and/or for capital appreciation and land under operating leases that is held for long-term capital
appreciation or for a presently in determinate use.
The Group’s investment properties also include properties taken over from loan defaulters and held
until the Group identifies a potential buyer. These properties are measured at the fair value at the time of
initial recognition and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. On disposal of an
investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.8.

Impairment of non-financial assets
(a) Goodwill
Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is indication that the goodwill may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating-units (“CGU”) expected to benefit from synergies arising from the business
combination.
An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill,
exceeds the recoverable amount of the CGU. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of
the CGU’s fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use. Value-in-use is the present value of the
future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or CGU.
The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill
allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the CGU. An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised as an expense and
is not reversed in a subsequent period.
(b) Intangible assets
Prepayments
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries and associates
Intangible assets, prepayments, property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and
associates are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that
these assets may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less
cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does
not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case,
the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.
If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an
impairment loss in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case,
such impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised. The carrying amount of this asset is increased to its revised recoverable
amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss, unless
the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation
increase. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously
recognised as an expense, a reversal of that impairment is also credited to profit or loss.
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2.9.

Financial assets
(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables, held-tomaturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the nature and the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.
(i)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except
for those maturing later than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as
non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and other receivables”,
“loans and advances to customers” and “cash and cash equivalents” on the balance sheet.

(ii)

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. They are presented as non-current assets, except for those
maturing within 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as current assets.
Held-to-maturity financial assets are reported in the statement of financial position as
“government treasury securities”. Interest income from government securities is included in
profit or loss and is reported as “Interest income”.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current
unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of the assets within 12
months after the balance sheet date.
(b) Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive the cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.
(c) Initial measurement
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.
(d) Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity financial assets are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value if the fair value can be
reliably estimated using valuation techniques supported by observable market data, otherwise,
those assets are carried at cost less impairment loss.
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2.9 Financial assets (continued)
Dividend income on available-for-sale equity securities is recognised separately in income.
Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve, together
with the related currency translation differences.
(e) Impairment
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
(i)

Loans and receivables/ Held-to-maturity financial assets
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in interest and principal payments are objective
evidence that loans and receivables/ held-to-maturity financial assets are impaired.
The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance
account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When
the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in
profit or loss.
The allowance for the impairment loss account is reduced through profit or loss in a
subsequent period when the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can
be objectively measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased
to the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost, had no
impairment been recognised in prior periods.

(ii)

Available-for-sale financial assets
A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is
considered as an indicator that the available-for-sale financial asset is impaired. The objective
evidence of impairment may be deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry
and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.
If any evidence of impairment exists, the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. The cumulative loss is measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments and
amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised as an
expense. The impairment losses recognised as an expense on equity securities are not
reversed through profit or loss.

(f) Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported on the balance sheet when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2.10. Inventories
Inventories consist of medicines and consumables which are purchased for the purpose of sale in the
ordinary course of business. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less cost of sales. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value shall be recognised as an expense in the period the write-down occurs.
2.11. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end
of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). Otherwise, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.12. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it
is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.
2.13. Borrowing
Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date, in which case they are presented as noncurrent liabilities.
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net of transaction costs) and subsequently carried at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
2.14. Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method except for those costs
that are directly attributable to the construction or development of properties and assets under construction.
This includes those costs on borrowings acquired specifically for the construction or development of
properties and assets under construction.
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2.15. Operating leases
(a) When the Group is lessee:
The Group leases office space, office equipment, and aircraft under operating leases from related
parties and non-related parties.
Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessors) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease. Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when incurred.

(b) When the Group is the lessor:
The Group leases commercial properties, investment properties and motor vehicles under
operating leases to related parties and non-related parties.
Leases of commercial properties, investment properties and motor vehicles where the Group
retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as operating leases.
Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to
the carrying amount of the leased assets and recognised as an expense in profit or loss over the
lease term on the same basis as the lease income.
Contingent rents are recognised as income in profit or loss when earned.
2.16. Income taxes
All tax expenses are current taxes and recognized in the income statement. Current tax is the expected
tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date.
2.17. Employee compensation
Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset.
(a) Defined benefit plan
The Group’s bank entity provides eligible employees with a defined benefit plan and a postemployment benefit as defined by the plan’s policy. Eligible employee contributions are withheld by
the bank. The bank contributes to the plan in accordance with the plan’s policy. All defined benefit
plan assets are held, managed, and administered by the bank. The plan obligation is recorded under
deposits and balances from customers by the bank entity on the Group’s balance sheet.
(b) Bonus plan
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision when contractually obliged to pay or when there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation to pay.
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2.18. Currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The financial statements are presented in Myanmar Kyats, which is the functional
currency of the Group and all values have been rounded to the nearest thousand (Kyats “000”)
unless otherwise stated.
(b) Transactions and balances
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange rates on the dates of the transactions. Currency
translation differences from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance
sheet date are recognised in profit or loss.
Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair values are determined.
(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements
The results and financial position of all Group entities (none of which uses the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(i)

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the reporting date;

(ii)

Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions); and

(iii) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the currency translation reserve.
The exchange rates used for translation are as follows:
For financial years ended
31 March 2016

31 March 2015

Rates
Year-end rate

Kyats to USD
1210

Kyats to SGD
894

Average rate

1238

889

Year-end rate
Average rate

1090
1007

787
779

The exchange rates used to translate the accounts reported in Kyats into USD and Kyats into SGD
are the prevailing open market rates observed by most business organisations in Myanmar.
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2.19. Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
Executive Chairman who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments.
2.20. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts (if any) are presented as current borrowings on the
balance sheet.
2.21. Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary shares
are recognized in profit or loss in the year of issuance of new ordinary shares.
2.22. Dividends to the Company’s shareholders
Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.
2.23. Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-thecounter securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The
quoted market prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices, and the appropriate quoted
markets prices used for financial liabilities are the current asking prices.
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions based on the
existing market conditions at each balance sheet date. Where appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are
also used to determine the fair values of financial instruments.
The carrying amounts of current financial assets and liabilities, carried at amortised cost, are assumed to
approximate their fair values.
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3.

Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires management to
make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are
revised and in any future periods affected.
(a) Impairment of loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale financial assets
Management reviews its loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale financial assets for
objective evidence of impairment at least quarterly. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payments are
considered objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. In making this determination, management
makes judgments as to whether there is observable data indicating that there has been a significant change
in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been significant adverse changes in the market,
economic or legal environment where the debtor maintains operations. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment includes significant financial difficulty
of the issuer and information about significant adverse changes that have occurred in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment where the issuer maintains operations, indicating that the cost of
the investment in the equity instrument may not be recoverable.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgements as to whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss. In making this determination, management has used
estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
(a) Impairment of loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
The carrying amounts of loans and receivables at the balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 5 and Note
6. The carrying value of available-for-sale financial assets at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 9.
Management has assessed that there is no objective evidence or indication that the carrying amount of the
Group’s loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale financial assets may not be
recoverable as at the balance sheet date, and accordingly an impairment assessment is not required. The
credit risk assessment on the Group’s trade receivables and loans and receivables is also disclosed in Note
32 (b).
(b) Estimated impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is indication that the goodwill may be
impaired. Intangible assets, prepayments, property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries
and associates are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these
assets may be impaired. In determining the recoverable value, an estimate of expected future cash flows
from each cash-generating-unit and an appropriate discount rate are required. An impairment exists when
the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating-unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use.
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued)
Management has assessed that there is no objective evidence or indication that the carrying amounts of the
Group’s and the Company’s non-financial assets may not be recoverable as at the balance sheet date, and
accordingly an impairment assessment is not required. The carrying amounts of non-financial assets at the
balance sheet date are disclosed in Notes 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14, respectively.
(c) Uncertain tax positions
The Group is subject to income taxes in Myanmar. In determining income tax liabilities, management is
required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility of certain expenses (“uncertain
tax positions”).
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, the Group makes adjustment for such differences in the
income tax of the period in which such determination is made.

93

94

Annual Report 2015-2016

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
4.

List of significant companies in the Group
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:-

Country of
incorporation

Equity holding
at 31.03.2016

Equity holding
at 31.03.2015

Financial services

Myanmar

100.0%

100.0%

(2) Yoma Bank Ltd

Financial services

Myanmar

51.0%

51.0%

(3) FMI Air Ltd *

Airline services

Myanmar

(4) Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd **

Healthcare services

Myanmar

60.0%

75.0%

(4) Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Ltd **

Healthcare services

Myanmar

60.0%

0.0%

Name of Company

Principal activities

(1) Yoma Thitsar Commercial Co., Ltd.

-

50.0%

* During the financial year 2015-2016, the group sold 40% interest in FMI Air Co Limited. Please refer to Note 35 for
details.
** A new subsidiary Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Limited was incorporated in April 2015. Please refer to Note
36 for details.
Details of associates are as follows:Name of Companies

Principal activities

Country of
incorporation

Equity holding
at 31.03.2016

Equity holding
at 31.03.2015

(3) Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd.

Property development

Myanmar

30.0%

30.0%

(4) FMI Garden Development Ltd.

Property development

Myanmar

47.5%

47.5%

(4) Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd.

Agricultural activities

Myanmar

30.0%

30.0%

(5) Pun Hlaing Links Services Co., Ltd.

Golf course development

Myanmar

30.0%

30.0%

(6) Chindwin Holdings Pte Ltd.

Investment holding

Singapore

30.0%

30.0%

(7) LSC-FMI Co., Ltd

Property development

Myanmar

50.0%

50.0%

(8) Meeyahta International Hotel Ltd.

Property development

Myanmar

20.0%

20.0%

Please refer to Note 10 for investment in associates.
For the purpose of preparing consolidated financial statements, standalone financial statements of the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates have been reviewed by V Advisory Limited Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
(1) Audited by Win Htut Aung & Associates Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar for statutory purposes.
(2) Audited by Win Thin and Associates Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar for statutory purposes.
(3) Audited by V Advisory Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar for statutory purposes.
(4) Audited by U Tun Ne Win Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar for statutory purposes.
(5) Audited by Daw Khin Than Oo Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar for statutory purposes.
(6) Audited by Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore for statutory purposes.
(7) Audited by Daw Me Me Than Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar for statutory purposes.
(8) Audited by UTW (Myanmar) Limited Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar for statutory purposes.
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5. Cash and cash equivalents
Group

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash in hand, by the bank subsidiary
Cash and placements with central bank and
other banks, by the bank subsidiary

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

75,307

935,072

148,993

18,243

67,087,214

65,403,008

-

-

120,479,662

62,676,240

-

-

187,642,183

129,014,320

148,993

18,243

Please refer to Note 34 for the effects of the acquisition of subsidiaries and Note 35 for the effects of the disposal of
subsidiaries on the cash flows of the Group.

6. Trade and other receivables
Group

Current
Trade receivables
- Non-related parties
- Entities related by common controlling shareholder
Non-trade receivables
- Entities related by common controlling shareholder
- Associates(1)
- Subsidiaries
Other receivables
Deposit
Non-current
Non-trade receivables
- Entities related by common controlling shareholder
- Associates(2)
- Subsidiaries

2016
Kyats'000

Company
2015
Kyats'000

2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

12,827,324
8,742
12,836,066

2,291,171
198,519
2,489,689

-

-

7,187,701
7,187,701

233,897
713
234,610

7,187,701
7,187,701

229,179
229,179

573,280

96,553

-

40,764

660,836

14,027

-

-

21,257,883

2,834,879

7,187,701

269,943

12,100,000
12,100,000

-

12,100,000
12,100,000

-

(1)
The Company and Group’s non-trade receivables from associates as at 31 March 2016 included the
following items:

(i)

Dividend receivable from FMI Garden Development Ltd of Ks 712 million.

(ii)

Dividend receivable from Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd. of Ks 6.3 billion.
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6.

Trade and other receivables (continued)
The Ks 12.1 billion receivable from Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd (TED) is in relation to a three party
facility agreement between Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Ltd (Provider), First Myanmar Investment
Company Ltd (Facilitator) and Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd (Borrower). Per the facility agreement, at the
request of the Facilitator, the provider agreed to lend US$ 10 million to TED for its business needs. The facility
is unsecured, is non-interest bearing and is repayable by 31 December 2017. As a facilitator, the Company does
not take any management fees. Please also refer to the non-trade payable of Ks. 12.1 billion to SPA (Myanmar)
Ltd in Note 16.

(2)

Also included in non-trade receivables from entities related by common shareholder as at 31 March 2015 is an
unsecured, interest-bearing, payable on demand loan extended to Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Ltd at
15% per annum. The loan amount of Ks 227 million (2014: Ks 227 million) was extended to finance home
buyers at Star City. This amount was originally raised from the issuance of 14% Redeemable Preference
Shares by the Company in FY 2010-2011. This loan was fully repaid in September 2015 and interest income
from this loan amounted to Ks. 34.05 million.
7.

Inventories
2015
Kyats'000

2016
Kyats'000
Finished/trading goods

8.

479,951

612,470

Other current assets
Group
2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Company
2015
2016
Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Work-in-progress
Advance payment for future business
acquisition

1,438,706

807,659

-

259,762

3,298,107

2,896,867

3,298,107

2,896,866

Advances to suppliers and contractors

427,071

193,535

-

-

17,417

21,452

-

-

Advance tax payment

1,407,122

1,553,089

7,522

-

Prepayments

4,560,531

3,079,885

98,193

3,214

-

1,165,966

-

-

11,148,954

787,782
10,506,235

3,403,822

3,159,842

Advances to employees

Asset-held-for-transfer
Other asset

Work-in-progress as at 31 March 2016 relates to Group’s pre-development expenses for construction of new
Pun Hlaing Siloam clinics. 31 March 2015 Work-in-progress relates to deferred stock exchange listing costs.
These costs have been expensed in current financial year.
Prepayments as at 31 March 2016 mainly consists of the Group’s prepaid office rental expenses and an
advance payment of Ks. 77.8 million front-end loan fees to Bangkok Bank. Since the Company did not draw
down the second tranche of the Bangkok Bank loan in FY 2015-16, these fees will be expensed next financial
year.
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9.

Available-for-sale financial assets
During FY 2015-2016 all available-for-sale financial assets were unlisted equity securities of companies
incorporated in Myanmar. Investments in these securities are measured at cost less impairment loss as their fair
values cannot be reliably measured. Management has assessed that there is no objective evidence or indication
that these financial instruments may not be recoverable as at the balance sheet date. Details of available-forsale financial assets are set out below:-

Name of companies

Principal
activities

2016
Equity
Carrying
holding at
value at
31.03.2016 31.03.2016
Kyats'000

Movement
Addition
Kyats'000

Disposal
Kyats'000

2015
Equity
Carrying
holding at
value at
31.03.2015 31.03.2015
Kyats'000

Myanmar Parkson
Co.,Ltd

Investment
holding

10.0%

258,941

-

-

10%

FMI Air Ltd

Airline services

10.0%

3,507,733

3,507,733

-

0%

-

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Ltd.

Investment
holding

4.6%

1,800,000

-

150,001

5%

1,950,001

Forest Product Joint
Venture Corp

Agricultural
activities

-

-

-

100

-

100

5,566,674

3,507,733

150,101

258,941

2,209,042

During the financial year ended 31 March 2016, the Group disposed the below available-for-sale securities:

Name of companies
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Ltd.
*Forest Product Joint
Venture Corp

Date of
disposal

Carrying value at
the time of
disposal

Allowable
Expenses

Disposal price

Gain (loss)

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

26.02.2016

150,001

1,050,000

449

899,550

30.04.2015

100

100

-

-

150,101

1,050,100

449

899,550

* The Company sold 10 shares of Forest Products Joint Venture Corp. at cost for a total amount of Ks 100,000 to
Yangon Land Co., Ltd.
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10. Investment in associates
(a) Summary of investment in associates
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

57,619,618

29,454,128

31,167,153

21,791,138

Additional investment during the year

2,680,275

27,979,194

2,680,275

22,474,072

Investment disposed of during the year (Note (c))

(401,241)

(13,906,944)

(401,241)

(13,054,557)

Investment written off during the year

-

(37,263)

-

(43,500)

Share of profit of associates (Note (b))

3,961,058

15,452,800

-

-

-

203

-

-

Dividend received from associates

(7,012,500)

(1,322,500)

-

-

End of financial year

56,847,210

57,619,618

33,446,187

31,167,153

Beginning of financial year

Share of other comprehensive income of associates

During the financial year, the company made additional capital contributions of Ks. 1.68 billion to Meeyahta
International Hotel Ltd and Ks. 994 million to LSC-FMI Co., Ltd.

30.0%

30.0%

30.0%

30.0%

50.0%

20.0%

Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd.

Pun Hlaing Link Services Co Ltd.*

Chindwin Holdings Pte. Ltd.

Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd.

LSC-FMI Co., Ltd (KrisPLAZA)

Meeyahta International Hotel Ltd.

Expenses
Kyats'000
(630,863)
(31,567,274)
(7,297)
(7,035,594)
(789,331)
(71,281)
(1,676,108)
(41,777,748)

Income
Kyats'000
526,822
42,786,953
7,657,328
639
68,207
3,985,006
55,024,955

*The Group disposed of part of its investment during the year. See note (c) below for further details.

47.5%

Name of associates

Equity
holding at
31.03.2016

13,247,207

2,308,898

(3,074)

(788,692)

621,734

(7,297)

11,219,679

(104,041)

Kyats'000

Profit/(Loss)

3,961,058

461,780

(1,537)

-

186,520

(2,189)

3,365,904

(49,420)

Kyats'000

Share of profit
(loss)

Group

33,446,187

19,977,207

2,762,466

500,000

5,311,100

3,912,098

864,566

118,750

Kyats'000

Investment at
cost

Company

Group

56,847,210

25,943,437

2,760,344

-

6,374,500

3,802,337

17,166,410

800,182

Kyats'000

Investment at
equity-adjusted
carrying amount

(b) Summarized profit/(loss) information of associates, Group’s share of profit/(loss) of associates, and investment in associates at Company and Group level
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Name of associates

30.0%

-

-

-

-

Pun Hlaing Links Services Co., Ltd.

Convenience Prosperity Co., Ltd.**

Myanmar Motors Pte Ltd.**

Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd.*

Shine Laundry Ltd.**

-

20.0%

Meeyahta International Hotel Ltd. ***

(658,419)
(75,383,101)

123,272,530

(1,170)

-

(764,932)

(116,173)

(7,131,665)

(431,377)

(5,588,046)

(1,172,629)

(9,954,107)

(8,712)

(31,161,464)

(4,312,989)

655,063

-

-

3,510

1,980

6,249,336

457,012

14,980,670

707,528

9,408,658

-

66,509,010

5,432,427

(14,081,418)

Kyats'000

Kyats'000
18,867,336

Expenses

Income

* The Group acquired a controlling stake in these associates during FY 2014- 15 and began consolidating them as subsidiaries.
** The Group disposed of these associates during FY 2014- 15. See note (c) for further details.
*** New associates acquired during FY 2014 -15.

50.0%

-

30.0%

LSC-FMI Co., Ltd ***

Myanmar Agri-Tech Carbon Capital Ltd.**

Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd.

FMI Flotilla Ltd.**

30.0%

30.0%

Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd.

Chindwin Holdings Pte. Ltd.

47.5%

-

Equity
holding at
31.03.2016

FMI Garden Development Ltd.

Yoma Bank Ltd.*

2015

47,889,429

(3,356)

(1,170)

-

(761,422)

(114,193)

(882,328)

25,635

9,392,623

(465,101)

(545,449)

(8,712)

35,347,546

1,119,438

4,785,918

Kyats'000

Profit/(Loss)

15,452,800

(671)

(585)

-

-

(57,096)

(264,699)

8,972

3,287,418

(139,530)

(218,179)

(2,613)

10,604,264

531,733

1,703,786

Kyats'000

Share of profit
(loss)

Group

31,167,153

18,291,798

1,767,600

-

500,000

-

5,311,100

-

-

-

-

4,313,339

864,566

118,750

-

Kyats'000

Investment at
cost

Company

(b) Summarized profit/ (loss) information of associates, Group’s share of profit/ (loss) of associates, and investment in associates at Company and Group level
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57,619,618

23,796,248

1,767,015

-

-

-

6,187,980

-

-

-

-

4,205,767

20,100,507

1,562,101

-

Kyats'000

Group
Investment at
equity-adjusted
carrying amount
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31.12.2014

30.09.2014

30.09.2014

18.11.2014

18.11.2014

31.01.2015

Yoma Bank Ltd

Shine Laundry Ltd.

Myanmar Agri-Tech Carbon Capital Ltd.

Myanmar Motors Pte Ltd.

FMI Flotilla Co., Ltd.

Convenience Prosperity Co., Ltd.

Date of
disposal

30.09.2014

Name of associates

Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd.

2015

Kyats'000

(168,739)
846,149

13,098,057

(169,235)

(275,471)

(6,237)

44,272

2,913,136

355,828

500,000

880,913

43,500

6,830

5,769,497

(1,491,577)

Kyats'000

Original cost
of investment

5,541,490

Accumulated
investment
gain(loss)

13,944,207

187,089

330,765

605,442

37,263

51,102

8,682,633

4,049,913

Kyats'000

Carrying
value at
the time of
disposal

69,184,576

1,201,722

500,000

880,913

-

369,514

59,068,976

7,163,450

Kyats'000

Consideration
received at
disposal

-

2,067,633

-

-

-

-

-

2,067,633

Kyats'000

Deemed
consideration
received for
accumulated
share of
reserve

57,308,003

1,014,633

169,235

275,471

(37,263)

318,413

52,453,976

3,113,537

Kyats'000

Gain (loss) at
disposal

(66,232,426)

-

-

-

-

-

(59,068,976)

(7,163,450)

Kyats'000

Less:
Deemed
disposal

On 27th July 2015, the Company transferred a Ks. 401 million investment in Pun Hlaing Links Services Co., Ltd at cost by disposal to Thanlyin Estate
Development Ltd, thus no gain or loss recognised in the financial statements.

(c) Disposal of associates during the year

Investment in associates (continued)

Disposal of associates during the financial year 2015
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2,952,149

1,201,722

500,000

880,913

-

369,514

-

-

Kyats'000

Net cash
received
at
disposal

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.
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11.

Investment in subsidiaries

Company

Equity investment at cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Disposals
Write-off
End of financial year

2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

60,167,727
19,795,500
(19,451,166)
60,512,061

8,277,979
59,657,727
(7,650,909)
(117,070)
60,167,727

Please also refer to Note 4 for details of subsidiaries.
In order to support Yoma Bank’s growth and ensure its compliance with regulatory capital requirements, the
Company has increased its capital contribution to the bank subsidiary by Ks. 11.83 billion which is included in
the above additions. Also included in disposals is the sale of a 40% equity interest in FMI Air. Please refer to
Note 35 for further details.
12.

Government Treasury & Other Securities, by the bank subsidiary
Group
2016
Myanmar Treasury bonds(1)
Myanmar Treasury bills(1)
Money Market (deposit

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

158,000,000

160,000,000

20,591,491

3,921,420

55,000,000

15,000,000

(2)

5,831,159

-

Myanmar Payment Union(3)

200,000

-

56,500

56,500

4,891

-

1,040

1,000

239,685,081

178,978,920

(1)

Digital Money Myanmar
Myanmar ICT Park
SWIFT

auction)

2015

(3)

(3)

Myanmar Credit Bureau

(3)

(1)

Yoma Bank’s investments in the Central Bank of Myanmar’s 5- year Government Treasury bond, 3- year
Treasury bills and short term deposit auction. Current interest rates for Government Treasury bond are 9.5%
for 5-year bonds and 8.2 % for 3-year bonds.

(2)

At the end of the financial year, Yoma Bank owned a 49.0% equity interest in Digital Money Myanmar,
which is involved in the mobile payments business in Myanmar. Subsequent to the end of the financial year,
the Company acquired a 44.0% interest in Digital Money Myanmar. Please see Note 37 for further details.

(3)

Yoma Bank’s other investments are as follows:
-

Ks. 200 million MPU card holders deposit fees
Pre-investment expenses in Myanmar ICT Park, SWIFT and Bank Association membership fees for the
Myanmar Credit Bureau
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13.

Investment properties
Group

Cost
Beginning of financial year

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

1,513,551

1,476,683

1,513,551

1,476,683

-

36,868

-

36,868

Transfer from PPE (Note-14)

23,718,816

-

-

-

End of financial year

25,232,367

1,513,551

1,513,551

1,513,551

65,104

33,854

65,104

33,854

322,827

31,250

31,250

31,250

Transfer from PPE (Note-14)

2,940,418

-

-

-

End of financial year

3,328,349

65,104

96,354

65,104

21,904,018

1,448,447

1,417,197

1,448,447

Additions

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Depreciation

Net book value at end of financial year

Investment properties comprise an office and retail location which is leased to Convenience Prosperity Co., Ltd.,
an entity related by a common shareholder, and land and buildings held for investment.
The following amount from the office and retail location rental is recognized in profit or loss:
2016
Kyats'000
Rental income
Direct operating expenses

Group

159,644
159,644

2015
Kyats'000

Company
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000

54,000
54,000

54,000
54,000

54,000
54,000

At 31 March 2016, the details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:

Location

Description/existing use

Tenure

Plot No.1159, Block No.7 & 8, FMI City, Hlaing
Thayar Township, Yangon Region

Office and retail location

1 year, renewable
every year

Field No. 404 / A & B, West Ywar Thit Village, Pyay
Township , Pyay District , Bago Region

Land and building

n/a

Field No. 1585,Ywar Thar Village, Naung Oo
Township, Naung Oo District, Mandalay Region

Land (9 acres)

n/a

Pun Hlaing Golf Estate Avenue, Hlaing Tharyar
Township, Yangon Region

Land and building

n/a
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-

Disposal

Net book value at end of financial year

Written off
End of financial year

Transfer

Transfer to investment properties (Note-13)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Disposal of subsidiaries

Disposal

Depreciation charge

Beginning of financial year

Accumulated depreciation

Written off
End of financial year

Transfer

Transfer to investment properties (Note-13)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

-

50,867,448

647,549

865

7,568,791

(5,396)
6,971,148

(38,940)

-

-

(2,940,418)

(26,391)

(8,088)

1,589,760

5,460,203

(7,227)
14,539,939

(114,299)

-

-

(154,257)

(13,650)

3,121,502

11,707,870

(3,841)

-

117,117

3,473,826

51,514,997

-

(23,718,816)

-

(91,212)

2,372,067

Disposal of subsidiaries

72,952,958

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Beginning of financial year

Renovation,
furniture and
office equipment

Land and
building

Additions

Cost

2016

Group

Property, plant and equipment
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358,370

612,166

-

-

-

-

-

43,914

568,252

970,536

-

-

-

-

-

29,587

940,949

Kyats'000

Facilities and
infrastructure
system

(0)

(0)

-

-

-

(1,205,382)

-

436,543

768,839

(0)

-

-

-

(19,703,264)

-

12,245,727

7,457,537

Kyats'000

Aircraft

5,247,796

(64,230)
1,935,753

(410)

-

-

(21,795)

-

471,006

1,551,181

(71,838)
7,183,549

(2,220,724)

-

-

(178,884)

-

4,107,800

5,547,195

Kyats'000

Machinery and
equipment

1,845,873

(8,072)
1,225,384

-

-

-

(63,551)

(17,745)

323,323

991,427

(8,072)
3,071,256

-

-

-

(230,435)

(35,511)

690,460

2,654,814

Kyats'000

Motor
vehicles

437,560

210,886

-

-

-

(61,320)

-

75,509

196,697

648,446

-

-

-

(234,322)

-

505,162

377,606

Kyats'000

IT and
computers
Total

(49,161)

23,848,223

120,349,238

Kyats'000

(23,718,816)

-

7,101

3,550

-

66,332,939

(77,697)
11,606,436

(38,486)

(2,940,418)
-

(1,382,279)

(25,832)

3,060,723

13,010,425

(87,136)
77,939,375

-

-

-

3,550

-

10,651

(12,352,412) (14,687,434)

-

-

(7,123,166) (27,715,540)

-

775,918

18,710,310

Kyats'000

Asset-underconstruction
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Kyats'000

Kyats'000

(27,587)

0

(1,165,966)

72,952,958

Transfer

Written off
End of financial year

Net book value at end of financial year

Written off
End of financial year

69,479,133

3,473,826

-

3,302,791

Transfer

Acquisition of subsidiaries

6,247,667

(1,888)
5,460,203

(6,995)

5,076,228

(242,317)

(19,247)

(312,343)

Disposal of subsidiaries

Disposal

(0)

237,149
417,273

296,804

186,575

Beginning of financial year

Depreciation charge

Accumulated depreciation

(15,000)

72,116,844

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(2,453)
11,707,870

7,206,527

(1,568,535)

Disposal of subsidiaries

(313,987)

1,762,180

Disposal

4,489,376

1,808,435

Additions

370,993

Renovation,
furniture and
office equipment

Land and
building

Beginning of financial year

Cost

2015

Group

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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-

372,697

568,252

-

538,892

-

-

29,360

-

940,949

-

938,849

-

-

2,100

Kyats'000

Facilities and
infrastructure
system

6,688,698

768,839

-

-

-

-

768,839

-

7,457,537

-

-

-

-

1,156,691

6,300,846

Kyats'000

Aircraft

3,996,014

(4,743)
1,551,181

14

1,522,138

(128,676)

(7,933)

61,802

108,581

(4,743)
5,547,195

14

3,380,411

(460,746)

(24,133)

2,119,489

536,903

Kyats'000

Machinery and
equipment

1,663,387

(4,270)
991,427

-

894,872

(32,650)

(17,490)

67,684

83,282

(4,270)
2,654,814

-

2,297,834

(92,282)

(38,900)

111,210

381,221

Kyats'000

Motor
vehicles

180,909

196,697

-

142,868

(42,146)

(5,509)

41,781

59,703

377,606

-

142,868

(73,430)

(7,576)

122,456

193,288

Kyats'000

IT and
computers

18,710,310

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

18,710,310

-

-

(1,665,381)

18,958,826

1,416,865

Kyats'000

Asset-underconstruction

Total

107,338,813

(10,901)
13,010,425

(6,981)

11,477,789

(758,133)

(50,180)

1,573,313

785,518

(11,466)
120,349,238

(1,180,952)

86,083,333

(2,508,980)

(1,763,577)

28,722,329

11,008,551

Kyats'000

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.
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14.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company

Renovation,
furniture and
office equipment

Motor vehicles

IT and
computers

Total

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

8,117

40,655

12,921

61,693

262

737

2016
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions

475

Disposal

-

-

-

-

Written off

-

-

-

-

8,592

40,655

13,183

62,430

Beginning of financial year

3,725

25,606

6,604

35,935

Depreciation charge

1,004

8,131

2,075

11,210

Disposal

-

-

-

-

Written off

-

-

-

-

End of financial year

4,729

33,737

8,679

47,145

Net book value at end of financial year

3,863

6,918

4,504

15,285

7,762

40,655

14,357

62,774

802

-

3,012

3,813

(447)

-

(4,448)

(4,895)

-

-

-

-

8,117

40,655

12,921

61,693

Beginning of financial year

3,005

17,475

8,897

29,377

Depreciation charge

1,025

8,131

1,988

11,145

Disposal

(304)

End of financial year
Accumulated depreciation

2015
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Disposal
Written off
End of financial year
Accumulated depreciation

(4,282)

(4,586)

-

-

-

-

End of financial year

3,725

25,606

6,604

35,935

Net book value at end of financial year

4,392

15,049

6,317

25,757

Written off
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15.

Intangible assets

Composition
Goodwill arising from consolidation
Air operator certificate *
Computer software licenses **

2016
Kyats'000

Group

Company
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

52,730,352
2,796,933

52,730,352
3,278,131
-

-

-

55,527,285

56,008,483

-

-

Goodwill was recognized from the acquisition of Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd and Yoma bank as
subsidiaries in FY 2014-15.
The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd. was attributable to its strategic
partnership with the Lippo Group, which has a proven track record in growing healthcare operations in Indonesia
from one hospital in 1996 to 20 hospitals as of 31 March 2016, an experienced and highly qualified senior
management team, and the potential to become a leading healthcare company in Myanmar.
The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Yoma Bank Ltd. was attributable to its leading role in a high-growth
sector, strong and experienced management with international experience and many years of local experience, and
partnership with International Finance Corporation with a goal to be a leading Small and Medium Enterprise (SME)
bank in Myanmar.
Taking into consideration the reasons above, management believes that an impairment of these high-growth potential
businesses in the foreseeable future is highly unlikely.
*Air Operator Certificate

Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Disposal

2016
Kyats'000

Group

2015
Kyats'000

3,278,131
(3,278,131)

966,306
2,311,825
-

End of financial year

-

3,278,131

Accumulated amortization
Beginning of financial year
Amortization charge
End of financial year

-

-

Net book value at end of financial year

-

3,278,131

The capitalised air operator certificate represents the associated costs incurred by the Group in setting up airline
operations of FMI Air Ltd. in accordance with the standards of the Myanmar Department of Civil Aviation for the
purpose of obtaining an air operator certificate. FMI Air Ltd. was a subsidiary of the Group until 30 June 2015 when the
Group sold a 40.0% equity interest. As such, FMI Air was consolidated up to 30 June 2015 and from 1 July 2015,
FMI’s 10.0% equity interest in FMI Air is accounted for as an available-for-sale investment. As no gain or loss was
recognised from the sale of 40% equity interest, the air operator certificate has been disposed at cost. Please refer to
Note 35 for further details.
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15. Intangible assets (continued)
**Computer software licenses
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Cost
Beginning of financial year

10,188

10,188

-

6,060

Additions

2,796,933

-

-

-

End of financial year

2,807,121

10,188

-

6,060

10,188

9,522

-

5,394

Amortization charge

-

665

-

665

End of financial year

10,188

10,188

-

6,060

2,796,933

-

-

-

Accumulated amortization
Beginning of financial year

Net book value at end of financial year

The current year’s addition represents the capitalised cost of Yoma Bank’s new core banking system, Misys Fusion
Banking Essence. The core banking system will cover retail and SME banking, online and mobile channels and trade
finance.
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16. Trade and other payables
Group

Current
Trade payables
- Non-related parties
- Subsidiaries

2016
Kyats'000

Company

2015
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

2016
Kyats'000

15,686,920

16,123,256

-

-

-

-

4,455

96,210

15,686,920

16,123,256

4,455

96,210

184,309

253,398

184,309

186,891

3,947,969

5,461,139

1,092,295

16,593

-

668,039

-

668,039

4,132,278

6,382,576

1,276,605

871,523

720,647

2,106,871

205,354

149,137

34,051

53,169

-

-

204,760

182,600

54,000

-

3,791,944

1,705,317

-

-

6,886

-

-

-

24,577,486

26,553,789

1,540,414

1,116,870

12,169,855

123,856

12,169,855

123,856

12,169,855

123,856

12,169,855

123,856

Non-trade payables
- Non-related parties
- Entities related by common controlling
shareholder(1)
- Associates

Accrued operating expenses(2)
Refundable deposits
Rental income received in advance
Interest income received in advance
Other payables

Non-current

Non-trade payables
- Entities related by common controlling
shareholder (3)

Included in current non-trade payables to entities related by common controlling shareholder is an unsecured,
interest-free, and payable on demand payable to the intercompany clearing and settlement system of Serge Pun
& Associates (Myanmar) Co., Ltd amounting to Ks 2.36 billion (2015: Ks 5.37 billion). This amount was for
payments made on behalf of the Group’s subsidiaries. The Group maintains and clears these balances on a
regular basis.
(1)
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16. Trade and other payables (continued)
(2)

Included in the Group’s accrued operating expenses at 31 March 2016 are accrued bonus and salary payments
amounting to Ks 205.4 million (2015: Ks. 1.0 billion) and accrued marketing, advertising and other operating
expenses amounting to Ks 513.03 million (2015: Ks 696.4 million).

(3)

Included in non-current non-trade payable to entities related by common controlling shareholder is an amount
of Ks 12.1 billion payable to Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) following a three party facility agreement
between Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Ltd (Provider), First Myanmar Investment Company Ltd
(Facilitator) and Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd (Borrower). Per the facility agreement, at the request of the
Facilitator, the provider agreed to lend US$ 10 million to TED for its business needs. The facility is unsecured,
has no interest bearing and repayable by 31 December 2017. As a facilitator, the company does not take any
management fees. Please also refer to non-trade receivables in Note 6.
17. Redeemable preference shares
On 18 November 2010, the Company issued 227,000 redeemable preference shares at Ks 1,000 per share. The
shares paid fixed dividends bi-annually at the rate of 14% per annum. All preference shares were fully redeemed
on 18 November 2015.
18. Borrowing
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Bank borrowings
- Current
- Non-current

-

3,930,429

-

-

14,497,188

13,793,000

9,642,188

-

Non-current bank borrowing includes a US $7.97 million (equivalent to Ks. 9.64 billion) long-term loan from
Bangkok Bank. The loan was secured by a Guarantee and pledge of FMI Shares by U TheimWai @ Mr. Serge
Pun, Executive Chairman of the Company. (The Company has provided a back-to-back Guarantee to U Theim
Wai in relation to this agreement). The bank loan matures in March 2023 and interest is payable at 6.62% per
annum. The company utilized the loan facility to subscribe for new ordinary shares of Yoma Bank.
Also included in the non-current bank borrowing is the bank subsidiary’s medium-term convertible loan of Ks
4,855 million at an annual rate of 8% that matures on April 27, 2019 under an agreement with the International
Finance Corporation (IFC). Under the specified terms and conditions outlined in the IFC agreement, the IFC
may convert the loan to equity subject to governing laws of Myanmar.
In the previous financial year, the Group maintained current and non-current bank loans to finance the airline
subsidiary. However, the carrying amount of assets and liabilities (including bank loans) were disposed when the
Group sold a 40% equity interest in the airline subsidiary and the remaining 10.0% equity interest is now
accounted for as an available-for-sale financial assets from 1July 2015. Please refer to Note 35 for more details.
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19. Share capital and share premium

2016
Beginning of financial year
Shares issued
- Employees share scheme(1)
End of financial year

No. of ordinaryry Amount
Kyats'000
shares

Amount
Kyats'000

22,480,013

22,480,013

71,282,041

1,000,000
23,480,013

1,000,000
23,480,013

(1,000,000)
70,282,041

18,418,478

18,418,478

49,792,301

Share issued
- Scrip share

2,221,850

2,221,850

23,329,425

- Bonus share

1,839,685

1,839,685

(1,839,685)

-

-

-

22,480,013

22,480,013

71,282,041

2015
Beginning of financial year

- Employee share scheme
End of financial year

All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to
dividends as and when declared by the Company.
(1)

After receiving approval from the Board of Directors and shareholders at the Company‘s Annual General
Meeting held on July 25, 2015, the Company implemented an Employee Share Incentive Scheme. On 30 July
2015, the Company issued 1,000,000 ordinary shares at a par value of Ks 1,000 per Share to Yoma Myittar
Development Co., Ltd., which is the trustee for the Employee Share Incentive Scheme.

20. Dividends
2016
Kyats’000
Ordinary dividends paid
Cash dividends paid with respect of the previous financial
year of Ks 120 (2015: Ks 200) per share

2,697,602

2015
Kyats’000
3,683,696
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21. Reserves
Group
2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

a) Composition
Capital reserve (1)

12,832,314

5,454,104

-

-

12,832,314

5,454,104

Beginning of financial year

5,454,104

507,142

Add: share of capital reserve for the year

7,378,210

-

Asset revaluation reserve
b) Movements
i) Capital reserve

Add: share of capital reserve of an associate

-

-

Add: share of capital reserve of a new subsidiary

-

5,454,104

Less: capital reserve of subsidiaries at disposal

-

(98,647)

Less: capital reserve of associate at deemed disposal

-

(408,495)

Less: adjustment for unclaimed liabilities

-

-

12,832,314

5,454,104

ii）Asset revaluation reserve
Beginning of financial year

-

1,235,790

Add: revaluation gains

-

-

Add: share of valuation gain of associates

-

-

Less: reserve of subsidiaries at disposal

-

(466,856)

Less: reserve of associates at disposal

-

(768,934)

End of financial year

-

-

12,832,314

5,454,104

End of financial year

(1)

Capital reserve relates to the bank subsidiary and is non-distributable.

22. Non-controlling interest

By business:
Yoma Bank Ltd.
Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd.
Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Ltd.
FMI Air Ltd.

2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

52,789,983
6,170,428

35,555,191
4,307,865

4,402,995
63,363,406

9,560,438
49,423,494
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23. Revenue
2016

Group

Kyats'000
Dividend income *

Company

2015

2016

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

2015

Kyats'000

401,300

53

7,450,000

2,402,553

Rendering of services
- Financial services

95,304,201

18,765,595

17,025

378,326

- Healthcare services

11,922,328

4,122,875

-

-

2,342,453

7,264,526

-

-

54,000

3,106,426

54,000

54,000

- Automotive services

-

1,559

-

-

- Agricultural & rural development
consulting
Sales of goods - automobile products

-

42,185

-

-

-

15,316

-

-

110,024,282

33,318,535

7,521,025

2,834,879

- Airline services
- Rental income from commercial properties

* Dividend Income represents the following:

F.M.I Syndication Ltd.
FMI Garden Development Ltd.
Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd.
Forest Products Joint Venture Corp.
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Ltd.
Yoma Thitsar Commercial Co., Ltd.
Myanmar ICT Development Corporation
Ltd.

Group
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
53
390,000
-

Company
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
1,080,000
332,500
712,500
990,000
6,300,000
53
390,000
47,500

11,300

-

-

-

401,300

53

7,450,000

2,402,553

The Company’s dividend income from subsidiaries and associates are eliminated through consolidation at the
Group level.
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24. Cost of sales
Group
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
Financial Services
Health Care
Airline Services
Rental properties
Automobile products and services
Agricultural & rural development consulting

64,320,941
7,030,563
3,580,131
74,931,635

10,711,821
3,246,757
6,045,014
351,861
18,785
26,522
20,400,760

25. Administrative expenses
Group
2016
Kyats'000
Employee compensation (25.a)
Managing agent fees
Director's remuneration
Amortisation and depreciation
Renovation and maintenance
Written-off items (assets/parts)
Office rental
Professional fees
Marketing and promotion
AGM Expenses
Travelling and related costs
Operating startup cost
Office supplies
IT & communication
Utilities expenses
Other

25.a. Employee compensation
Wages, salaries and bonuses
Employer's contribution to defined
contribution plans
Other short-term benefits

2015
Kyats'000

Company
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000

17,239,630
199,868
3,474,610
1,196,367
9,439
2,236,604
3,655,653
702,267
119,751
1,935,782
758,277
706,439
1,160,368
2,129,066

4,903,322
547,802
1,605,228
1,044,499
565
468,681
1,550,260
1,534,482
76,058
724,769
350,496
151,499
150,205
391,316
508,024

850,671
199,868
42,460
65
65,091
71,191
28,969
119,752
21,324
400
7,124
203,595

373,437
531,135
43,060
403
56,622
32,548
2,466
76,058
39,943
320
6,138
25,996

35,524,121

14,007,206

1,610,510

1,188,126

11,971,361
1,729,115

3,266,442
109,462

824,205
1,169

364,101
975

3,539,154

1,527,418

25,297

8,361

17,239,630

4,903,322

850,671

373,437
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26. Finance expense
Group
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
Interest expenses
Bank charges

612,345
11,171
623,516

425,876
12,050
437,926

Company
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
31,780
31,780

23,946
482
24,428

27. Profit from non-operating activities
Group

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries (Note-35)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of associates (Note-10(c))
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of available-for-sale
investments (Note-9)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Gain/(loss) on foreign currency exchange
difference
Cancellation of liabilities *
Writing off unsuccessful Business Development
Reimbursement of costs from related-entities

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

4,397,646

3,333,120

-

319,438

-

57,308,002

-

1,165,078

899,550

(16,831)

899,550

(16,831)

18,473

(4,777)

-

(204)

149,224

(129,276)

34,080

511,646

2,526,072

-

-

-

(75,078)

-

(75,078)

-

-

419

-

419

7,915,887

60,490,657

858,552

1,979,546

Please refer to Note 2.3(a) (iii) and Note 2.3(c) (iii) for the accounting policies on disposal of subsidiaries and
associates at the Group level. Please refer to Note 2.5 for the accounting policy on disposal of subsidiaries and
associates in the separate financial statements of the Company.
*The cancellation of liabilities relates to the restructuring of the Company’s investment in healthcare sector
investments, Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Ltd. (YSHPH) and its related company Pun Hlaing International
Hospital Ltd (PHIH). YSHPH is the operating company of Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospital, while PHIH is the
property holding company. Upon the completion of acquisition and restructuring of YSHPH and PHIH, the
vendor’s interest in shareholder loan of PHIH has been duly transferred to the benefit of new shareholders of
PHIH, which gives rise to a cancellation of liability. As a result of this debt cancellation, the Group recognised a
Ks. 2.5 billion gain (60% equity portion) at the consolidated level.
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28. Income tax expense
Group
2016
Kyats'000
Income tax expense by business segment:
Real estate services
Automotive services
Financial services
Healthcare services
All other segments

1,514,832
1,053
83,503
1,599,388

2015
Kyats'000
589,928
5,377
205,409
94,733
211,895
1,107,342

29. Earnings per share
Group
2016
Net profit, including non-operating income,
attributable to equity holders of the Company
(Kyats'000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for basic earnings per share (‘000)

2015

Company
2016

2015

9,427,241

74,655,414

6,144,635

23,147

19,587

23,147

19,587

407

3,811

265

173

Basic earnings per share (Kyats per share)

3,383,866

30. Commitments
Operating lease commitments - Where the Group is lessor
The Group leases commercial and investment properties under operating leases to both non-related parties and
related parties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. These leases have varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewal rights.
The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet
date but not recognized as assets, are as follows:

Operating Lease Commitments
- where the Group is lessor
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
More than 5 years

Group
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
111,312
12,399,104
2,521,728
15,032,144

54,000
123,856
177,856

Company
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
54,000
12,169,856
12,223,856

54,000
123,856
177,856
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31. Contingent liabilities
The Company provided a back-to-back guarantee to secure a long-term bank loan on 30 March 2016. No
contingent liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet of the Company as it is considered unlikely that there
will be a significant outflow of the Company’s resources as a result of the arrangements entered into by the
Company and the respective counter party.
The Group has provisioned tax expenses based on best efforts estimates, which may differ from actual tax
assessments levied by the Myanmar tax authority. As a result, the Group may incur additional tax liabilities upon
final assessment from tax authorities. Although commercial tax is imposed to customers, there may be liabilities
on commercial tax from the real estate sector.
32. Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk,
liquidity risk, and capital risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimize adverse effects
from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance. The Company has adopted
the policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarized below:
(a) Market risk
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As the Group has interestbearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s income and expense are dependent of changes in market interest
rates.
The Group’s interest-bearing assets pertain to short-term fixed deposits placed with reputable financial
institutions in Myanmar, held-to-maturity Myanmar government securities, and loans and advances to
customers, which all carry fixed interest rates. Management has assessed that any change in the interest
rate would not have significant impact to the Group’s interest income due to the short-term maturity of
fixed deposits and loans and advances to customers and the three to five year term of Myanmar
government securities.
The Group’s interest-bearing liabilities pertain to deposits from customers and non-current borrowings at
fixed interest rates. Management has assessed that any change in the interest rate would not have a
significant impact on the Group’s interest expenses as the Group aims to obtain the most favorable
interest rates available in the market.
(ii) Currency risk
The Group operates mainly in Myanmar. Entities in the Group regularly transact in currencies other than
their respective functional currencies (“foreign currencies”). Currency risk arises in the Group when
transactions are denominated in foreign currencies such as Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), and United States
Dollar (“USD”), Euro Dollar (“EUR”), Japanese Yen (“JPY”), and Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”).
The Group manages currency risk, when it is considered significant, by entering into appropriate currency
forward contracts. At balance sheet date, the Group had not entered into any currency forward contracts.
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5,264
-

68,961
(4,118)
(4,118)
(4,118)

Net financial assets (liabilities)
Add: Net non-financial assets (liabilities)
Currency profile including non-financial assets and (liabilities)
Currency exposure of financial assets (liabilities), net of those
denominated in the respective entities functional currencies

-

-

Borrowings

-

-

5,264

5,264

64,843
68,961

-

5,264
-

64,843
-

JPY
Kyats'000

EUR
Kyats'000

Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank subsidiary

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Government & other securities, by the bank subsidiary

2016
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary
Available-for-sale financial assets

-

-

-

604

-

-

604

604

-

604
-

THB
Kyats'000

-

-

5,601

-

-

5,601

5,601

-

5,601
-

MYR
Kyats'000

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

(ii) Currency risk (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Group
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423

423
423

236,085

-

2,211

233,874

236,508

-

236,508
-

SGD
Kyats'000

(9,625,842)

(9,625,842)
(9,625,842)

61,820,910

9,642,188

11,734,832

40,443,891

52,195,068

-

39,560,687
12,634,381
-

USD
Kyats'000

-

47,425,069
212,372,877
259,797,945

1,088,865,779

4,855,000

1,083,066,905

943,874

1,136,290,847

239,685,082

147,768,677
20,723,503
722,546,912
5,566,674

MMK
Kyats'000

(9,629,538)

37,795,531
212,372,877
250,168,407

1,151,003,204

14,497,188

1,094,803,948

41,702,069

1,188,798,735

239,685,082

187,642,183
33,357,884
722,546,912
5,566,674

Total
Kyats'000
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(ii) Currency risk (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Net financial assets (liabilities)
Add: Net non-financial assets (liabilities)
Currency profile including non-financial assets and (liabilities)
Currency exposure of financial assets (liabilities), net of those denominated in
the respective entities functional currencies

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank entity
Borrowings
Finance lease liabilities
Intercompany payables

Group
2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers, by the bank entity
Intercompany receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Government treasury securities, by the bank entity
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JPY
Kyats'000
5,875
5,875
5,875
5,875
-

EUR
Kyats'000
130,033
130,033
129,917
116
130,033
-

-

5,089
5,089
-

5,089
5,089

MYR
Kyats'000

439

165,935
1,772
167,707
439
439

168,146
168,146

SGD
Kyats'000

(14,159,758)

8,278,553
6,525,939
12,330,080
27,134,571
(14,160,103)
345
(14,159,758)

12,974,468
12,974,468

USD
Kyats'000

-

20,966,878
682,527,147
5,620,349
709,114,375
5,715,188
233,401,201
239,116,389

115,730,709
2,834,879
415,076,012
2,209,043
178,978,920
714,829,563

MMK
Kyats'000

(14,159,320)

29,552,247
689,054,974
17,950,429
736,557,651
(8,444,476)
233,401,546
224,957,069

129,014,320
2,834,879
415,076,012
2,209,043
178,978,920
728,113,174

Total
Kyats'000

First Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd.
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32.

Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(ii) Currency risk (continued)
If the USD and SGD change against the Kyat by 11% and 14% (2015:13% and 3%), respectively, with all
other variables including tax rates being held constant, the effect arising from the net financial asset
(liability) position will be as follows:
Group
------------------------------Increase/(Decrease) -----------------------------2016

SGD against Kyat
- strengthened
- weakened

Net profit

Net profit

Other
comprehensive
income

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

43

-

10

-

(43)

-

(10)

-

USD against Kyat
- strengthened
- weakened

2015

Other
comprehensive
income

-

(794,794)

-

(1,375,624)

-

794,794

-

1,375,624

-
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32.

Financial risk management (continued)

The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:
USD
Kyats'000

Company
2016
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

KYAT
Kyats'000
148,874

118

Trade and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

148,993

12,275,201

7,012,500

-

5,566,674

12,275,320

12,728,049

25,003,368

12,275,201

1,430,613

13,705,814

9,642,188

-

9,642,188

4,455

4,455

1,435,068
11,292,981
98,794,552

23,352,457
1,650,911
98,794,552

110,087,533

100,445,463

-

(9,642,069)

Intercompany payables
21,917,389
(9,642,069)
-

Net financial assets (liabilities)
Add: Net non-financial assets (liabilities)

Total
Kyats'000

Currency profile including non-financial assets and
(liabilities)

(9,642,069)

Currency exposure of financial assets (liabilities),
net of those denominated in the respective entities
functional currencies

(9,642,069)

19,287,701
5,566,674

If the USD changes against the Kyat by 11% with all other variables including tax rates being held constant,
the effect arising from the net financial asset (liability) position will be as follows:
Company
---------Increase/(Decrease) ---------2016

Net profit
Kyats'000
USD against Kyat
- strengthened
- weakened

(796,134)
796,134

Other comprehensive
income
Kyats'000
-

At 31 March 2015, no material currency exposure existed at the Company level as there were no material
financial assets or liabilities carried in foreign currency.
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32.

Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s major classes of financial assets are loans and advances from
customers held by the bank entity, Myanmar government securities held by the bank subsidiary, bank
deposits and trade receivables.
For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers with appropriate credit
histories, and obtaining sufficient security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial
assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with credit-worthy counterparts. The maximum exposure
to credit risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial
instruments presented on the balance sheet.
The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to management is as follows:
Group
2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

By type of customers
Entities related by common controlling shareholder

8,742

198,519

-

-

12,827,324

2,291,170

12,836,066

2,489,689

Non-related parties
- Other companies
- Individuals

(i)

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with banks with high creditratings. Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with a
good collection track record with the Group.

(ii)

Financial assets that are past due but not impaired
During the financial year, the Group does not have trade receivables financial assets that are past due.
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32. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
For loans and advances from customers held by the bank subsidiary, the Board of Directors of the bank
approves major policies and limits that govern credit risk. The Board of Directors delegates authority to the
Credit Risk Management Committee for overseeing the credit risk of the bank. The bank structures the
levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk acceptable in relation to one
borrower, groups of borrowers and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and are
subject to annual or more frequent review. The maximum exposure to credit risk of loans and advances from
customers held by the bank on the balance sheet is limited to the carrying amount on the balance sheet,
without taking into account the fair value of any collateral.
The credit risk for loans and advances by the bank entity based on the information provided to management
is as follows:
Group
2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

By type of customers
Entities related by common controlling shareholder

6,600,000

-

61,171,928

31,690,011

654,774,987

383,386,001

722,546,915

415,076,012

Non-related parties
- Other companies
- Individuals

Age analysis of loans and receivables past due but not impaired included in above is as follows:
Group
2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Past due 0 to 3 months

3,097,340

774,884

Past due 3 to 6 months

1,273,546

766,989

Past due over 6 months

3,580,905

-

7,951,791

1,541,873
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32.

Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The Group manages liquidity risks by monitoring its liquidity position
through periodic preparation of cash flow and cash balance forecasts and periodic evaluation of the ability
of the Group to meet its financial obligations, measured by a gearing ratio.
The table below analyses the non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group and the Company in their
relevant maturity groupings based on the length of remaining period from the balance sheet date to the
contracted maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contracted undiscounted cash flows.
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Less than 1 year
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from customers, by the
bank entity

29,478,213

29,374,391

1,486,414

1,062,870

1,094,803,948

689,054,974

-

-

Borrowings

-

3,930,429

-

-

Redeemable preference shares

-

227,000

-

227,000

1,124,282,161

722,586,795

1,486,414

1,289,870

Trade and other payables

12,100,000

-

12,100,000

-

Borrowings

10,663,000

13,793,000

5,808,000

-

22,763,000

13,793,000

17,908,000

-

-

-

-

-

3,834,188

-

3,834,188

-

3,834,188

-

3,834,188

-

Between 2 and 5 years

More than 5 years
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
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32. Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Capital risk
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximize shareholder value. In order to
maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.
Management monitors the Group’s capital, excluding the bank entity, based on a gearing ratio. The Group’s
and the Company’s strategies, which remain unchanged during the years ended 31 March 2016 and 31
March 2015, are to maintain a gearing ratio not exceeding 40%.
The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as borrowings
(excluding loans from non-controlling interests) plus trade and other payables less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as net assets attributable to equity holders of the Company (“total
equity”) plus net debt.
Group

Net debt

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

26,738,563

23,915,100

23,203,465

1,449,482

Total equity

173,972,688

170,079,471

100,445,463

96,998,430

Total capital

200,711,251

193,994,572

123,648,928

98,447,912

Gearing ratio

13%*

12%

19%

1%

* Gearing ratio without the bank entity.
The Company’s bank subsidiary is subject to the capital adequacy requirements set out by the Central Bank
of Myanmar. The bank's capital adequacy ratio as of 31 March, 2016 and 2015 were 17.22% and 14.12%,
respectively, and hence more than 10% as prescribed by the Central Bank of Myanmar per its Instruction
No. (5).
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33.

Related party transactions
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took
place between the Group and related parties on terms agreed between the parties:
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

With associates
- Rental income / (expenses)

(432,907)

302,766

(59,966)

54,000

-

343,327

-

343,327

-

-

-

-

(87,215)

(2,016)

-

-

607,650

54,000

-

17,025

157,980

17,025

-

-

11,395,800

-

-

9,231,033

9,110,449

9,231,033

9,110,449

- Interest income
- Sale of property, plant and equipment
- Other income / (expenses)

With entities related by common controlling shareholders
- Rental income

111,611

- Interest income / (expense)
- Sale of property, plant and equipment
- Sale of investment

(1)

- Sale of air ticket

-

216,990

-

-

- Management services fee*

-

(547,802)

-

(531,135)

(887,550)

(468,676)

108,438

-

- Other income / (expenses)(2)

(1)

Sale of investment relates to disposal of 40% equity interest in FMI Air to Yangon Land Ltd during the
financial year 2016. Please refer to note 35 for details.

(2)

Other income/ (expenses) relates to net expenditures on inter- group operating activities.

* Management services fee was paid to Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Co., Ltd, the managing agent of the
Company. Effective as of 1 April 2015, the managing agent agreement was terminated by both parties.
Outstanding balances at 31 March 2016 and 2015, arising from sale/purchase of goods and services, are
unsecured and receivable/payable within 12 months from the balance sheet date and are disclosed in Note 6 and
Note 16 respectively.
During the financial year 2015-16, Directors' remuneration amounted to Kyat 199,868,420 which include
Executive Chairman’s remuneration as follows:

Fixed salary
Other allowance
Performance Bonus
Total

2016
Kyats
120
60,000,000
60,000,120

2015
Kyats
-
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34. Segment information
Management determines operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Chairman that are
used to make strategic decisions. The heads of each business directly report to the Executive Chairman on their
respective entity’s business.
After making the strategic decision to focus on three core sectors (financial services, real estate, and healthcare)
in financial year 2015, and as per the Board resolutions of 12 August 2014 and 17 November 2014, and the
presentation made at the Annual General Meeting on 23 November 2014, management restructured the Group’s
investment portfolio by selling non-core sector investments and acquiring additional equity interest in core
sector investments.
During the financial year 2015, the Company acquired controlling interests in Yoma Bank Ltd. and Pun Hlaing
International Hospital Ltd.
FMI Air Co, Ltd was a Subsidiary until 30 June 2015, when the Group sold a 40.0% equity interest. As such,
FMI Air was consolidated up to 30 June 2015 and from 1 July 2015, FMI‘s 10.0% equity interest in FMI Air is
accounted for as an available-for-sale investment.
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34. Segment information (continued)
The segment information provided to the Executive Chairman for the reportable segments are as follows:
2016

Revenue
Total revenue
Elimination of inter-segment revenue
External revenue
Cost of goods and services
Gross profit/(loss)
Other income/(expenses)
Administrative expenses
Finance expenses

Real Estate

Airline
Services

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

-

2,342,453

-

-

-

All other
segments

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

95,304,201 12,027,972

455,300

110,129,926

(105,644)

-

(105,644)

2,342,453

95,304,201 11,922,328

455,300

110,024,282

- (3,580,131)

(64,320,941) (7,030,563)

-

(74,931,635)

455,300

35,092,647

108,448

132,838

(25,703,346) (6,083,909) (1,610,510)

(35,524,121)

- (1,237,678)
-

24,390

- (2,126,356)

-

30,983,260
-

4,891,765
-

-

(407,560)

(5)

(5,933)

-

-

-

-

Share of profit/(loss) of associates -net of tax

3,774,538

-

-

-

Profit/(loss) from operating activities

3,774,538

Exceptional Expenses

Profit/(loss) from non-operating activities
Total profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense
Net profit/(loss)

Total

Financial Healthcare
Services
Services

(3,747,204)

- (1,091,632)

(24,428)
(624,949)
186,520

5,279,909 (1,198,077) (1,509,619)

(437,926)
(624,949)
3,961,058
2,599,547

803,018

422,231

7,782,270

7,915,887

(4,838,836)

6,082,927

(775,846)

6,272,651

10,515,434

-

(1,514,832)

(1,053)

(83,503)

(1,599,388)

3,774,538 (4,838,836)

4,568,095

(776,900)

6,189,149

8,916,046

2,526,072

2,526,072

4,397,646

4,397,646

42,460

3,474,610

21,465,127 188,924,186

1,401,171,612

3,774,538
-

Net profit includes:
- Cancellation of liabilities

-

-

-

-

- Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries

-

-

-

-

-

562,239

1,305,742

1,564,169

-

-

- Depreciation and amortization
Segment assets

1,190,782,299

Segment assets includes:
Additions to:
- Properties, plant and equipment

-

13,680,339

6,505,667

3,661,480

737

23,848,223

- Investment properties

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Intangible assets

-

-

-

-

Segment liabilities

-

-

3,886,104

23,352,457

2,796,934
1,123,764,644

2,796,934
1,151,003,205
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34.

Segment information (continued)

2015

Real
Estate

Automotive
Services

Airline
Services

Financial Healthcare
Services
Services

All other
segments

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

Kyats'000

3,342,667

27,125

7,264,526

18,387,270

4,122,875

474,564

33,619,027

(300,491)

-

-

-

-

-

(300,491)

3,042,176

27,125

7,264,526

18,387,270

4,122,875

474,564

33,318,535

(10,711,821) (3,246,757)

(26,522)

(20,400,760)

876,118

448,041

12,917,775

(6,901,046) (2,207,398)

(1,149,367)

(14,007,206)

Total

Revenue
Total revenue
Elimination of inter-segment
revenue
External revenue
Cost of goods and services
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Finance expenses
Share of profit of associates net of tax
Profit/(loss) from operating
activities
Profit/(loss) from nonoperating activities
Total profit/(loss) before
income tax
Income tax expense
Net profit

(351,862)
2,690,314
(646,279)

(18,785) (6,045,014)
8,340

1,219,513

(64,419) (3,038,697)

7,675,449

(465)

(13)

(518,645)

(21)

(72,593)

(31,780)

(623,516)

11,132,128

(357,710)

-

1,703,786

3,287,418

(312,823)

15,452,800

13,175,698

(413,802) (2,337,829)

2,478,168

1,883,546

(1,045,928)

13,739,853

(779,927)

95,649

22,541

61,136,534

60,490,657

(413,594) (3,117,756)

2,573,817

1,906,087

60,090,606

74,230,510

-

(205,409)

(94,733)

(211,895)

(1,107,342)

(418,971) (3,117,756)

2,368,409

1,811,353

59,878,711

73,123,168

15,652
13,191,350
(589,928)
12,601,422

208

(5,377)

Net profit includes:
- Gain/(loss) on disposal of
associates
- Gain/(loss) on disposal of
Subsidiaries
- Depreciation and amortization
Segment assets

-

-

-

-

-

57,308,003

57,308,003

-

-

-

-

-

3,333,120

3,333,120

(44,127)

(30,109)

(858,584)

(153,813)

(475,113)

(43,482)

(1,605,228)

-

-

32,839,562

743,676,276

17,880,818

167,118,064

961,514,720

-

-

23,049,830

2,751,438

2,917,248

3,813

28,722,329

-

-

-

-

-

36,868

36,868

-

-

2,311,825

-

-

-

2,311,825

-

-

13,751,820

711,606,254

9,828,060

1,371,516

736,557,651

Segment assets includes:
Additions to:
- Properties, plant and
equipment
- Investment properties
- Intangible assets
Segment liabilities
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34.
(a)

Segment information (continued)
Reconciliation

(i) Segment profit before income tax

Segment gross profit
Other income/(expenses)
Administrative expenses
Finance expenses

Group
2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

35,092,647

12,917,775

132,838

-

(35,524,121)

(14,007,206)

(437,926)

(623,516)

Exceptional Expenses (Listing)

(624,949)

-

Share of profit of associates

3,961,058

15,452,800

7,915,887

60,490,657

10,515,434

74,230,510

Profit/(loss) from non- operating activities

(ii) Segment assets
The amounts provided to management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
financial statements.
Group
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
Segment assets for reportable segments
794,396,656
1,212,247,426
Other segment assets
167,118,064
188,924,186
961,514,720
1,401,171,612
(iii) Segment liabilities
The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of
the financial statements.
Group
2015
2016
Kyats'000
Kyats'000
Segment liabilities for reportable segments
735,186,135
1,127,650,748
Other segment liabilities
1,371,516
23,352,457
736,557,651
1,151,003,205
(b)

Revenue from major products and services

Group
2016
Kyats'000

2015
Kyats'000

Real estate services

-

3,042,176

Automotive services

-

27,125

Airline services

2,342,453

7,264,526

Financial services

95,304,201

18,387,270

Healthcare services

11,922,328

4,122,875

455,300

474,563

110,024,282

33,318,535

Others
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35. Disposal of Subsidiaries
On 30 June 2015, the Group sold a 40.0% equity interest in FMI Air Ltd to Yangon Land Co., Ltd for a cash
consideration of Ks. 9.23 billion. The Company did not recognise any gain or loss from the sale of the 40%
equity interest. However from a consolidated perspective, the Group recognized a gain of Ks 4.39 billion on the
deconsolidation of FMI Air. This gain has been recognised under profit from non-operating activities and is
shown in Note 27. Due to the lack of reliable valuation techniques with respect to the airline industry in
Myanmar, the assets, liabilities and investments of FMI Air have been valued at cost. The effects of the disposal
of FMI Air on the cash flows of the Group are detailed below:
The effects of the disposal on the cash flows of the Group were:
2016
FMI Air Ltd.
Kyats'000
Carrying amount of assets and liabilities disposed
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment

382,172
820,619
26,333,260

Intangible Asset

3,187,072

Other current assets

3,515,913

Total assets

34,239,036

Trade and other payables

19,956,997

Current income tax liabilities

-

Total liabilities

19,956,997

Net asset derecognised

14,282,039

Less: Non- controlling interest

(7,141,020)

Less: Reserve
Net assets disposed
Gain/(loss) on disposal (Note-27)
Cash proceeds/consideration received from disposal
Less : Non-cash consideration
Less: Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries disposed
Net cash inflow on disposal

7,141,020
4,397,646
11,538,666
(382,172)
11,156,494
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36. Establishment of new subsidiary and related restructuring
After approval from MIC on 7 April 2015, the Company and PT. Waluya Graha Loka formed Yoma Siloam
Hospital Pun Hlaing Co., Ltd (YSHPH) to operate hospitals and clinics in Myanmar. YSHPH operates under the
name Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals (PHSH). The Company's shareholding in YSHPH is 60% with PT. Waluya
Graha Loka holding the other 40%. The Company acquired its 60% interest in YSHPH for US$ 7,912,500 and
PT. Waluya Graha Loka acquired the other 40% interest in YSHPH for US$ 5,275,000. The hospital business
and assets of Pun Hlaing International Hospital Ltd (PHIH) were transferred to YSHPH, and PHIH’s business
shifted to property holding and leasing. PHIH entered into a management contract with PT. Waluya Graha Loka
and a lease agreement with YSHPH effective as of 7 April 2015. To align the Company’s overall interest in both
YSHPH and PHIH combined, on 7 April 2015 the Company transferred 15% of the issued shares in PHIH to
Pun Hlaing Capital Co., Ltd, the non-controlling shareholder of PHIH, for a nominal value. As a result, the
Company’s equity interest in PHIH was thus diluted from 75% to 60%. The transfer of these shares did not
result in any gain or loss.
37. Events occurring after balance sheet date
On 1 June 2016, the Company announced the acquisition of 440,000 ordinary and 3,619,000 preference shares,
representing an effective 44.0% equity stake, in the capital of Digital Money Myanmar Limited (“Digital Money
Myanmar”), having a total par value of US$4,059,000, from Yoma Bank subject to definitive terms and
conditions to be agreed at a later date.

